Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology 1279 Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine

Mieczyslaw Pokorski *Editor* 

# Health and Medicine



Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology

# **Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine**

Volume 1279

# **Series Editor**

Mieczyslaw Pokorski Opole Medical School Opole, Poland More information about this subseries at http://www.springer.com/series/16003

Mieczyslaw Pokorski Editor

# Health and Medicine



*Editor* Mieczyslaw Pokorski Opole Medical School Warsaw, Poland

ISSN 0065-2598ISSN 2214-8019(electronic)Advances in Experimental Medicine and BiologyISSN 2523-3769ISSN 2523-3777(electronic)Clinical and Experimental BiomedicineISBN 978-3-030-51120-3ISBN 978-3-030-51121-0(eBook)https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-51121-0

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG. The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

# Contents

Chitinase 3-Like 1, Nestin, and Testin Proteins as Novel Biomarkers of Potential Clinical Use in Colorectal Cancer: A Review	1
Self-Reported Survey on Allergy Symptoms Among First-YearStudents in Veterinary Medicine: A Preamble to theAllergoVet Cohort StudyMartin Lehnert, Alexandra Beine, Frank Hoffmeyer, Dirk Taeger,Thomas Brüning, and Monika Raulf	9
The Pattern of Sensitization Influences Exhaled and NasalNitric Oxide Levels in Young AdultsF. Hoffmeyer, A. Beine, M. Lehnert, H. Berresheim, D. Taeger,V. van Kampen, I. Sander, E. Zahradnik, T. Brüning, and M. Raulf	15
Discrimination Between Atopic, Allergic, and Asthmatic Volunteers for Human Exposure Studies on Sensory Irritation V. van Kampen, F. Hoffmeyer, C. Monsé, M. Raulf, T. Brüning, J. Bünger, and K. Sucker	27
Impaired Coordination and Recruitment of Muscle Agonists,But Not Abnormal Synergies or Co-contraction, Havea Significant Effect on Motor Impairments After StrokeSharon Israely, Gerry Leisman, and Eli Carmeli	37
Prognostics of Hospitalization Length and Mortality in Patients with Traumatic Frontal Brain Contusions Sunil Munakomi, Jagdish Thingujam, Aliza Bajracharya, Suja Gurung, and Sangam Shrestha	53
Circulating P-Selectin and Its Glycoprotein Ligand in Nondiabetic Obstructive Sleep Apnea Patients	61

Nutritional Status and Dietary Patterns in Adults	
with Severe Obstructive Sleep Apnea	71
Aneta Nitsch–Osuch, Aneta Czerwonogrodzka-Senczyna, and Małgorzata Barnaś	
Medication Compliance in COPD Patients Jacek Polański, Mariusz Chabowski, Natalia Świątoniowska-Lonc, Grzegorz Mazur, and Beata Jankowska-Polańska	81
Seasonality of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Hospitalization August Wrotek, Małgorzata Czajkowska, and Teresa Jackowska	93
Factors Affecting Influenza Vaccination Rate in Adults         with Asthma         Jeremy Bigaj, Natalie Czaicki, and Tadeusz M. Zielonka	101
Respiratory Complications in Children Hospitalized with Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection	113

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2020) 10: 1–8 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2020\_506 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 14 March 2020



Chitinase 3-Like 1, Nestin, and Testin Proteins as Novel Biomarkers of Potential Clinical Use in Colorectal Cancer: A Review

Anna Szymańska-Chabowska, Jan Juzwiszyn, Beata Jankowska-Polańska, Wojciech Tański, and Mariusz Chabowski

# Abstract

Colorectal cancer is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in males and the second most common in females. Only 10–20% of patients are diagnosed at the early stage of disease. Recently, the role of novel biomarkers of the neoplastic process in the early detection of colorectal cancer has been widely discussed. In this review, we focused on the

J. Juzwiszyn

Department of Clinical Nursing, Faculty of Health Science, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

B. Jankowska-Polańska

M. Chabowski (🖂)

Department of Surgery, Fourth Military Teaching Hospital, Wroclaw, Poland e-mail: mariusz.chabowski@gmail.com; mariusz.chabowski@umed.wroc.pl three novel biomarkers that are of potential clinical importance in diagnosing and monitoring colorectal cancer. Chitinase 3-like 1 protein, also known as YKL-40, and nestin and testin proteins are produced by colorectal cancer cells. YKL-40 protein is a marker of proliferation, differentiation, and tissue morphogenetic changes. The level of YKL-40 is elevated in about 20% of patients with colorectal cancer. An increased expression of nestin indicates immaturity. It is a marker of angiogenesis in neoplastic processes. Testin protein is a component of cellcell connections and focal adhesions. The protein is produced in normal human tissues, but not in tumor tissues. Downregulation of testin increases cell motility, spread, and proliferation, and decreases apoptosis. The usefulness and role of these biomarkers, both alone and combined, in the diagnostics of colorectal cancer should be further explored as early cancer detection may substantially improve treatment outcome and patient survival.

# Keywords

Biomarkers · Colorectal cancer · Nestin · Testin · YKL-40

A. Szymańska-Chabowska

Department of Internal Medicine, Occupational Diseases, Hypertension and Clinical Oncology, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

Division of Nursing in Internal Medicine, Department of Clinical Nursing, Faculty of Health Science, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

W. Tański

Department of Internal Medicine, Fourth Military Teaching Hospital, Wroclaw, Poland

Department of Clinical Nursing, Faculty of Health Science, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

# 1 Introduction

Colorectal cancer significantly contributes to a reduction in life expectancy. According to data from the Global Burden of Disease Study, the number of deaths due to colorectal cancer has increased from 490,200 in 1990 to 771,100 in 2013, which is over a 57% increase (GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators 2015). Colorectal cancer is the third most commonly diagnosed cancer in males and the second in females (Torre et al. 2015). The cancer constitutes a major health care and socioeconomic problem. In 2013, colon and rectum cancers ranked eight as the cause of years of life lost in the developed countries, including Poland. In European countries such as the Netherlands and Sweden, these cancers were classified as the fourth leading cause of years of life lost. A lower survival rate is observed in elderly patients and in those from certain geographical areas such as Eastern Europe (Holleczek et al. 2015), possibly due to poor and delayed diagnosis. At an early stage, colorectal cancer does not manifest specific signs and symptoms, so that it is often diagnosed in advanced stage. Maringe et al. (2013) have reported that only 10-20% of colorectal cancer patients are diagnosed when the cancer is in stage A of Duke's classification (Duke 1932). The difference survival between highin and low-income countries may be associated with different stages of the disease at the time of diagnosis in respective countries. Thus, the availability of reliable screening tools and biomarkers is of essential importance for the diagnostics and management of the disease. Recently, the role of novel biomarkers in the neoplastic process and early detection of colorectal cancer has been widely discussed (Corbo et al. 2017; Das et al. 2016). In this review we focused on three novel biomarkers that have been under scrutiny as being of potential clinical importance in colorectal cancer diagnosis and monitoring. These biomarkers are chitinase 3-like 1 protein, also known as YKL-40, and nestin and testin proteins; all produced by colorectal cancer cells.

# Biomarkers and Risk Factors Associated with Colorectal Cancer

2

An unhealthy diet, including consumption of processed meat products and alcohol, obesity, sedentary lifestyle, and smoking, can all contribute to the development of colorectal cancer (González et al. 2017; Friedenreich et al. 2016; Ferrari et al. 2007). Mitigating the effects of such modifiable risk factors may reduce the level of colorectal cancer morbidity (Johnson 2017; Doleman et al. 2016; Botteri et al. 2008). Patients at high risk are advised to participate in screening programs. Such programs are, however, of rather low sensitivity and specificity for the detection of colorectal cancer and for the avoidance of the cancer high invasiveness. Patients tend to avoid tests such as sigmoidoscopy or colonoscopy, despite the evidence of efficacy of these tests in the diagnosis of colorectal cancer. Therefore, the identification of new blood-derived biomarkers. which patients would be more complaint with, or noninvasive molecular tests would greatly benefit treatment outcome and survival.

The term tumor biomarker was coined in 1988 as a medical subject heading, and it was defined as "molecular products metabolized and secreted by neoplastic tissue and characterized biochemically in cells or body fluids". Biomarkers are indicators of tumor stage and grade and are useful for monitoring the response to treatment and prognosticate recurrence. Biomarkers are represented by a host of molecules such hormones, antigens, amino acids, nucleic acids, enzymes, polyamines, and specific cell membrane proteins and lipids (Goossens et al. 2015).

Currently, there are only two protein biomarkers detectable in blood serum, which are approved for clinical use in colorectal cancer. The carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) is one of the two. Preoperative elevation of CEA is associated with reduced overall survival. A lack of postoperative normalization of CEA level may indicate an incomplete tumor resection and thus portends a recurrence. CEA monitoring helps identify patients with metastases, which particularly concerns the liver (Goldstein and Mitchell 2005; Duffy 2001). A disadvantage of CEA is that it lacks sensitivity in the early stages of colorectal cancer. It can also be increased in patients without cancer, being secreted in response to various inflammatory processes, e.g., hepatitis, inflammatory bowel disease, pancreatitis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, or oxidative stress in diabetic patients and smokers (Hasan and Mohieldein 2015; Tanaka et al. 2010; Fukuda et al. 1998).

Another biomarker widely used in colorectal cancer detection is fecal hemoglobin (f-Hb), which is usually detected using an immunochemical test. The test does not require dietary or medication restrictions. One or two stool samples are enough to conduct the test. The overall sensitivity and specificity of FIT in colorectal cancer is 79% and 94%, respectively, although these parameters may change due to inter-lab differences in cutoff values used for positive FIT results. The optimum cutoff value is still debatable (Lee et al. 2014; Tanaka et al. 2010). The use of FIT as a screening tool has been shown to decrease mortality associated with colorectal cancer (Chiu et al. 2015; Giorgi et al. 2015). The disadvantage of the test is its lower unsatisfactory sensitivity for detection of early stage cancers. To this end, the search for novel more accurate biomarkers continues (Chiu et al. 2013).

# 3 Chitinase 3-Like 1 (YKL-40) Protein in the Diagnosis of Colorectal Cancer

Chitinase 3-like 1 (CHI3L1), also known as YKL-40 protein, is a human cartilage glycoprotein-39 (HC-gp-39) that was first described in 1992 as a protein secreted by the MG-63 human osteosarcoma cell line (Johansen et al. 1992). In addition to cancer cells, YKL-40 also is secreted by inflammatory and stem cells. In normal tissues, high YKL-40 expression has been noticed in embryos and fetuses where the

processes of proliferation, differentiation, and tissue morphogenetic changes are highly active (Johansen et al. 2007). The blood content of YKL-40 in healthy adults is fairly stable, with the median of 43  $\mu$ g/L as determined in a study by Johansen et al. (2008) and 40  $\mu$ g/L in the Danish NORDIC VII study that included 3130 subjects (Tarpgaard et al. 2014), with increasing levels with age. An elevated plasma level of YKL-40 has reported in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma, liver fibrosis, severe infections, as well as in patients with cancers inter alia breast, lung, prostate, colorectal, and gastric cancers (Schultz and Johansen 2010; Roslind and Johansen 2009). Such wide spectrum of different pathologies where YKL-40 increases indicates a lack of specificity. Therefore, comorbidities should be taken into account when assessing the diagnostic utility of YKL-40 investigated for a primary disease.

Kawada et al. (2012) have noticed significant differences in plasma content of YKL-40 between control subjects and patients with stage I/II and stage III/IV colorectal cancer. Those authors have also reported increased YKL-40 mRNA expression in cancer tissue when compared with normal adjacent tissues. Therefore, elevated YKL-40 content may be related to a more aggressive phenotype of cancer, having a high metastatic potential. Cintin et al. (2002) have reported that preoperative serum YKL-40 content rises above the age-corrected 95th percentile of healthy volunteers in 19% of patients with colorectal cancer. In a study by Johansen et al. (2015), YKL-40 is elevated in 20% of patients with colorectal cancer, 15% with rectal cancer, 11% with adenoma, 9% with other nonmalignant diseases of the digestive tract, and 8% with no pathological endoscopic findings. Likewise, Tarpgaard et al. (2014) have found that plasma YKL-40 is higher than the upper normal level in 40% of non-resectable metastatic colorectal cancer.

Postoperatively, YKL-40 may decrease in patients who have it within the normal range before surgery, and that may be a positive prognostic sign. The elevated level of YKL-40 appears to be an independent prognostic of short survival, based on a study including 603 patients who underwent a primary large bowel resection for colorectal cancer (Cintin et al. 1999). In another study, Cintin et al. (2002) have shown that patients who underwent curative tumor resection and had high serum YKL-40 6 months postsurgery were burdened with increased risk of death. In both studies, the YKL-40 content was independent of the serum CEA content. A comparison between YKL-40 and CEA contents performed by Ye et al. (2014) has revealed that YKL-40 is less accurate for diagnosing colorectal cancer, but better for diagnosing tumor recurrence. YKL-40 also appears of help in diagnosing the early-stage colorectal cancer and in monitoring recurrences when combined with CEA.

A high content of YKL-40 is an independent prognostic of poor response to preoperative chemoradiotherapy in locally advanced rectal adenocarcinoma, although the prognostic value of the protein for survival has not been confirmed. It is also worth mentioning that tumor expression of YKL-40, assessed by immunohistochemistry, takes place in 62% of cases in (Senetta et al. 2015). In a study by Johansen et al. (2015), blood content of YKL-40 was higher in patients with colon and rectal cancer than in those with adenoma and other nonmalignant diseases. In patients with colorectal cancer, content of YKL-40 correlated with the stage of cancer, and it was lower in patients with a rectal tumor. Comorbidities are associated with an increase in YKL-40. Thus, the protein is thought to be a good prognostic of colorectal cancer in patients without comorbidities. Ye et al. (2014) have found higher levels of blood YKL-40 in patients with recurrent and metastatic colorectal cancer than in those with the primary diagnosis of colorectal cancer or shortly after surgery. Liu et al. (2014) have confirmed the presence of a link between shorter survival and a high blood YKL-40, but they failed to notice any relationship between progressionfree survival and the type of chemotherapy regimen or the histologic type of tumor. In 510 patients with metastatic colorectal cancer in the NORDIC VII study, high pretreatment plasma YKL-40 content is associated with shorter progression-free survival and with overall survival (Tarpgaard et al. 2014).

# 4 Mechanisms of Action of YKL-40

YKL-40 is produced by various types of restricted cells including colonic epithelial cells and macrophages. The content of this protein is elevated not only in colorectal cancer but also in other bowel diseases such as inflammatory bowel disease, ulcerative colitis, and Crohn's disease (Kamba et al. 2013; Koutroubakis et al. 2003; Vind et al. 2003). Chen et al. (2011) have reported that the expression of YKL-40 is significantly increased in colonic epithelial cells of non-dysplastic mucosa in patients with ulcerative colitis harboring neoplastic lesions when compared with patients without dysplasia and with healthy subjects. A greater expression of YKL-40 concerns more invasive and metastatic tumors. The YKL-40 also has a growthstimulating effect akin to that of insulin-like growth factor-1, and it stimulates the migration of colonic epithelial cells. Additionally, YKL-40 stimulates the production of interleukin-8 (IL-8) and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  by activation of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kB) signaling pathway in a human colon cancer cell line (SW480 cells). Other studies confirmed the presence of NF-kB in inflamed intestinal mucosa and a strong association between increased NF-kB activity and colorectal carcinogenesis in the animal model (Popivanova et al. 2008; Rogler et al. 1998). Elevated YKL-40 in epithelial cells may not only suggest inflammation-associated malignant transformation but may also control intestinal inflammation and promote dysplasia in colonic cells (Chen et al. 2011). The findings of Kawada et al. (2012) have shown that overexpression of YKL-40 leads to increased chemotaxis of macrophages and to angiogenesis associated with increased release of IL-8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1) from SW480 cells. Studies in vitro have shown that angiogenic activity of YKL-40 is independent of vascular

endothelial growth factor (VEGF). The effects of YKL-40 on endothelial cell activation may be blocked by silencing S1 expression in the cells or by an anti-YKL-40 antibody (Shao et al. 2009).

# 5 Nestin in Colorectal Cancer

Nestin is a class VI intermediate filament protein whose expression is upregulated in many kinds of tumor and some other tissues in both experimental models and human samples (Matsuda et al. 2013; Ishiwata et al. 2011). The protein is expressed mainly in neuroepithelial stem cells and is often present in tissues that undergo a repair process. Increased expression of nestin indicates immaturity (Ehrmann et al. 2005; Mokry et al. 2004). Nestin appears a useful marker of microvessel density (MVD) which is a prognostic factor in neoplastic malignancies, including colorectal cancer (Amoh et al. 2005). A significant correlation between MVD and liver metastases shows that tumors' potential to grow, spread, and metastasize is related to the angiogenesis in and around cancer tissue (Choi et al. 1998; Tomisaki et al. 1996). MVD is an important prognostic factor, but the most essential information is provided by the number of newly formed blood vessels because they have leaky and weak basement membranes, which enables the entry of tumor cells into circulation and further spread. In contrast, it is much more difficult for malignant cells to penetrate the endothelial layer of a mature microvessel.

Many commonly used endothelial markers stain and identify both the newly formed small blood vessels and the already existing larger blood vessels. Teranishi et al. (2007), using an animal model, have shown that the CD34-labeled pattern of colorectal cancer blood vessels differs from that of the nestin-labeled pattern. CD34 is detected in the endothelial cells of larger blood vessels with a median diameter of 9.67  $\mu$ m, whereas nestin is in smaller microvessels of the median diameter of 9.06  $\mu$ m. In human colorectal cancer tissue, there are significant differences in the median diameter of blood microvessels, ranging from 8.82 to 6.30  $\mu$ m. Stronger expression of nestin than CD34 also is found in the infiltrating

border of a tumor. Further, MVD determined by nestin labeling appears a better prognostic factor for survival than MVD determined by CD34.

Reports on the connection between increased nestin expression and clinical characteristics of colorectal cancer are scarce. Tajima et al. (2014) have demonstrated a patient with an aggressive, undifferentiated carcinoma of the descending colon where there was an overexpression of several proteins including nestin, which prognosticated a poor prognosis. The patient experienced a recurrence 39 days after surgery and died 2 months later. Using clinical samples of colorectal cancer, Li et al. (2015) have shown that nestin is associated with tumorigenesis as its expression is higher in cancer tissue than in normal tissues. These authors further show nestin labeling in the endothelium of small-sized tumor vessels and in stromal cancer cells. Additional in vitro tests show that a knockdown of nestin arrested the cell cycle at S phase and inhibited the proliferation and migration of colorectal cancer cells. Such findings demonstrate that nestin can be used not only as a prognostic marker, but that it also gives hope for the development of a new therapeutic option for cancer patients.

# 6 Testin Protein in Colorectal Cancer

The testin protein is encoded by a gene which is located at human chromosome 7q31 within the common fragile chromosomal region FRA7G. This locus is susceptible to cancer-associated chromosomal aberrations which may play a role in the oncogenic process (Tatarelli et al. 2000). The protein is a component of cell-cell connections and focal adhesions. It can interact with other types of focal adhesion proteins and connect the actin cytoskeleton to the extracellular matrix. There structures, along with integrin receptors, play a role in cell motility, spreading, proliferation, and apoptosis (Coutts et al. 2003). The protein is produced in normal human tissues, but not in tumor tissues, such as breast, prostate, liver, ovarian cancer, in utero glioblastoma, and others (Hu et al. 2015; Yongbin et al. 2014; Chene et al. 2004). Downregulation of testin can be due to a loss of heterozygosity of the testin gene or by hypermethylation of its promoter. Clinically, a reduced level of testin protein is found in 89% of patients with glioblastoma. Additionally, downregulation of testin associates with a worse outcome and a shorter survival time. It seems a biological plausibility that enhancing testin expression could attenuate the malignant character of cancer cells (Fu et al. 2015. Bai et al. 2014).

In colorectal cancer, Li et al. (2015) have noticed a significantly lower level of testin mRNA and protein expression when compared with adjacent tumor-free tissue samples. Those authors have also found an adverse association between the histological grade, but not TNM stage, of colorectal cancer and the level of testin. Studies in vitro have shown that both testin mRNA and protein expression are remarkably reduced in nine colorectal cancer cell lines, but not in the two kinds of normal human colon cells. Further, in vitro overexpression of testin reduces the colony formation efficiency, inhibits cell growth, and increases mRNA and protein expression of pro-apoptotic proteins, whereas the opposite is present when testin is knocked down. The suppressive effect of testin on colorectal cancer cells has also demonstrated in the murine model.

# 7 Conclusions

The role of biomarker proteins such as YKL-40, nestin, and TES in carcinogenesis is not yet full elucidated. The proteins are associated with cancer aggressiveness and prognosis. A combined assessment of several biomarkers may improve diagnosis and may better prognosticate recurrence and survival. There is a need for further studies to explore the molecular mechanisms underlying the development of colorectal cancer.

Acknowledgments Funded by Wroclaw Medical University grant no. ST.E020.17.050.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

**Ethical Approval** This review article does not contain any studies with human participants or animals performed by any of the authors.

# References

- Amoh Y, Yang M, Li L, Reynoso J, Bouvet M, Moossa AR, Katsouka K, Hoffman RM (2005) Nestin–linked green fluorescent protein transgenic nude mouse for imaging human tumor angiogenesis. Cancer Res 65:5352–5357
- Bai Y, Zhang QG, Wang XH (2014) Downregulation of TES by hypermethylation in glioblastoma reduces cell apoptosis and predicts poor clinical outcome. Eur J Med Res 19:66
- Botteri E, Iodice S, Bagnardi V, Raimondi S, Lowenfels AB, Maisonneuve P (2008) Smoking and colorectal cancer: a meta–analysis. JAMA 300:2765–2778
- Chen CC, Pekow J, Llado V, Kanneganti M, Lau CW, Mizoguchi A, Mino–Kenudson M, Bissonnette M, Mizoguchi E (2011) Chitinase 3–like–1 expression in colonic epithelial cells as a potentially novel marker for colitis–associated neoplasia. Am J Pathol 179:1494–1503
- Chene L, Giroud C, Desgrandchamps F, Boccon–Gibod L, Coussenot O, Berthon P, Latil A (2004) Extensive analysis of the 7q31 region in human prostate tumors supports TES as the best candidate tumor suppressor gene. Int J Cancer 111:798–804
- Chiu HM, Lee YC, Tu CH, Chen CC, Tseng PH, Liang JT, Shun CT, Lin JT, Wu MS (2013) Association between early stage colon neoplasms and false–negative results from the fecal immunochemical test. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 11:832–838
- Chiu HM, Chen SL, Yen AM, Chiu SY, Fann JC, Lee YC, Pan SL, Wu MS, Liao CS, Chen HH, Koong SL, Chiou ST (2015) Effectiveness of fecal immunochemical testing in reducing colorectal cancer mortality from the One Million Taiwanese Screening Program. Cancer 121:3221–3229
- Choi HJ, Hyun MS, Jung GJ, Kim SS, Hong SH (1998) Tumor angiogenesis as a prognostic predictor in colorectal carcinoma with special reference to mode of metastasis and recurrence. Oncology 55:575–581
- Cintin C, Johansen JS, Christensen IJ, Price PA, Sorensen S, Nielsen HJ (1999) Serum YKL–40 and colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer 79:1494–1499
- Cintin C, Johansen JS, Christensen IJ, Price PA, Sorensen S, Nielsen HJ (2002) High serum YKL–40 level after surgery for colorectal carcinoma is related to short survival. Cancer 95:267–274
- Corbo C, Cevenini A, Salvatore F (2017) Biomarker discovery by proteomics–based approaches for early detection and personalized medicine in colorectal cancer. Proteomics Clin Appl 11:1600072

- Coutts AS, MacKenzie E, Griffith E, Black DM (2003) TES is a novel focal adhesion protein with a role in cell spreading. J Cell Sci 116:897–906
- Das V, Kalita J, Pal M (2016) Predictive and prognostic biomarkers in colorectal cancer: a systematic review of recent advances and challenges. Biomed Pharmacother 87:8–19
- Doleman B, Mills KT, Lim S, Zelhart MD, Gagliardi G (2016) Body mass index and colorectal cancer prognosis: a systematic review and meta–analysis. Tech Coloproctol 20:517–535
- Duffy MJ (2001) Carcinoembryonic antigen as a marker for colorectal cancer: is it clinically useful? Clin Chem 47:624–630
- Duke CE (1932) The classification of cancer of the rectum. J Pathol Bacteriol 35:323
- Ehrmann J, Kolar Z, Mokry J (2005) Nestin as a diagnostic and prognostic marker: immunohistochemical analysis of its expression in different tumours. J Clin Pathol 58:222–223
- Ferrari P, Jenab M, Norat T, Moskal A, Slimani N, Olsen A, Tjonneland A et al (2007) Lifetime and baseline alcohol intake and risk of colon and rectal cancers in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC). Int J Cancer 121:2065–2072
- Friedenreich CM, Neilson HK, Farris MS, Courneya KS (2016) Physical activity and cancer outcomes: a precision medicine approach. Clin Cancer Res 22:4766–4775
- Fu J, Luo B, Guo WW, Zhang QM, Shi L, Hu QP, Chen F, Xiao SW, Xie XX (2015) Down–regulation of cancer/ testis antigen OY–TES–1 attenuates malignant behaviors of hepatocellular carcinoma cells *in vitro*. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 8:7786–7797
- Fukuda I, Yamakado M, Kiyose H (1998) Influence of smoking on serum carcinoembryonic antigen levels in subjects who underwent multiphasic health testing and services. J Med Syst 22:89–93
- GBD 2013 Mortality and Causes of Death Collaborators (2015) Global, regional, and national age–2013;sex specific all–cause and cause–specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990–2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet 385:117–171
- Giorgi RP, Vicentini M, Sacchettini C, Di Felice E, Caroli S, Ferrari F, Mangone L, Pezzarossi A, Roncaglia F, Campari C, Sassatelli R, Sacchero R, Sereni G, Paterlini L, Zappa M (2015) Impact of screening program on incidence of colorectal cancer: a cohort study in Italy. Am J Gastroenterol 110:1359–1366
- Goldstein MJ, Mitchell EP (2005) Carcinoembryonic antigen in the staging and follow-up of patients with colorectal cancer. Cancer Investig 23:338–351
- González N, Prieto I, Del Puerto–Nevado L, Portal– Nuñez S, Ardura JA, Corton M, Fernández– Fernández B, Aguilera O, Gomez–Guerrero C, Mas S, Moreno JA, Ruiz–Ortega M, Sanz AB,

Sanchez–Niño MD, Rojo F, Vivanco F, Esbrit P, Ayuso C, Alvarez–Llamas G, Egido J, García– Foncillas J, Ortiz A, Diabetes Cancer Connect Consortium (2017) 2017 update on the relationship between diabetes and colorectal cancer: epidemiology, potential molecular mechanisms and therapeutic implications. Oncotarget 8:18456–18485

- Goossens N, Nakagawa S, Sun X, Hoshida Y (2015) Cancer biomarker discovery and validation. Transl Cancer Res 4:256–269
- Hasan M, Mohieldein A (2015) Association between serum carcinoembryonic antigen level and oxidative stress parameters among diabetic females. Int J Clin Exp Med 8:6489–6494
- Holleczek B, Rossi S, Domenic A, Innos K, Minicozzi P, Francisci S, Hackl M, Eisemann N, Brenner H, EUROCARE–5 Working Group (2015) On–going improvement and persistent differences in the survival for patients with colon and rectum cancer across Europe 1999–2007 – results from the EUROCARE–5 study. Eur J Cancer 51:2158–2168
- Hu Q, Fu J, Luo B, Huang M, Guo W, Lin Y, Xie X, Xiao S (2015) OY–TES–1 may regulate the malignant behavior of liver cancer via NANOG, CD9, CCND2 and CDCA3: a bioinformatic analysis combine with RNAi and oligonucleotide microarray. Oncol Rep 33:1965–1975
- Ishiwata T, Matsuda Y, Naito Z (2011) Nestin in gastrointestinal and other cancers: effects on cells and tumor angiogenesis. World J Gastroenterol 17:409–418
- Johansen JS, Williamson MK, Rice JS, Price PA (1992) Identification of proteins secreted by human osteoblastic cells in culture. J Bone Miner Res 7:501–512
- Johansen JS, Hoyer PE, Larsen LA, Price PA, Mollgard K (2007) YKL–40 protein expression in the early developing human musculoskeletal system. J Histochem Cytochem 55:1213–1228
- Johansen JS, Lottenburger T, Nielsen HJ, Jensen JE, Svendsen MN, Kollerup G, Christensen IJ (2008) Diurnal, weekly, and long-time variation in serum concentrations of YKL-40 in healthy subjects. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 17:2603–2608
- Johansen JS, Christensen IJ, Jorgensen LN, Olsen J, Rahr HB, Nielsen KT, Leurberg S, Brünner N, Nielsen HJ (2015) Serum YKL–40 in risk assessment for colorectal cancer: a prospective study of 4,496 subjects at risk of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol Biomark Prev 24:621–626
- Johnson IT (2017) The cancer risk related to meat and meat products. Br Med Bull 121:73–81
- Kamba A, Lee IA, Mizoguchi E (2013) Potential association between TLR4 and chitinase 3–like 1 (CHI3L1/ YKL–40) signaling on colonic epithelial cells in inflammatory bowel disease and colitis–associated cancer. Curr Mol Med 13:1110–1121
- Kawada M, Seno H, Kanda K, Nakanishi Y, Akitake R, Komekado H, Kawada K, Sakai Y, Mizoguchi E, Chiba T (2012) Chitinase 3–like 1 promotes macrophage recruitment and angiogenesis in colorectal cancer. Oncogene 31:3111–3123

- Koutroubakis IE, Petinaki E, Dimoulios P, Vardas E, Roussomoustakaki M, Maniatis AN, Kouroumalis EA (2003) Increased serum levels of YKL–40 in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Int J Color Dis 18:254–259
- Lee JK, Liles EG, Bent S, Levin TR, Corley DA (2014) Accuracy of fecal immunochemical tests for colorectal cancer: systematic review and meta–analysis. Ann Intern Med 160:171
- Li J, Wang R, Yang L, Wu Q, Wang Q, Nie Z, Yu Y, Ma J, Pan Q (2015) Knockdown of Nestin inhibits proliferation and migration of colorectal cancer cells. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 8:6377–6386
- Liu X, Zhang Y, Zhu Z, Ha M, Wang Y (2014) Elevated pretreatment serum concentration of YKL–40: an independent prognostic biomarker for poor survival in patients with colorectal cancer. Med Oncol 31:85
- Maringe C, Walters S, Rachet B, Butler J, Fields T, Finan P, Maxwell R, Nedrebø B, Påhlman L, Sjövall A, Spigelman A, Engholm G, Gavin A, Gjerstorff ML, Hatcher J, Johannesen TB, Morris E, McGahan CE, Tracey E, Turner D, Richards MA, Coleman MP, ICBP Module 1 Working Group (2013) Stage at diagnosis and colorectal cancer survival in six high–income countries: a population–based study of patients diagnosed during 2000–2007. Acta Oncol 52:919–932
- Matsuda Y, Hagio M, Ishiwata T (2013) Nestin: a novel angiogenesis marker and possible target for tumor angiogenesis. World J Gastroenterol 19:42–48
- Mokry J, Cizkova D, Filip S, Ehrmann J, Osterreicher J, Kolar Z, English D (2004) Nestin expression by newly formed human blood vessels. Stem Cells Dev 13:658–664
- Popivanova BK, Kitamura K, Wu Y, Kondo T, Kagaya T, Kaneko S, Oshima M, Fujii C, Mukaida N (2008) Blocking TNF–alpha in mice reduces colorectal carcinogenesis associated with chronic colitis. J Clin Invest 118:560–570
- Rogler G, Brand K, Vogl D, Page S, Hofmeister R, Andus T, Knuechel R, Baeuerle PA, Schölmerich J, Gross V (1998) Nuclear factor kappaB is activated in macrophages and epithelial cells of inflamed intestinal mucosa. Gastroenterology 115:357–369
- Roslind A, Johansen JS (2009) YKL–40: a novel marker shared by chronic inflammation and oncogenic transformation. Methods Mol Biol 511:159–184
- Schultz NA, Johansen JS (2010) YKL–40–a protein in the field of translational medicine: a role as a biomarker in cancer patients? Cancers (Basel) 2:1453–1491
- Senetta R, Duregon E, Sonetto C, Spadi R, Mistrangelo M, Racca P, Chiusa L, Munoz FH, Ricardi U, Arezzo A,

Cassenti A, Castellano I, Papotti M, Morino M, Risio M, Cassoni P (2015) YKL–40/c–Met expression in rectal cancer biopsies predicts tumor regression following neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy: a multi–institutional study. PLoS One 10:e0123759

- Shao R, Hamel K, Petersen L, Cao QJ, Arenas RB, Bigelow C, Bentley B, Yan W (2009) YKL–40, a secreted glycoprotein, promotes tumor angiogenesis. Oncogene 28:4456–4468
- Tajima S, Waki M, Tsuchiya T, Hoshi S (2014) Granulocyte colony–stimulating factor–producing undifferentiated carcinoma of the colon mimicking a pulmonary giant cell carcinoma: a case showing overexpression of CD44 along with highly proliferating nestin–positive tumor vessels. Int J Clin Exp Pathol 7:7034–7041
- Tanaka T, Tanaka M, Tanaka T, Ishigamori R (2010) Biomarkers for colorectal cancer. Int J Mol Sci 11:3209–3225
- Tarpgaard LS, Guren TK, Glimelius B, Christensen IJ, Pfeiffer P, Kure EH, Sorbye H, Ikdahl T, Yilmaz M, Johansen JS, Tveit KM (2014) Plasma YKL–40 in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer treated with first line oxaliplatin–based regimen with or without cetuximab: RESULTS from the NORDIC VII Study. PLoS One 9:e87746
- Tatarelli C, Linnenbach A, Mimori K, Croce CM (2000) Characterization of the human TESTIN gene localized in the FRA7G region at 7q31.2. Genomics 68:1–12
- Teranishi N, Naito Z, Ishiwata T, Tanaka N, Furukawa K, Seya T, Shinji S, Tajiri T (2007) Identification of neovasculature using nestin in colorectal cancer. Int J Oncol 30:593–560
- Tomisaki S, Ohno S, Ichiyoshi Y, Kuwano H, Maehara Y, Sugimachi K (1996) Microvessel quantification and its possible relation with liver metastasis in colorectal cancer. Cancer 77(8 Suppl):1722–1728
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet–Tieulent J, Jemal A (2015) Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 65:87–108
- Vind I, Johansen JS, Price PA, Munkholm P (2003) Serum YKL–40, a potential new marker of disease activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Scand J Gastroenterol 38:599–605
- Ye HM, Lu YZ, Liang XM, Lin YZ, Li Y, Zhang ZY, Tzeng CM (2014) Clinical significance of combined testing of YKL–40 with CEA in Chinese colorectal cancer patients. Clin Lab 60:397–405
- Yongbin Y, Jinghua L, Zhanxue Z, Aimin Z, Youchao Y, Yanhong S, Manjing J (2014) TES was epigenetically silenced and suppressed the epithelial–mesenchymal transition in breast cancer. Tumour Biol 35:11381–11389

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2020) 10: 9–14 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2020\_502 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 14 March 2020



# Self-Reported Survey on Allergy Symptoms Among First-Year Students in Veterinary Medicine: A Preamble to the AllergoVet Cohort Study

Martin Lehnert, Alexandra Beine, Frank Hoffmeyer, Dirk Taeger, Thomas Brüning, and Monika Raulf

### Abstract

Practical work in veterinary medicine provides exposure to various allergens which could increase the risk of sensitization. With the ongoing prospective "AllergoVet" study, we are investigating patterns of allergic symptoms and sensitization among veterinary students. Here, we report the results of the introductory self-reported survey on the presence of allergies in the first-year students of veterinary medicine, who had begun their studies in the years 2013–2016. The survey included 553 students who answered a questionnaire (63% response rate, 83% female ratio). The median age was 20 years (IQR: 19-22 years). About half of the responders indicated an interest in participating in the prospective study ("candidates"). Those who were uninterested in participating were termed "noncandidates". A doctor's diagnosis of any kind of atopic disease was reported by every fourth student. Hay fever was reported by 71 (13%) and allergic asthma by 38 (6.9%)students. The prevalence of hay fever in "candidates" (n = 294) and "noncandidates"

M. Lehnert (🖂), A. Beine, F. Hoffmeyer, D. Taeger, T. Brüning, and M. Raulf

(n = 259) was 13.5% and 12.2%, respectively. Allergic asthma was reported by 9.9% of "candidates" and 3.5% of "noncandidates", the difference being significant (p = 0.003). We conclude that the prevalence of selfreported allergic symptoms in the first-year students of veterinary medicine is similar to that in the general population. Pre-existing allergic asthma may have increased the motivation for the enrolment into the longitudinal "AllergoVet-study".

### Keywords

Allergy · Animal allergens · Asthma · Atopic eczema · Hay fever · Sensitization

# 1 Introduction

Practical work in veterinary medicine provides exposure to various allergens with an increased risk for developing allergic sensitization to animal allergens and allergic symptoms, such as rhinitis, conjunctivitis, asthma, or dermatitis (Moghtaderi et al. 2014). However, epidemiological data on the prevalence of allergic symptoms in veterinarians are scarce and inconsistent. In this regard, Schelkle et al. (2017) collected two questionnaire-based cross-sectional surveys from 512 and 596 veterinarians in Germany in 2006

Institute for Prevention and Occupational Medicine of the German Social Accident Insurance, Institute of the Ruhr-University Bochum (IPA), Bochum, Germany e-mail: lehnert@ipa-dguv.de

and 2012. The authors observed quite stable prevalence rates of allergic symptoms affecting the airways over the time. Bronchial asthma was reported by 5.1% and 5.6% and allergic rhinitis by 17.0% and 20.2% of the respondents, respectively. These prevalence rates were not elevated when compared to those present in the general population. The authors could not rule out a healthy worker effect, as veterinarians who develop severe allergic symptoms may leave their occupation or may switch from a job in practice to a job in a laboratory or administration. Hence, the necessity of more longitudinal studies on this issue has arisen. Data from the German statutory accident insurance show that 0.1% of

5-year period (Nienhaus et al. 2005). Veterinarians in practice are supposed to be at risk for sensitization to animal allergens, but there might also be a substantial exposure during the training at the university. In this regard, Samadi et al. (2012) conducted a cross-sectional study on students of veterinary medicine at Utrecht University in the Netherlands in 2006. This threestage longitudinal study demonstrates an increasing prevalence rate of rhinitis, conjunctivitis, asthma, and dermatitis. About 25.8% of the responders reported a history of allergy before the enrolment to the veterinary faculty. The firsttime occurrence of allergic symptoms during the study was reported by another 8.7% of the students. The authors demonstrate an increase in the self-reported allergic symptoms in the farmanimal students over the three successive study stages (3.4%, 8.1%, and 20%). Paradoxically, prevalence rates of sensitization assessed via blood tests seem to decrease over time.

veterinarians in practice have to abandon their

profession because of allergic asthma upon a

To enhance the knowledge on the development of sensitization and the occurrence of symptoms in veterinary students, the prospective "AllergoVet" study was conducted in cooperation with the veterinary faculty of the Justus Liebig University in Giessen, Germany. The veterinary faculty in Giessen is one of the five faculties in Germany altogether offering 1100 seats for veterinary medicine to more than 5000 applicants each year. The study, approved by the Ethic Committee of the Ruhr University Bochum, started with the enrolment of 71 freshmen and baseline examination in 2013. The enrolment ended in 2016 with a total of 313 students recruited. The average response rate for that longitudinal study was 36%. The present article is a different ramification and an extension of that study. In order to learn more about the prevalence of allergic symptoms in the basic population of veterinary students in Giessen and about a possible selection bias, we distributed a short questionnaire regarding allergic symptoms to all freshmen from 2013 to 2016. The data of the evaluation of this short questionnaire are presented herein.

# 2 Methods

### 2.1 Population

Five hundred fifty-three out of the 880 freshmen from the Department of Veterinary Medicine at the Justus Liebig University in Giessen, Germany, volunteered to answer a questionnaire on the doctor's diagnosis of their past allergic diseases. The survey was conducted in 2015 and 2016, the response rate was 63%, and the female/ male ratio was 5/1. The median age was 20 years (IQR: 19–22 years), and min-max was 17–42 years.

We used the data from two reputed previous population surveys performed by the Robert Koch Institute as a reference for comparison of the prevalence rate noted in the present study with the lifetime prevalence rate in the general population (Lange et al. 2014; Kamtsiuris et al. 2013). For matching the age structure of the study population, we considered the data from the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS1) and the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Children and Adolescents (KiGGS). KiGGS started collecting health data from a population-based sample in the year 2003 and provided the first nationally representative information on allergic diseases and sensitization (Kurth 2007; Schlaud et al. 2007). The first wave of KiGGS data was collected from 12,368 children and adolescents at 163 sample points via a phone survey in Germany during 2009–2013. For the matching comparison with the present survey, we used the data restricted to the age group 14-17 years of that survey (Schmitz et al. 2014). On the other hand, the first wave of DEGS data concerned the period 2008–2011, and it was part of the health monitoring system at the Robert Koch Institute. The survey consisted of interviews, examinations, and tests on the targeted population of residents aged 18-79 years at 180 sample points in Germany (Langen et al. 2013). Here, for the matching comparison with the present survey, we used the data restricted to the age group 18-29 years (Haftenberger et al. 2013; Kamtsiuris et al. 2013). The absolute frequencies were calculated from the prevalence rates and total numbers, if not reported in literature.

# 2.2 Data Elaboration

The prevalence of allergic diseases diagnosed by a doctor was presented as crude rates derived from the number of cases by 100 respondents. Two-sided Fisher's exact test was used for the calculation of 95% confidence interval. Each difference between two rates was tested for significance using Fisher's exact test. Calculations were performed using the interoperable software tool Epi Info<sup>™</sup> provided by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

## Results

3

The results from 460 female freshmen responding to our request on allergic symptoms are given in Table 1. The prevalence rate and frequency were as follows: 12.4% (n = 57) for hay fever, 7.0%(n = 32) for allergic asthma, 8.5% (n = 45) for atopic eczema, 9.1% (n = 42) for allergic contact dermatitis, and 4.8% (n = 22) for animal allergy. About one quarter of the surveyed female students (22.8%, 95% CI 18.7; 27.6) reported that they had ever been diagnosed with at least some kind of atopic disease - hay fever, allergic asthma, or atopic eczema. Overall, the prevalence rate of allergic symptoms in the present study was comparable to that in the previous KiGGS population survey where it amounted to 27.9 per 100 persons; the difference between the two surveys was not statistically significant. However, atopic eczema (14.6%) and allergic contact dermatitis (21.2%) were most prevalent in female adolescents of the KiGGS survey (Schlaud et al. 2007). Bronchial asthma was most frequently reported by female participants of the DEGS1 survey (12.8%). In both cases, these results were significantly different from the present findings (p < 0.001 and p < 0.005, respectively). On the other hand, hay fever was less prevalent among the present student populations than it was in both surveys referenced.

The pattern of allergic symptoms was quite similar in 93 male freshmen, with hay fever in 15.1% (n = 14), allergic asthma in 6.5% (n = 6),

	AllergeVet $(n - 460)$			KiGGS	1; age 14–17 y	DEGS1; age 18–29 years $(n - 547)$			
	Ancig	0 V Cl (II = 400)	<i>''</i>	(11 – 1390)			(n = 3+7)		
Female	(%)	95% CI	n	(%)	95% CI	n	(%)	95% CI	n
Hay fever	12.4	(9.4; 15.9)	57	16.3	(14.5; 18.2)	259	19.0	(15.9; 22.6)	104
Bronchial asthma	7.0	(4.8; 9.8)	32	6.7	(5.5; 8.2)	107	12.8	(9.9; 16.4)	70
Eczema	9.8	(7.1; 13.1)	45	14.6	(12.8; 16.7)	232	6.6	(4.8; 9.1)	36
Urticaria	1.7	(0.8; 3.3)	8				1.6	(0.7; 3.7)	9
Atopic disease (any)	22.8	(18.7; 27.6)	105	27.9	(25.7; 30.3)	444			
Allergic contact dermatitis	9.1	(6.6; 12.3)	42	21.2	(19.1; 23.5)	337	8.9	(6.3; 12.5)	49
Food allergy	4.8	(3.0; 7.2)	22				7.6	(5.4; 10.6)	42

**Table 1** Prevalence rate (%) of self-reported allergic diseases (doctor's diagnosis) in females with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) and counts (n)

	AllergoVet $(n = 93)$			KiGGS 1; age 14–17 years $(n = 1470)$			DEGS1; age 18–29 years $(n = 526)$		
Male	(%)	95% CI	n	(%)	95% CI	n	(%)	95% CI	n
Hay fever	15.1	(8.5; 24.7)	14	20.3	(18.3; 22.5)	298	16.1	(12.5; 20.4)	85
Bronchial asthma	6.5	(2.4; 14.0)	6	7.2	(6.0; 8.6)	106	11.3	(8.3; 15.1)	59
Eczema	2.2	(0.3; 7.8)	2	11.3	(9.7; 13.1)	166	6.3	(4.1; 9.7)	33
Urticaria	0		0				1.3	(0.6; 2.6)	7
Atopic disease (any)	19.4	(11.8; 31.0)	18	29.7	(27.4; 32.2)	437			
Allergic contact dermatitis	2.2	(0.3; 7.8)	2	7.1	(5.9; 8.6)	104	2.7	(1.6; 4.3)	14
Food allergy	1.1	(0.0; 6.0)	1				4.3	(2.5; 7.4)	23

**Table 2** Prevalence rate (%) of self-reported allergic diseases (doctor's diagnosis) in males with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) and counts (n)



Fig. 1 Distribution of self-reported allergic symptoms among freshmen of both genders

atopic eczema in 2.2% (n = 2), allergic contact dermatitis in 2.2% (n = 2), and animal allergy (excl. insect venom) in 1.1% (n = 1) of participants (Table 2). Only 18 male students (19.4%) did report any diagnosis of atopic disease in the past time, which was significantly fewer than the 29.7% reported in the KiGGS1 survey (p < 0.05). Hay fever and bronchial asthma also were rarer than those noticed in both KiGGS1 and DEGS1 surveys, which failed to reach a significant difference. In contradistinction, the rate of eczema was significantly higher in the present study, 11.3% vs. 2.2% in KiGGS1 (p < 0.005).

The distribution of multiple symptoms from the present survey is displayed in a Venn diagram (Fig. 1). Allergic asthma was associated with hay fever in 18 students. A set of three atopic symptoms, diagnosed by a doctor, was reported by nine students. Overall, 435 students (77%) had never reported any allergic symptom, confirmed by a doctor, and 409 (74%) not even reported ever making any suspecting self-observations.

About half of the responders, further referred to as "candidates", indicated an interest in participating in the main study. The prevalence in "candidates" (n 294) rates = and "noncandidates" (n = 259) were as follows: hay fever 13.5% vs. 12.2%, allergic asthma 9.9% vs. 3.5%, eczema 9.5% vs. 7.3%, allergic contact dermatitis 8.8% vs. 6.9%, and animal allergy 4.1% vs. 3.9%, respectively (Table 3). Atopic diseases, in the main, tended to be more frequent in "candidates" than in "noncandidates" (23.5% vs. 20.8%, respectively). The exception was a significant higher prevalence rate in allergic asthma in "candidates" (p = 0.006). Additionally, Table 3 provides more details on the distribution of causes of allergies among the respondents. Grass and pollen were reported the most frequent triggers of allergic symptoms (13.9%), followed by house dust mites (10.1%). Animal allergens attested by a doctor triggered allergies in 4% of the respondents, with negligible differences between "candidates" and "noncandidates".

### 4 Discussion

In a cross-sectional survey conducted among freshmen at the faculty for veterinary medicine of the Justus Liebig University of Giessen in Germany, lifetime prevalence rates for allergic asthma and hay fever tended to be lower than the rates reported by both participants of the KiGGS1 survey aged 14 to 17 years (Schlaud

	AllergoVet + $(n = 294)$		AllergoVet – $(n = 259)$			Total $(n = 553)$		
	(%)	95% CI	n	(%)	95% CI	n	(%)	n
Females	78.9		232	83.4		216	80.7	446
Hay fever	12.2	(8.6; 17.0)	36	13.5	(9.4; 18.8)	35	12.8	71
Bronchial asthma	9.9	(6.6; 14.2)	29	3.5	(1.6; 6.6)	9	6.9	38
Atopic eczema	9.5	(6.3; 13.8)	28	7.3	(4.4; 11.5)	19	8.5	47
Urticaria	1.0	(0.2; 3.0)	3	1.9	(0.6; 4.5)	5	1.4	8
Atopic disease (any)	23.5	(18.3; 29.7)	69	20.9	(15.7; 26.4)	54	22.2	123
Allergic contact dermatitis	8.8	(5.8; 13.0)	26	7.0	(4.1; 11.0)	18	8.0	44
Grass and pollen allergy	14.3	(10.3; 19.3)	42	13.5	(9.4; 18.8)	35	13.9	77
Food allergy	4.4	(2.4; 7.6)	13	3.9	(1.9; 7.1)	10	4.2	23
House dust allergy	10.9	(7.5; 15.4)	32	9.3	(5.9; 13.8)	24	10.1	56
Animal allergy	4.1	(2.1; 7.1)	12	3.9	(1.9; 7.1)	10	4.0	22

**Table 3** Prevalence rate (%) of potential participants "candidates" (AllergoVet+) and "noncandidates" (AllergoVet-) with 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) and counts (n)

et al. 2007) and the DEGS1 survey (Langen et al. 2013). Likewise, prevalence rates for atopic eczema were lower than those observed in the KiGGS1 survey. About every fourth female freshman and every fifth male freshman reported at least one doctor's diagnosis of an atopic disease in the past. Although the questionnaire-based surveys are appropriate investigation tools, the consistency between reported symptoms and the actual lifetime prevalence of allergic diseases cannot be evidenced. In this regard, atopic eczema in childhood could be reported more frequently if parents had been interviewed as was the case in the KiGGS study. The lack of such interviews in the present study could result in a lower prevalence of atopic eczema when compared to the KiGGS study.

A limitation of the comparison of prevalence rates could arise from different time periods of data collection for the three surveys. KiGGS1 was performed in 2005, DEGS1 was conducted from 2008 to 2011, and the present survey was from 2013 to 2016. Interestingly, KiGGS1 revealed an outstanding prevalence for allergic contact dermatitis in 21.2% of female adolescents (Schlaud et al. 2007). In this regard, the authors discussed a causal effect from the use of cheap jewelry and cosmetics by girls. Hence, lower rates of contact dermatitis in the present study could have something to do with a minor use of jewelry and cosmetics in our study population. But the difference could also be due to a general downward trend in contact dermatitis over time (Langen et al. 2013). However, a prevalence rate of 22.8% for any kind of atopic disease in the first-year students in the present study is in accord with the observation of 25.8% of allergic veterinary freshmen at Utrecht University reported by Samadi et al. (2012).

In the year 2016, our cohort was closed at a total of 313 students. We suppose that most of the 294 freshmen who signalled their willingness to participate in the prospective AllergoVet study ("candidates") during this survey actually became participants. Most of the observed differences between this group and the students who stated disinterest ("noncandidates"; n = 259) were statistically insignificant, except for the prevalence of bronchial asthma in "candidates". Asthma patients among the students seemed particularly interested in participation in the AllergoVet study due to their personal situation. A pre-existing allergy might have increased the motivation to participate in this prospective study.

# 5 Conclusions

The majority of freshmen in veterinary medicine in Germany are well-educated female students between 17 and 22 years of age. From this upstream survey, we learn that about every fourth freshmen in veterinary medicine had a diagnosis of an atopic disease in the past, 13% were suffering from hay fever, and 7% were suffering from bronchial asthma. The prevalence rates are not higher than those in the general population. The prevalence rate for atopic diseases was slightly higher for potential study participants than for nonparticipants. Bronchial asthma was significantly more frequent among potential participants. A minor selection bias should be considered in the interpretation of results of the subsequent longitudinal AllergoVet study.

**Conflicts of Interest** The work is part of the IPA project 109-AllergoVet funded by the intramural budgets provided by the German Social Accident Insurance (DGUV) to the Institute for Prevention and Occupational Medicine (IPA). Practical realization of the study was supported by the Unfallkasse Hessen (especially I. Thullner) and the University for Veterinary Medicine, Giessen (especially Prof. Dr. St. Arnhold and Prof. Dr. S. Tacke). The authors also want to express their gratitude to all students who participated in the study. The authors are independent from the DGUV in the study design and the interpretation of the results and have no other conflicts of interest to declare.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

**Informed Consent** Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

# References

- Haftenberger M, Laußmann D, Ellert U, Kalcklösch M, Langen U, Schlaud M, Schmitz R, Thamm M (2013) Prevalence of sensitization to aeroallergens and food allergens. Results of the German Health. Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS1) Bundesgesundheitsblatt, Gesundheitsforschung. Gesundheitsschutz 56(5–6):687–697
- Kamtsiuris P, Lange M, Hoffmann R, Schaffrath Rosario A, Dahm S, Kuhnert R, Kurth BM (2013)

The first wave of the German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS1): sampling design, response, weighting, and representativeness. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 56(5–6):620–630

- Kurth BM (2007) Der Kinder- und Jugendgesundheitssurvey (KiGGS): Ein Uberblick über Planung, Durchführung und Ergebnisse unter Berücksichtigung von Aspekten eines Qualitätsmanagements. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 50(5–6):533–546
- Lange M, Butschalowsky HG, Jentsch F, Kuhnert R, Schaffrath Rosario A, Schlaud M, Kamtsiuris P (2014) Die erste KiGGS-Folgebefragung (KiGGS Welle 1): Studiendurchführung, Stichprobendesign und Response. Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 57(7):747–761
- Langen U, Schmitz R, Steppuhn H (2013) Häufigkeit allergischer Erkrankungen in Deutschland: Ergebnisse der Studie zur Gesundheit Erwachsener in Deutschland (DEGS1). Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 56(5–6):698–706
- Moghtaderi M, Farjadian S, Abbaszadeh Hasiri M (2014) Animal allergen sensitization in veterinarians and laboratory animal workers. Occup Med (Lond) 64:516–520
- Nienhaus A, Skudlik C, Seidler A (2005) Work-related accidents and occupational diseases in veterinarians and their staff. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 78:230–238
- Samadi S, Spithoven J, Jamshidifard AR, Berends BR, Len L, Heederik DJJ, Wouters IM (2012) Allergy among veterinary medicine students in The Netherlands. Occup Environ Med 69:48–55
- Schelkle M, Braun J, Jörres R, Schierl R, Holger D (2017) Respiratory allergies among veterinarians: two crosssectional surveys from 2006 to 2012. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 90:639–643
- Schlaud M, Atzpodien K, Thierfelder W (2007) Allergische Erkrankungen Ergebnisse aus dem Kinderund Jugendgesundheitssurvey (KiGGS). Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 50:701–710
- Schmitz R, Thamm M, Ellert U, Kalcklösch M, Schlaud M (2014) Verbreitung häufiger Allergien bei Kindern und Jugendlichen in Deutschland: Ergebnisse der KiGGS-Studie Erste Folgebefragung (KiGGS Welle 1).
   Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz 57:771–778

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2020) 10: 15–26 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2020\_509 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 20 March 2020



# The Pattern of Sensitization Influences Exhaled and Nasal Nitric Oxide Levels in Young Adults

F. Hoffmeyer, A. Beine, M. Lehnert, H. Berresheim, D. Taeger, V. van Kampen, I. Sander, E. Zahradnik, T. Brüning, and M. Raulf

# Abstract

Nitric oxide (NO) from upper (nasal NO, nNO) or lower airways (fractional exhaled NO, FeNO) is considered a surrogate marker Th2-type inflammation, which for influenced by atopy. The aim of this study was to analyze nNO and FeNO in regard to qualitative and quantitative aspects of sensitization. We evaluated 244 non-smoking young adults. All of them were first-year students recruited for a longitudinal study. An inhalation allergy screening tool was used for atopy definition (specific immunoglobulin E (sIgE) to sx1  $\ge$  0.35 kU/L), and also sIgE response to three inhalant perennial allergens, house dust mite (HDM, d1), cat (e1), and dog (e5), was determined in the non-pollen season. With respect to sx1, 100 subjects could be classified as atopic. Sensitization to one, two, or three perennial allergens could be demonstrated in 46, 10, and 16 students, respectively. The subjects with positive IgE response to sx1, but not sensitized to HDM, cat, and/or dog, had FeNO levels comparable to those of

F. Hoffmeyer (🖂), A. Beine, M. Lehnert, H. Berresheim,

non-atopic subjects (13.5 vs. 13.0 ppb, respectively; p = 0.485). These levels were significantly lower compared to atopic subjects being sensitized to any perennial allergen (19.0 ppb; p = 0.0003). After grouping the atopic subjects for perennial sensitization patterns, significantly higher FeNO could be detected in subjects with poly-sensitization (n = 26;26.0 ppb) compared to the mono-sensitized ones (n = 46; 18.0 ppb; p = 0.023). Regarding nNO, no differences could be observed. Applying a two-way ANOVA, we could reveal a significant correlation of specific HDM-IgE with CAP-class FeNO (p < 0.0001) and nNO levels (p = 0.007). Finally, a significant relationship was found between nNO and FeNO for the whole cohort (p < 0.0001). In summary, our findings support the argument that atopy and perennial sensitization should be considered for the interpretation of NO.

# Keywords

Airway inflammation  $\cdot$  Biomarker  $\cdot$  Exhaled nitric oxide  $\cdot$  Nasal nitric oxide  $\cdot$  Sensitization

D. Taeger, V. van Kampen, I. Sander, E. Zahradnik,

T. Brüning, and M. Raulf

Institute for Prevention and Occupational Medicine of the German Social Accident Insurance, Institute of the Ruhr-University Bochum (IPA), Bochum, Germany e-mail: hoffmeyer@ipa-dguv.de

# 1 Introduction

Measurement of nitric oxide (NO) either from upper (nasal NO; nNO) or lower airways (fractional exhaled NO, FeNO) may be used as a surrogate marker for Th2-type inflammation, e.g., airway eosinophilia (Jatakanon et al. 1998). FeNO is recognized as an important noninvasive tool in clinical practice to clarify the etiology of respiratory symptoms (Häussermann et al. 2013). Moreover, it has been demonstrated of value for monitoring levels of airway eosinophilic inflammation and to guide therapy (Dweik et al. 2011). There is a high basal activity of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) in the nasal epithelium and paranasal sinuses resulting in a 100-fold higher nNO level compared to NO produced in the lower respiratory tract (Lundberg et al. 1995).

So far, with the exception of ciliary disorders characterized by a dramatic decrease of nNO, measurement of nNO is not a routine diagnostic method (Wodehouse et al. 2003). There are few data demonstrating the usefulness of nNO in terms of its being a biomarker of inflammation (Antosova et al. 2017). Most studies have been performed in clinical cohorts, and the general population-based studies are lacking. nNO increases in allergic rhinitis (Arnal et al. 1997). Lower nNO levels are shown in patients with allergic rhinitis after treatment with topical steroids compared to non-treated ones (Kharitonov et al. 1997). Consistently, increasing nNO levels have been provoked by specific allergen challenge in subjects with allergic rhinitis due to molds (Boot et al. 2007). However, nNO profiles are almost identical after A. fumigatus and placebo inhalation (Stark et al. 2005). Somewhat conflicting, nNO levels have also been shown to fall after specific challenge (Serrano et al. 2012). The interpretation of nNO level is complex as inflammation causes nasal congestion and thereby could reduce nasal passage of NO-rich air through the paranasal ostia. nNO is reduced in patients with nonallergic rhinitis, chronic sinusitis, and nasal polyps (Colantonio et al. 2002). Moreover, different methodological approaches used for nNO measurements have to be taken into account when making comparisons between studies (Hoffmeyer et al. 2019; Antosova et al. 2017).

Beside technical and analytical issues, different subject characteristics cause NO variations (ATS/ERS 2005). Concerning FeNO in adults, age, cigarette smoking, atopy, and gender have to be considered (Taylor et al. 2007; Olin et al. 2006; Kharitonov et al. 1995). In a systematic review, higher FeNO in subjects with allergic rhinitis has been reported compared to either healthy or atopic individuals, although healthy and atopic individuals have similar values (Linhares et al. 2011). Elevated FeNO is detected in non-asthmatic subjects with allergic rhinitis in the non-pollen season especially in perennially sensitized subjects (Henriksen et al. 1999). The level and type of allergic sensitization affect FeNO in subjects with atopic asthma, with perennial allergens having the greatest effect (Olin et al. 2004). In addition, there is a positive association between FeNO and the increasing number and maximum diameter of each positive skin prick test (Ho et al. 2000).

Methodological issues that cause variations in nNO levels have been widely addressed (Hoffmeyer et al. 2019; de Winter-de Groot and van der Ent 2009). Further data are needed on the subject characteristics and environmental modifiers. Moreover, data simultaneously assessing upper and lower airway NO levels are limited (Gupta et al. 2014). In subjects suffering from allergic rhinitis, nNO is not significantly different from healthy controls in the non-pollen season. In contrast, FeNO is significantly elevated in perennially sensitized subjects (Henriksen et al. 1999). Also, an increasing nNO level with the number of perennial sensitizing allergens is described (Krantz et al. 2014). In the present study, we investigated the level of nNO and FeNO, as indirect markers of inflammation in the upper and lower airways, in relation to atopic status and pattern of perennial sensitization reflected by specific serum IgE in non-smoking young adults.

# 2 Methods

# 2.1 Study Population and Allergic Sensitization

Within the framework of the AllergoVet longitudinal study, 244 first-year students in a university were evaluated. A questionnaire concerning exposure, respiratory symptoms, and smoking habits was completed. All of the young adults were healthy never-smokers and free of respiratory infection (Table 1). Measurements of specific IgE (sIgE) were done by ImmunoCAP 250 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Uppsala, Sweden), and sIgE values >0.35 kU/L were considered positive. Three inhalant perennial allergens, house dust mite Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus (HDM, d1), cat (e1), and dog (e5) dander, and a mixture of common inhalant allergens (sx1, Phadiatop, Thermo Fisher Phadia AB, Uppsala, Sweden) were used for sIgE testing. The sx1 mixture, apart from the three inhalant perennial allergens, also contains the seasonal allergens of timothy grass pollen, rye grass pollen, Cladosporium herbarum, birch pollen, and mugwort pollen. A positive atopic status was assumed in case of any positive sIgE value. Perennial sensitization with elevated sIgE level to HDM antigen (0.40 and 0.59 kU/L) but sx1 below the cutoff level (0.26 and 0.30 kU/L, respectively) was found in only two students. The students were grouped by the number of positive results to perennial allergens into mono-sensitized (n = 1) and poly-sensitized (n > 1). Positive results for perennial sensitization were further classified according to the sIgE level into six categories (CAP-class): CAP-1; 0.35 - <0.7 kU/L, CAP-2; 0.7 - <3.5 kU/L, CAP-3; 3.5 - <17.5 kU/L, CAP-4; 17.5 - <50 kU/L, CAP-5; 50 - <100 kU/L, and CAP-6;  $\geq$ 100 kU/L. The sum of CAP-class test results from the three perennial allergens (HDM, cat, and dog) was calculated and referred to as a total perennial allergy score (Henriksen et al. 2001). All of the subjects were tested in the month of November without the influence of seasonal pollen allergens. The subjects were

informed not to perform any strenuous physical activity within 60 min before the NO measurements.

# 2.2 NO Measurements

FeNO and nNO measurements were performed with the handheld NIOX MINO<sup>®</sup> system (Circassia, Bad Homburg, Germany) according to the published recommendations (ATS/ERS 2005). The NIOX MINO<sup>®</sup> employs an electrochemical sensor with a measurement range of 5–1700 ppb and a good short-term repeatability demonstrating a coefficient of variation of 10% (Marthin and Nielsen 2013).

The subjects were studied in a convenient seated position. FeNO was measured during active oral exhalation at a flow rate of 50 mL/s. Concerning nNO, different techniques have been applied, and the highest values were found using the method of a closed velum (de Winter-de Groot and van der Ent 2009). Recently, we could demonstrate higher values and a better short- and long-term repeatability using the breath-holding than the tidal-breathing method for nNO measurement (Hoffmeyer et al. 2019). We validated those results in the current study and confirmed the presence of differences between the two methods in favor of the breathholding in the Bland-Altman analysis (data not shown). The Bland-Altman analysis of distance for the two methods revealed a mean nNO difference of 50% (243 ppb) and SD of the difference of 51%, confirming our previous results of 51% (243 ppb) and 35%, respectively. Therefore, nNO measurement was done during breath-holding with the mouth shut. Nasal olive was applied into a nostril and hold in place by the participant while the contralateral nostril was left open. The aspiration was done at a flow rate of 5 mL/s and automatically stopped after 45 s.

# 2.3 Statistical Analysis

Data were expressed as medians with interquartile ranges (IQR, 25th; 75th percentile). The

		No atopy	Perennial sensitization	Seasonal sensitization only <sup>a</sup>
Gender	n (F/M)	144 (133/11)	72 (59/13)	28 (22/6)
Age	Years	19 (19; 21)	19 (19; 21)	19 (19; 22)
BMI	kg/m <sup>2</sup>	21.4 (20.0; 23.3)	22.4 (20.3; 24.1)	22.6 (21.0; 25.2)
sx1	kU/L	0.09 (0.06; 0.13)	11.1 (3.47; 32.38)	6.13 (0.49; 17.33)
Asymptomatic	n (F/M)	125 (116/9)	36 (28/8)	11 (9/2)
Rhinitis only	<i>n</i> (F/M)	12 (11/1)	25 (21/4)	9 (8/1)
Asthma only	n (F/M)	4 (3/1)	1 (0/1)	2 (1/1)
Rhinitis + asthma	n (F/M)	3 (3/0)	10 (10/0)	6 (4/2)

Table 1 Subject characteristics of 244 non-smoking first-year students

F female; M male; BMI body mass index; sx1 IgE antibodies to a mixture of ubiquitous allergens (atopy screen); data are continuous variables with medians and interquartile ranges (IQR)

<sup>a</sup>sx1 positive without IgE response to HDM, cat, and dog

D'Agostino and Pearson omnibus normality test, cross-checked by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test, was used to assess data distribution. A two-sided significance level of 0.05 was chosen for all tests. The Bland-Altman analysis was performed to compare two methodological approaches. Atopics and non-atopics were compared using a t-test or Mann-Whitney U test as appropriate. Differences between multiple groups were assessed with one-way ANOVA. Correlations between measured parameters were assessed with the Pearson test or Spearman rank test, where appropriate. A two-way ANOVA was used to examine the influence of qualitative aspects, e.g., mono- vs. poly-sensitization, and quantitative aspects, e.g., intensity of sensitization on nitric oxide levels. In this analysis, the independent continuous variable for intensity of sensitization ("sIgE concentration") was transferred into a categorical variable ("CAP-class"). Data were analyzed and visualized by GraphPad Prism v7.04 software for Windows (GraphPad, San Diego, CA).

# 3 Results

# 3.1 Characteristics of Subjects

Females accounted for the majority of the 244 students (n = 214; 88%), with 81 of them being atopic (38%). In comparison, significantly

more of the 30 male participants could be classified as atopic (n = 19; 63%, p = 0.01). Overall, 100 atopics could be identified in the non-smoking first-year students. The proportion of atopics sensitized to perennial allergens (n = 72) was similar in females (n = 59; 72%) and males (n = 13; 68%). More than 50% of the atopics in comparison to only 13% of non-atopics reported respiratory symptoms (Table 1) which occurred mainly in the pollen season. At the time of the study, all of the students were asymptomatic.

No significant gender differences were evident regarding sensitization to any particular perennial allergen (Table 2). Overall, 64 (26%), 29 (12%), and 21 (9%) subjects were sensitized to HDM, cat, and dog allergen, respectively. They were divided according to mono- or poly-sensitization to perennial allergens. In detail, 40, 4, and 2 subjects were mono-sensitized to HDM, cat, dog, respectively. Poly-sensitization to or 2 allergens was found in 10 subjects (HDM/cat, n = 7; HDM/dog, n = 1; and cat/dog, n = 2), and 16 subjects were poly-sensitized against all of these 3 allergens tested. Positive results for perennial sensitization were further classified according to the sIgE levels into six CAP-classes (Fig. 1). Concerning HDM, CAP spectrum was quite similar, except CAP-class 1 which was only seen in HDM mono-sensitized subjects. A stronger sensitization against cat or dog (CAP >2) was only observed in case of poly-sensitization.

		All $(n = 244)$	Females $(n = 214)$	Males $(n = 30)$	<i>p</i> -value*
sx1	n (%)	100 (41%)	81 (38%)	19 (63%)	0.010
	kU/L	8.8 (2.1; 31.6)	8.8 (2.4; 32.4)	11.1 (1.8; 24.7)	0.722
HDM (d1)	n (%)	64 (26%)	52 (24%)	12 (40%)	0.177
	kU/L	9.3 (1.7; 20.3)	8.9 (1.8; 25.1)	13.1 (0.7; 15.8)	0.626
Cat (e1)	n (%)	29 (12%)	25 (12%)	4 (13%)	0.765
	kU/L	2.3 (0.6; 7.3)	3.4 (0.7; 7.5)	0.7 (0.6; 5.8)	0.444
Dog (e5)	n (%)	21 (10%)	18 (8%)	3 (10%)	0.730
	kU/L	0.9 (0.5; 3.2)	0.8 (0.4; 3.2)	2.8 (0.4; 3.3)	0.740

 Table 2
 Sensitization and specific IgE antibodies

Data are continuous variables with medians and interquartile ranges (IQR); \*females vs. males; sIgE values  $\geq$ 0.35 kU/L were considered positive

TIDA

Fig. 1 Perennial monoand poly-sensitization and respective strength of sensitization (CAP-class). *CAP-class* sensitization categories (see Methods), *HDM* house dust mite

HDM	CAP-class	1	2	3	4	5	0
$\bigcirc$	HDM						
40	Mono (n=40)	10	5	14	8	1	2
[]	Poly $(n=24)$		6	8	5	4	1
17 $1$	Cat						
	Mono (n=4)	1	3				
	Poly (n=25)	7	6	10	1		1
4 2 2 2	Dog						
	Mono (n=2)	2					
Cat Dog	Poly (n=19)	6	8	5			

CAD alaga

# 3.2 Sensitization and NO Measurements

The subjects sensitized to seasonal allergens only had the out-of-season FeNO levels similar to those of non-atopic subjects (13.5 (11.0; 17.8) ppb vs. 13.0 (10.0; 17.0) ppb, respectively, p = 0.485). These FeNO levels were significantly lower compared to atopic subjects being sensitized to any of the perennial allergens (19.0 (15.0; 31.5) ppb; p = 0.0003) (Fig. 2a). Those who were sensitized to perennial allergens were further stratified according to mono- or poly-sensitization. The results for FeNO in relation to a specific perennial sensitization are depicted in Fig. 2b. After grouping for sensitization patterns, significantly higher FeNO was detected in the subjects with poly-sensitization (n = 26; 26.0 (16.0; 44.5) ppb) compared to mono-sensitization (n = 46; 18.0 (13.8; 23.3))ppb; p = 0.023). There were no differences in FeNO regarding the anamnestic seasonal rhinitis and/or asthma compared to subjects without seasonal symptoms, irrespective of underlying atopy (non-atopic p = 0.574; atopic p = 0.452) (data not shown).

Regarding nNO, there were no differences between poly-sensitized (664 (552; 764) ppb) and mono-sensitized subjects (665 (487; 841) ppb; p = 0.875). nNO was similar in non-atopic and atopic subjects outside the pollen season, independent from the pattern of sensitization, e.g., seasonal only or perennial. The nNO levels were 626 (462; 756) ppb, 612 (421; 758) ppb, and 664 (512; 791) ppb for non-atopic, seasonal only and perennial sensitized. nNO was not significantly influenced by intermittent clinical symptoms of rhinitis and/or asthma (non-atopic p = 0.952; atopic p = 0.110; data not shown). There were higher, but not statistically different, nNO levels in atopic subjects with intermittent rhinitis (720 (570; 838) ppb) compared to asymptomatic ones (607 (419; 732) ppb; p = 0.070).



**Fig. 2** FeNO in relation to atopic status (**a**) and to specific perennial sensitization (**b**). A group of subjects with polysensitization was compared to that with monosensitization (medians with interquartile ranges). *NA* 

Referring to the pattern analysis, apart from comparing mono- and poly-sensitized subjects, the strength of sIgE content has to be considered. Due to a small number of subjects monosensitized against animal antigens as shown in Fig. 1, these subgroups were not suitable for further analysis. However, the results for HDM sensitization were suitable for further qualitative and quantitative analysis. The influence of qualitative aspects, e.g., mono- vs. poly-sensitization, and quantitative aspects, e.g., intensity of HDM sensitization in terms of sIgE content or CAP-class on FeNO and nNO, is shown in Fig. 3a, b, respectively. In two-way ANOVA, correlation of HDM CAP-class with either FeNO or nNO level could be revealed. In contrast, there was no modulation by qualitative aspects. Thus, intensity of sensitization against HDM, irrespective of additional perennial sensitization, has a major influence on FeNO levels. Additionally, no significant interaction was found between CAP-level and qualitative aspects of sensitization (mono- or poly-sensitization) (FeNO p = 0.819; nNO p = 0.451). Similar results were noticed when NO was analyzed regarding the total perennial allergy score (data not shown).

non-atopic; A/+ sensitization against the following allergens (without perennial allergens (A/0)); HDM house dust mite

# 3.3 Correlation of FeNO and nNO

A significant relationship was found between NO of the upper and lower airways for the whole cohort (r = 0.438; p < 0.0001). Linear regressions for nNO and FeNO of subjects without (n = 144; r = 0.384, p < 0.0001) and with atopy (n = 100; r = 0.490, p < 0.0001), considering either perennial (n = 72; r = 0.509, p < 0.001) or seasonal only sensitization (n = 28; r = 0.440, p = 0.022), were all significant (Fig. 4a, b). In addition, stratification by the intensity of sensitization revealed significant relationships for mono-sensitized (n = 46; r = 0.534, p = 0.0002) and polysensitized subjects (n = 26; r = 0.443, p = 0.023).

# 4 Discussion

In this study, we demonstrate an influence on FeNO and nNO of sensitization pattern in young adults without respiratory symptoms. Since NO measurement could be confounded by smoking, the investigation was restricted to non-smoking subjects (Alexanderson et al. 2012; Olin et al. 1998; Kharitonov et al. 1995). The





main finding was that NO levels in the non-pollen season were influenced by the pattern of perennial allergen sensitization. The pattern of sensitization was evaluated according to qualitative aspects such as mono- vs. poly-sensitization and quantitative aspects such as the strength of sensitization in terms of CAP-class. Both FeNO and nNO were measured with routinely recommended methods (ATS/ERS 2005). Concerning nNO, we used the breath-holding method whose results were in line with those published previously (Hoffmeyer et al. 2019).

Aside from the skin prick test, sIgE antibodies have been used to identify sensitization in atopic subjects without asthma or rhinitis (Rouhos et al. 2008). Referring to sIgE levels, we identified in this study 100 (40%) atopic students, the proportion in accord with the most recent DEGS survey from Germany, in which 45% adults aged 18–29 were atopic as assessed from positive sIgE to sx1





(Haftenberger et al. 2013). With respect to specific allergen sensitization to HDM, our results are in line with the DEGS survey reporting the prevalence of 26% in young adults aged 18–29 years. We found that 70% of the non-smoking atopic students were sensitized to perennial allergens and 30% to seasonal allergens only. These proportions correspond to those defining atopy from a positive response to skin prick test, amounting to 69% and 31%, respectively (Rouhos et al. 2008). We noticed higher FeNO levels outside the pollen season in case of perennial sensitization than those in atopic subjects without perennial sensitization and non-atopic healthy subjects. This is in line with the literature sources reporting atopy and allergic rhinitis as two important FeNO modifiers. In asymptomatic atopic adults, elevated FeNO was seen compared to non-atopic subjects (Horváth and Barnes 1999). In addition, increased FeNO was found in asymptomatic subjects sensitized to HDM (Moody et al. 2000). Other studies performed in non-smoking asymptomatic adults have shown similar FeNO content in atopic compared to healthy subjects (Rouhos et al. 2008; Berlyne et al. 2000). However, they failed to consider the pattern of sensitization. FeNO has been similar in non-atopic and in low-sensitized atopic asthmatics (Ekroos et al. 2009). Referring to the kind of sensitization, the highest levels of FeNO are shown in asthmatic patients sensitized to perennial allergens compared to those in non-atopic asthmatics or in the presence of seasonal allergens (Olin et al. 2004). Continuous exposure to perennial allergens might have a stronger effect on lower airways compared to pollen occurring seasonally (Warm et al. 2015). Concerning the impact of allergic diseases, the majority of studies have revealed a significantly higher FeNO in allergic rhinitis compared to healthy subjects (Linhares et al. 2011). In non-smoking male military conscripts recently diagnosed as having atopic asthma, the median FeNO levels are significantly higher than those in subjects with non-atopic asthma, both being significantly higher than those in healthy controls (Ekroos et al. 2009). A modulation of FeNO content by the measurement method, either in or out of season, has been reported (Prieto et al. 2002). Simpson et al. (1999) have found higher FeNO levels in subjects with sensitization who are exposed to relevant allergens compared to those without current exposure.

Aside the kind of sensitization, e.g., perennial versus seasonal only, our results support the importance of qualitative aspects. In children, a relationship between elevated FeNO and the exacerbation of rhinitis or the number of positive wheals in skin prick test has been noticed (Cardinale et al. 2005). In extensive analysis, Rouhos et al. (2008) have defined the degree of atopy, apart from the number of positive reactions, as a sum of wheal diameter. A total prick wheal sum serving as a proxy for the strength of sensitization has also been applied in other studies (Ekroos et al. 2009; Ho et al. 2000). Likewise, a sum of immunologic test results, e.g., sIgE from perennial indoor allergens, is referred

to as a total perennial allergy score (Henriksen et al. 2001). The identification of atopic subjects in the present study relied on serologic IgE levels. Accordingly, apart from the sIgE content, we also used the IgE CAP-class as a proxy for the strength of sensitization. The number of subjects sensitized against HDM enabled the in-depth evaluation. Applying two-way ANOVA, we could reveal a significant correlation of specific HDM-IgE CAP-class with both FeNO and nNO levels. In poly-sensitized subjects, no CAP-class "1" HDM-IgE level could be observed. These results demonstrate that the intensity of sensitization against HDM is a major modulator of NO levels. Whether this is also the case for the other perennial allergens could not be shown due to a limited number of subjects respectively sensitized.

Different methods have been applied for the measurement of nNO (Hoffmeyer et al. 2019; de Winter-de Groot and van der Ent 2009). All these methods are based on the generation of airflow through nasal cavities aspirating or insufflating air via one nostril while the velum is closed. Moreover, a steady NO plateau is not produced before a washout phase. We found similar nNO values in non-atopic and atopic subjects independent from the pattern of sensitization, e.g., seasonal only or perennial. However, atopic subjects with intermittent rhinitis had higher levels of nNO than the asymptomatic ones. This is in line with a higher nNO content in patients with perennial and/or seasonal rhinitis with and without active symptoms compared with healthy controls (Arnal et al. 1997). nNO content seems elevated in allergic rhinitis in some but not all studies when compared to healthy controls (Struben et al. 2006). In this respect, similar nNO levels in subjects with allergic or perennial rhinitis, compared to control subjects, have been reported in a Norwegian general population study (Henriksen et al. 1999). It is to mention that allergen exposure geographically differs both quantitatively and qualitatively. For instance, in another study from Norway, exposure to HDM has been

substantially lower than that to cat allergen (Alexanderson et al. 2012). Interestingly, a significant correlation between the nNO level and strength of sensitization in terms of CAP-class was noticed in the present study for HDM monosensitized subjects. This finding is in line with the association between nNO content and skin prick reactivity (wheal diameter) to house dust mite found in a study of Moody et al. (2000). An association of high levels of cat sIgE with increased nNO has been also reported (Alexanderson et al. 2012). A small number of only four subjects mono-sensitized to cat allergen in the present study were insufficient to further elaborate on this association.

There is evidence that allergic rhinitis and asthma share common immunologic features addressed as "unified allergic airway". Both conditions are characterized by the presence of activated Th2-lymphocytes and increased Th2/Th1 cytokine ratio (Jatakanon et al. 1998). There is a continuum from atopic-specific sensitization in the otherwise healthy condition to clinically manifested allergic diseases, such as allergic rhinitis or allergic asthma. On the cellular level, a continuum exists from basal activity of immunologically competent cells, stimulation, and finally inflammatory response. There is a continuous and high basal activity of nitric oxide synthase (NOS) in the nasal epithelium and paranasal sinuses (Lundberg et al. 1995). NOS in the lower airways increases by induction of iNOS under the influence of Th2 cytokines (Dweik et al. 2011). FeNO levels may determine clinical expression of atopy because atopy can be considered an immune disorder associated with increased airway inflammation (Jang et al. 2013). Recently, a significant positive correlation between FeNO and nNO in non-smokers has been reported (Alexanderson et al. 2012). After exclusion of possible confounders, such as age, gender, and the use of inhaled corticosteroids, a correlation between surrogates of inflammation in the upper and lower airways in different airway disorders has been reported. A connection between nNO and FeNO is most evident in healthy subjects and in patients with allergic rhinitis. The present findings support a statement by Williamson

et al. (2010) that even in the absence of airway disease an individual variation in NO expression exists. Thus, increased FeNO outside the season for typical aerogen allergens in the asymptomatic young adults with perennial sensitization of the present study may indicate a state of subclinical inflammation.

This study has some potential shortcomings. Firstly, the findings are based on a cross-sectional evaluation. Secondly, young adults were all students of high socioeconomic status, and they were predominantly females of a narrow age range. Thirdly, stratification of the sensitization status was based on sIgE to sx1 and on three indoor aeroallergens only. We did not include specific pollen or food allergens in this study. Fourthly, HDM was a predominating allergen in mono-sensitized students.

In summary, our findings support the argument that atopy and perennial sensitization should be considered for the interpretation of NO measurement results. Out of the pollen season, both FeNO and nNO levels were associated with the presence and strength of perennial sensitization. Finally, we could demonstrate a significant relationship between NO originating from the upper and lower airways supporting the unified (allergic) airway concept.

Acknowledgments This study was part of the IPA project 109-AllergoVet funded by the DGUV (German Social Accident Insurance, St. Augustin, Germany). Practical realization of the study was supported by the Unfallkasse Hessen (especially I. Thullner) and the University for Veterinary Medicine, Giessen (especially Prof. Dr. St. Arnhold, Prof. Dr. S. Tacke). The authors express a gratitude to all students participating in the study. We thank Ursula Meurer for her excellent serological testing.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Ruhr University Bochum in Germany. The participants received financial compensation for taking part in the study. **Informed Consent** Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

# References

- Alexanderson C, Olin AC, Dahlman–Höglund A, Finizia C, Torén K (2012) Nasal nitric oxide in a random sample of adults and its relationship to sensitization, cat allergen, rhinitis, and ambient nitric oxide. Am J Rhinol Allergy 26:e99–e103
- Antosova M, Mokra D, Tonhajzerova I, Mikolka P, Kosutova P, Mestanik M, Pepucha L, Plevkova J, Buday T, Calkovsky V, Bencova A (2017) Nasal nitric oxide in healthy adults – reference values and affecting factors. Physiol Res 66(Suppl.2):247–255
- Arnal JF, Didier A, Rami J, M'Rini C, Charlet JP, Serrano E, Besombes JP (1997) Nasal nitric oxide is increased in allergic rhinitis. Clin Exp Allergy 27:358–336
- ATS/ERS (2005) American Thoracic Society; European Respiratory Society recommendations for standardized procedures for the online and offline measurement of exhaled lower respiratory nitric oxide and nasal nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:912–930
- Berlyne GS, Parameswaran K, Kamada D, Efthimiadis A, Hargreave FE (2000) A comparison of exhaled nitric oxide and induced sputum as markers of airway inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol 106:638–644
- Boot JD, de Kam ML, Mascelli MA, Miller B, van Wijk RG, de Groot H, Cohen AF, Diamant Z (2007) Nasal nitric oxide: longitudinal reproducibility and the effects of a nasal allergen challenge in patients with allergic rhinitis. Allergy 62:378–384
- Cardinale F, de Benedictis FM, Muggeo V, Giordano P, Loffredo MS, Iacoviello G, Armenio L (2005) Exhaled nitric oxide, total serum IgE and allergic sensitization in childhood asthma and allergic rhinitis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 16:236–242
- Colantonio D, Brouillette L, Parikh A, Scadding GK (2002) Paradoxical low nasal nitric oxide in nasal polyposis. Clin Exp Allergy 32:698–701
- de Winter–de Groot KM, van der Ent CK (2009) Measurement of nasal nitric oxide: evaluation of six different sampling methods. Eur J Clin Investig 39:72–77
- Dweik RA, Boggs PB, Erzurum SC, Irvin CG, Leigh MW, Lundberg JO, Olin AC, Plummer AL, Taylor DR, American Thoracic Society Committee on Interpretation of Exhaled Nitric Oxide Levels (FENO) for Clinical Applications (2011) An official ATS clinical practice guideline: interpretation of exhaled nitric oxide levels (FENO) for clinical applications. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 184:602–615
- Ekroos H, Rouhos A, Pallasaho P, Karjalainen J, Sarna S, Sovijärvi AR (2009) Equally elevated concentrations of exhaled nitric oxide in nonatopic and low–sensitized atopic asthmatics. Respir Med 103:152–158

- Gupta N, Goel N, Kumar R (2014) Correlation of exhaled nitric oxide, nasal nitric oxide and atopic status: a cross–sectional study in bronchial asthma and allergic rhinitis. Lung India 31(4):342–347
- Haftenberger M, Laußmann D, Ellert U, Kalcklösch M, Langen U, Schlaud M, Schmitz R, Thamm M (2013) Prävalenz von Sensibilisierungen gegen Inhalations– und Nahrungsmittelallergene. Ergebnisse der Studie zur Gesundheit Erwachsener in Deutschland (DEGS1). Bundesgesundheitsblatt 56:687–697
- Häussermann S, Kappeler D, Schmidt A, Siekmeier R (2013) Fractional exhaled nitric oxide in clinical trials: an overview. Adv Exp Med Biol 788:237–245
- Henriksen AH, Sue–Chu M, Holmen TL, Langhammer A, Bjermer L (1999) Exhaled and nasal NO levels in allergic rhinitis: relation to sensitization, pollen season and bronchial hyperresponsiveness. Eur Respir J 13:301–306
- Henriksen AH, Holmen TL, Bjermer L (2001) Sensitization and exposure to pet allergens in asthmatics versus non–asthmatics with allergic rhinitis. Respir Med 95:122–129
- Ho LP, Wood FT, Robson A, Innes JA, Greening AP (2000) Atopy influences exhaled nitric oxide levels in adult asthmatics. Chest 118:1327–1331
- Hoffmeyer F, Sucker K, Berresheim H, Monsé C, Jettkant B, Beine A, Raulf M, Brüning T, Bünger J (2019) Methodological implications and repeatability of nasal nitric oxide: relevance for challenge studies. Adv Exp Med Biol 1113:1–10
- Horváth I, Barnes PJ (1999) Exhaled monoxides in asymptomatic atopic subjects. Clin Exp Allergy 29:1276–1280
- Jang WN, Park IS, Choi CH, Bauer S, Harmin S, Seo SC, Choi IS, Choung JT, Yoo Y (2013) Relationships between exhaled nitric oxide and atopy profiles in children with asthma. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 5:155–161
- Jatakanon A, Lim S, Kharitonov SA, Chung KF, Barnes PJ (1998) Correlation between exhaled nitric oxide, sputum eosinophils, and methacholine responsiveness in patients with mild asthma. Thorax 53:91–95
- Kharitonov SA, Robbins RA, Yates D, Keatings V, Barnes PJ (1995) Acute and chronic effects of cigarette smoking on exhaled nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 152:609–612
- Kharitonov SA, Rajakulasingam K, O'Connor B, Durham SR, Barnes PJ (1997) Nasal nitric oxide is increased in patients with asthma and allergic rhinitis and may be modulated by nasal glucocorticoids. J Allergy Clin Immunol 99:58–64
- Krantz C, Janson C, Borres MP, Nordvall L, Alving K, Malinovschi A (2014) Nasal nitric oxide is associated with exhaled NO, bronchial responsiveness and poor asthma control. J Breath Res 8(2):026002
- Linhares D, Jacinto T, Pereira AM, Fonseca JA (2011) Effects of atopy and rhinitis on exhaled nitric oxide values – a systematic review. Clin Transl Allergy 1:8

- Lundberg JO, Farkas–Szallasi T, Weitzberg E, Rinder J, Lidholm J, Anggåard A, Hökfelt T, Lundberg JM, Alving K (1995) High nitric oxide production in human paranasal sinuses. Nat Med 1:370–373
- Marthin JK, Nielsen KG (2013) Hand–held tidal breathing nasal nitric oxide measurement—a promising targeted case–finding tool for the diagnosis of primary ciliary dyskinesia. PLoS One 8(2):e57262
- Moody A, Fergusson W, Wells A, Bartley J, Kolbe J (2000) Increased nitric oxide production in the respiratory tract in asymptomatic pacific islanders: an association with skin prick reactivity to house dust mite. J Allergy Clin Immunol 105:895–899
- Olin AC, Hellgren J, Karlsson G, Ljungkvist G, Nolkrantz K, Torén K (1998) Nasal nitric oxide and its relationship to nasal symptoms, smoking and nasal nitrate. Rhinology 36:117–121
- Olin AC, Alving K, Torén K (2004) Exhaled nitric oxide: relation to sensitization and respiratory symptoms. Clin Exp Allergy 34:221–226
- Olin AC, Rosengren A, Thelle DS, Lissner L, Bake B, Torén K (2006) Height, age, and atopy are associated with fraction of exhaled nitric oxide in a large adult general population sample. Chest 130:1319–1325
- Prieto L, Gutiérrez V, Uixera S, Bruno L (2002) Concentrations of exhaled nitric oxide in asthmatics and subjects with allergic rhinitis sensitized to the same pollen allergen. Clin Exp Allergy 32:1728–1733
- Rouhos A, Kainu A, Karjalainen J, Lindqvist A, Piirilä P, Sarna S, Haahtela T, Sovijärvi AR (2008) Atopic sensitization to common allergens without symptoms or signs of airway disorders does not increase exhaled nitric oxide. Clin Respir J 2:141–148

- Serrano CD, Valero A, Bartra J, Roca–Ferrer J, Muñoz– Cano R, Sánchez–López J, Mullol J, Picado C (2012) Nasal and bronchial inflammation after nasal allergen challenge: assessment using noninvasive methods. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 22:351–356
- Simpson A, Custovic A, Pipis S, Adisesh A, Faragher B, Woodcock A (1999) Exhaled nitric oxide, sensitization, and exposure to allergens in patients with asthma who are not taking inhaled steroids. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160:45–49
- Stark HJ, Randell JT, Hirvonen MR, Purokivi MK, Roponen MH, Tukiainen HO (2005) The effects of *Aspergillus fumigatus* challenge on exhaled and nasal NO levels. Eur Respir J 26:887–893
- Struben VM, Wieringa MH, Feenstra L, de Jongste JC (2006) Nasal nitric oxide and nasal allergy. Allergy 61:665–670
- Taylor DR, Mandhane P, Greene JM, Hancox RJ, Filsell S, McLachlan CR, Williamson AJ, Cowan JO, Smith AD, Sears MR (2007) Factors affecting exhaled nitric oxide measurements: the effect of sex. Respir Res 8:82
- Warm K, Hedman L, Lindberg A, Lötvall J, Lundbäck B, Rönmark E (2015) Allergic sensitization is age–dependently associated with rhinitis, but less so with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 136:1559–1565
- Williamson PA, Vaidyanathan S, Clearie K, Stewart M, Lipworth BJ (2010) Relationship between fractional exhaled nitric oxide and nasal nitric oxide in airways disease. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 105:162–167
- Wodehouse T, Kharitonov SA, Mackay IS, Barnes PJ, Wilson R, Cole PJ (2003) Nasal nitric oxide measurements for the screening of primary ciliary dyskinesia. Eur Respir J 21:43–47



# Discrimination Between Atopic, Allergic, and Asthmatic Volunteers for Human Exposure Studies on Sensory Irritation

V. van Kampen, F. Hoffmeyer, C. Monsé, M. Raulf, T. Brüning, J. Bünger, and K. Sucker

# Abstract

Atopic, allergic, and especially asthmatic subjects might be particularly susceptible to sensory irritation induced by airborne chemicals compared to healthy individuals. Therefore, a good characterization of subjects is essential in inhalation exposure studies on sensory irritants. A total of 105 volunteers, 87% of whom reported to be non-allergic, participated in a medical examination that included skin prick test (SPT), measurements of total IgE, specific IgE (sIgE) to an ubiquitous allergen mix (sx1), and fractionated exhaled nitric oxide (FeNO), as well as pulmonary function and methacholine test. The median value of sIgE to sx1 was 0.20 kU/L (0.07-91.3 kU/L) and correlated significantly with total IgE (28.8 kU/L (2-756 kU/L)) and FeNO (14 ppb (5-100 ppb)). Forty-three subjects (41%) had sIgE to sx1  $\ge$  0.35 kU/L and were classified as atopic. Thirty-five subjects, all also sx1-positive, were positive in SPT. Obstruction, small airway disease, and/or bronchial hyperreactivity were diagnosed in 18 subjects. Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) were performed to

check whether signs of sensitization are useful to discriminate subjects with and without airway diseases. However, sx1, total IgE, FeNO, and SPT reached only low areas under the curve (AUC: 0.57-0.66). Although predominantly young and, according to their own statements, mostly non-allergic subjects participated in the study, almost half of them were atopic, and 10% had airway disease or bronchial hyperreactivity. This indicates that the validity of self-reported data might be inaccurate. In summary, diversified investigations of the allergy-related health status appear necessary for a thorough characterization of subjects for exposure studies on sensory irritants.

# Keywords

Allergy · Asthma · Atopy · IgE · Exhale nitric oxide · Inhalation exposure · Sensory irritation · Volunteers

# 1 Introduction

In human risk assessment, animal data are the major source of evidence when evaluating the effects on the upper respiratory tract of sensory irritation. Nevertheless, due to major differences

V. van Kampen (🖾), F. Hoffmeyer, C. Monsé, M. Raulf, T. Brüning, J. Bünger, and K. Sucker

Institute for Prevention and Occupational Medicine of the German Social Accident Insurance, Institute of the Ruhr University (IPA), Bochum, Germany e-mail: kampen@ipa-dguv.de

in anatomy, physiology, and airflow dynamics between rodents and humans, controlled human inhalation exposure studies are considered the gold standard for assessing acute and reversible sensory irritant effects (Brüning et al. 2014). Human studies are often criticized for the inherent variability of subjective and objective sensory irritation effects. Therefore, the characterization of a study group and the recruitment of either healthy volunteers or carefully selected subjects with predispositions to measurable reversible physiologic or biomarker responses are of particular importance. During the recruitment process, participants who are at risk of adverse outcome are excluded (Rosenkranz et al. 2020).

Since allergic inflammation results from a specific pattern of cellular and humoral responses leading to the activation of the innate and adaptive immune system, allergic subjects and those who are predisposed to developing an allergy (atopics) are likely to respond differently or more sensitively than non-allergic ones to sensory irritants. In a study of nasal sensory function, 31 subjects with seasonal allergic rhinitis (SAR) have shown a significantly lower perceptual threshold to propanol than 29 subjects without SAR (p < 0.05) (Shusterman et al. 2003). In another study, inhalation of 15 ppm acetic acid for 15 min has resulted in a significantly higher nasal airflow obstruction in 8 subjects with SAR compared to 8 subjects without SAR (Shusterman et al. 2005). Furthermore, in a controlled human exposure study with formic acid (Kleinbeck et al. 2018) or with ammonia (Pacharra et al. 2017), subjects with SAR have a higher blink rate than controls. Likewise, atopic subjects have a higher blink rate compared to non-atopic ones in a controlled exposure study with ethyl acrylate performed by Sucker et al. (2019). A systematic review of experimental studies on health effects of short-term exposure to airborne chemicals has confirmed that asthmatics are more sensitive to sulfuric acid and sulfur dioxide, but not to ozone and nitrogen dioxide (Johansson et al. 2016). In addition, studies on inhalation exposure show that deposition of ultrafine carbon particles in distal airways and alveoli is greater in patients with asthma than in healthy subjects (Chalupa et al. 2004; Daigle et al. 2003), which may be caused by enhanced breathing in the former due to increased dead space ventilation. Therefore, a good characterization of subjects regarding atopy, allergy, or asthma is essential in inhalation exposure studies on sensory irritants, which requires time-consuming and expensive multistage recruiting procedures. The aim of the present study was to retrospectively verify whether all tests carried out were necessary for a successful characterization of a study group. In addition, the study addressed the issue of a match between the subjective (health questionnaire) and objective (measured) data collected on atopy, allergy, and asthma.

# 2 Methods

# 2.1 Study Design

A total of 105 volunteers, 87% of whom reported to be non-allergic, participated in the study. All of them were investigated at the Institute for Prevention and Occupational Medicine of the German Social Accident Insurance, Institute of the Ruhr University (IPA) in Bochum, Germany, during the recruitment process for controlled human exposure studies on the effects of sensory irritation. Healthy adults were invited to participate in the study using information sheets published via electronic job advertisements or on the homepage of the institute. The volunteers interested in participation filled a standardized online health questionnaire assessing demographic data, smoking habits, and chronic diseases, including asthma and allergies. Inclusion criteria were age 18-40 years and never smoked tobacco or quit smoking at least 1 year before the study. Subjects who reported to be pregnant, having asthma, another chronic illness, or on prescription drugs were excluded. Since it was planned to include atopic subjects in upcoming studies, a number of subjects also were involved who reported a previous positive allergy test. Some of them reported allergic symptoms such as rhinitis and conjunctivitis, but never asthma. Subjects who met the inclusion criteria in the health questionnaire were invited to a medical examination, consisting of an interview by a physician and clinical tests.

Smoking habit was assessed by the questionnaire and verified by urine cotinine content. Arterial blood pressure was measured and a resting 12-lead ECG was performed. Blood samples were taken and investigated for standard laboratory values. In the case of clinically relevant findings or a positive cotinine test, the examination was terminated, and the subject was excluded from further analysis.

# 2.2 Atopy

Atopy was assessed by skin prick testing (SPT) and measurement of specific IgE antibodies (sIgE). A panel of nine common inhalant allergens (cat dander, trees, grass, latex, Dermatophagoides farinae, Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus, Alternaria alternata, Aspergillus fumigatus, and Ambrosia elatior) and histamine 10 mg/mL (positive) and saline (negative control) solutions were used for SPT. Total IgE as well as sIgE to a mixture of common environmental allergens (Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus, cat and dog danders, Cladosporium herbarum, and pollen of timothy, rye, birch, and mugwort) (sx1 Phadiatop; ThermoFisher Phadia AB; Uppsala, Sweden) were measured with the ImmunoCAP 250 system. A positive atopic status was assumed in case of a wheal diameter greater than 3 mm in SPT to one of the allergens listed above or sIgE concentrations to sx1  $\geq$  0.35 kU/L.

# 2.3 Lung Function, Methacholine Test, and Exhaled Nitric Oxide

Pulmonary function was assessed with spirometry and body plethysmography (CareFusion, Würzburg, Germany) as described earlier (Miller et al. 2005; Wanger et al. 2005). Reference values were chosen according to the Global Lung Function Initiative (Quanjer et al. 2012). By convention, the lower limit of normal (LLN) for forced expiratory volume in 1 s (FEV<sub>1</sub>), forced vital capacity (FVC), FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC, mean expiratory

flow at 25% of the FVC (MEF25), and maximal mid-expiratory flow (MMEF) is designed to be the fifth percentile. Cases with  $FEV_1/FVC < LLN$ were classified as obstructive, those with normal FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC but MEF25 or MMEF < LLN as small airway disease. Methacholine test was performed as previously described with a reservoir method (Merget et al. 2005). Bronchial hyperresponsiveness was assumed when FEV<sub>1</sub> decreased  $\geq$ 20% from baseline or specific airway resistance (sRt) doubled and increased to  $\geq 2 \text{ kPa} \times \text{s}$  with a cumulative dose of  $\leq$  300 µg methacholine. Fractional exhaled nitric oxide (FeNO) measurement was performed using a Niox Mino device (Aerocrine, Solna, Sweden) according to the recommendations of the American Thoracic Society and the European Respiratory Society (ATS/ERS 2005).

# 2.4 Statistical Analysis

Results were reported as medians with ranges or counts and percentages and were compared using the Mann-Whitney U test for continuous variables and Fisher's exact test for dichotomous variables. Spearman's correlation coefficient (r) was used to assess the strength of relationship between pairs of variables. A p-value <0.05 defined statistically significant differences.

Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) plots are one possible graphical presentation for describing and comparing diagnostic tests. The area under the curve (AUC) is a global measure for the diagnostic performance of a test. The AUC ranges from 0 to 1. ROC plots were performed using the clinical diagnoses of obstruction, small airways diseases, and bronchial hyperreactivity based on spirometry and body plethysmography. AUCs were calculated to compare the ability of sIgE to sx1, total IgE, FeNO, and SPT to discriminate between subjects with and without airway disease/bronchial hyperreactivity. The analysis was performed using a commercial GraphPad Prism v7.04 statistical package (GraphPad Software; La Jolla, CA).
#### 3 Results

Among the 105 subjects who completed medical examination and clinical testing, there were 14 (13%) who reported a previous positive allergy test, with 10 of them having allergic symptoms such as rhinitis and/or conjunctivitis. No subject showed symptoms at the time of the examination. With the exception of methacholine test in four cases, there were no other missing values. Personal and clinical data of the whole study group are summarized in Table 1 (left column). The group consisted mainly of young subjects and slightly more women than men (median age: 24 (19-37) years; 56% female). Forty-three subjects (41%) had sIgE to sx1 > 0.35 kU/L, and 35 of them (81%) also showed at least 1 positive SPT. There was no positive SPT without elevated sIgE to sx1. About half of the atopics reacted in SPT to grass pollen (58%) and/or the house dust mite Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus (49%). Besides the atopy markers (sIgE and SPT results), the main differences in clinical data between the 43 atopic (Table 1, middle column) and 62 non-atopic subjects (right column) were higher total IgE (p < 0.0001), higher FeNO (p = 0.01), and lower FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC (p = 0.01) in atopics. However, there was no significant difference in the proportion of subjects with obstruction (p = 0.57), small airways disease (p = 0.99), and bronchial hyperreactivity (p = 0.12) between the two groups. When comparing atopics who reported allergic symptoms (n = 10) with atopics without symptoms (n = 33), there was no significant difference in any of the parameters listed in Table 1 (data not shown).

In addition to the finding that all SPT-positive subjects were also sIgE-positive to sx1, the number of positive SPT results correlated with the

		Atopics $(n = 43)$	Non-atopics $(n = 62)$
	All (n = 105)	$sx1 \ge 0.35$ kU/L	sx1 < 0.35 kU/L
Age, years, median (range)	24 (19-37)	24 (19–32)	24 (19–37)
Gender, n (%)	59 (56.1%) female	21 (48.8%) female	38 (61.3%) female
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup> , median (range),	22 (16–35)	23 (18–35)	22 (16–34)
Total IgE positive (≥100 kU/L), n (%)	22 (21.0%)	18 (41.9%)	4 (6.5%)
Total IgE positive, kU/L, median (range)	28.8 (<2-756)	83.4 (2.9–756)	15.7 (<2–138)
sIgE sx1 positive ( $\geq 0.35$ kU/L), n (%)	43 (41.0%)	43 (100.0%)	0 (0.0%)
sIgE sx1, kU/L, median (range)	0.20 (0.07–91.30)	5.04 (0.36–91.30)	0.10 (0.07–0.33)
At least one positive SPT, n (%)	35 (33.3%)	35 (81.4%)	0 (0.0%)
D. farinae, n (%)	14 (13.3%)	14 (32.6%)	0 (0.0%)
D. pteronyssinus, n (%)	21 (20.0%)	21 (48.8%)	0 (0.0%)
Cat hair, n (%)	12 (11.4%)	12 (27.9%)	0 (0.0%)
Alternaria alternata, n (%)	4 (3.8%)	4 (9.3%)	0 (0.0%)
Aspergillus fumigatus, n (%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)	0 (0.0%)
Tree pollen (mix 1), n (%)	16 (15.2%)	16 (37.2%)	0 (0.0%)
Gras pollen, n (%)	25 (23.8%)	25 (58.1%)	0 (0.0%)
Latex, n (%)	1 (1.0%)	1 (2.3%)	0 (0.0%)
Ambrosia, n (%)	2 (1.9%)	2 (4.7%)	0 (0.0%)
More than three SPTs positive, n (%)	11 (10.5%)	11 (25.6%)	0 (0.0%)
FeNO, ppb, median (range)	14 (5–100)	16 (5-100)	13 (5–67)
FEV <sub>1</sub> /%FVC, median (range)	82.4 (65.5–95.8)	80.5 (65.5–93.8)	84.1 (66.0–95.8)
Obstructive, n (%)	3 (2.9%)	2 (4.7%)	1 (1.6%)
Small airways disease, n (%)	8 (7.6%)	3 (7.0%)	5 (8.1%)
Bronchial hyperreactivity <sup>a</sup> , n (%)	11 (10.5%)	7 (16.3%)	4 (6.5%)

Table 1 Demographic and clinical data of the whole study group and the two subgroups (atopics and non-atopics)

<sup>a</sup>4 missings; *BMI* body mass index, sIgE specific IgE antibodies,  $FEV_I$  forced expiratory volume in one second, *FVC* forced volume vital capacity, *FeNO* fractional exhaled nitric oxide, *SPT* skin prick test

sx1-sIgE values (r = 0.81; p < 0.0001) (Fig. 1a). Although less pronounced, the correlation between the sx1-sIgE values and the levels of FeNO (r = 0.24; p = 0.014) was significant (Fig. 1b).

Thirteen (93%) out of the 14 subjects who had reported a previous positive allergy test were positive in both sIgE and SPT. Of the 91 subjects who reported being non-allergic, 30 (33%) were atopic, 22 (24%) with positive results in both sIgE and SPT (Fig. 2).

In 18 (17%) subjects, airway obstruction or small airway disease and/or bronchial hyperreactivity were diagnosed. Out of the 14 subjects, who reported a previous positive allergy test, 1 showed features of obstruction and bronchial



**Fig. 1** Correlation between sx1-sIgE and skin prick test (SPT) results (as a number of positive SPT reactions) (a) and between sx1-sIgE and fractionated exhaled nitric

oxide (FeNO) results (b). The dotted line indicates the cutoff for a positive sx1-sIgE result ( ${\geq}0.35$  kU/L)



**Fig. 2** The Venn diagram showing the concordance of positive sIgE results (against sx1) and SPT results (at least one positive SPT). In addition to the number of subjects indicated by numerics, the subjects who reported a previous positive allergy test (n = 14) are depicted as dots in the

grey oval (filled dots: subjects reporting allergic symptoms). The dot outside the bottom intersection (circular dotted outline) represents a subject who had reported a previous positive allergy test but who did react neither in sIgE test nor in SPT





**Fig. 3** Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) plots. The content of sIgE to sx1, total IgE, FeNO, and the number of positive SPT reactions were evaluated in 105 subjects under the angle of discriminating power for the diagnosis

hyperreactivity. To check whether signs of sensitization are useful to discriminate subjects with and without obstruction, small airway disease, and bronchial hyperreactivity, ROC curves were performed (Fig. 3). However, AUC reached rather low values for sIgE to sx1 (AUC = 0.57), total IgE (AUC = 0.66), FeNO (AUC = 0.60), and SPT (as a number of positive reactions; AUC = 0.59), which indicates that no variable standing alone would be useful to correctly discriminate the subjects.

#### 4 Discussion

Since individuals with atopy, allergy, and/or asthma are suspected to be particularly susceptible to sensory irritants, extensive examinations

of obstruction, small airway disease, and/or bronchial hyperreactivity. AUC area under the curve, sIgE specific IgE antibodies, FeNO fractional exhaled nitric oxide, SPT skin prick test

were carried out to thoroughly characterize the study group. For this, a time-consuming and expensive multistage recruiting procedure was used. Out of the 105 young subjects who participated in the medical examination, 41% were atopic. Although this percentage is in line with the most recent "German Health Interview and Examination Survey for Adults (DEGS)" in which 45% of 18 to 29-year-olds were atopic (positive sIgE to sx1) (Haftenberger et al. 2013), it must be taken into account that 87% of our study group stated in the health questionnaire that they were non-allergic. That the outcome of a questionnaire could be inaccurate is in agreement with a literature review showing that selfreports of different types of health-risk behaviors are affected by both cognitive and situational factors (Brener et al. 2003). In fact, studies investigating the congruence between measured and reported values for height and weight of subjects found an underreporting for weight and over-reporting for height (Neermark et al. 2019; Gorber et al. 2007). In a recent study on young and according to the initial health questionnaire for healthy volunteers, 20% showed signs of a heart, liver, or airway disease in medical examinations (Rosenkranz et al. 2020). In addition, the accuracy of self-reported information depends on the knowledge of health status. For example, in our study the subjects may have not known that they had an atopy/allergy or they may have not been willing to report it. Since 13 (93%) out of the 14 subjects, who reported a previous positive allergy test, and 30 (33%) out of the 91 subjects, who reported being non-allergic, were diagnosed as atopic, positive information in the questionnaire appears more reliable than negative information. Therefore, although the questionnaire method is relatively fast and cheap in comparison to physical examinations and clinical measurements, the validity of self-reported data, particularly on atopy and allergy, might be inaccurate.

Another question was whether all medical examinations of our study were relevant or whether the identification of subjects with atopy/ allergy identified all subjects with respiratory problems. In this context it is known that for some allergens there is a close correlation between the results of sIgE and SPT. Similar to our findings, a recent study has shown a concordance between sIgE and SPT for ten tested allergens of 74-88% (Knight et al. 2018). In view of these results, the SPT might be redundant in our recruitment scheme. However, since SPT results are immediately available and in contrast to sIgE to the mixture sx1 also provide information on sensitization to perennial or seasonal allergens, it seems appropriate to test both SPT and sIgE to sx1. Taking into account the FeNO, a study on 28 asthmatic subjects has found a positive correlation between FeNO level and the number as well as diameter of positive SPT results (Ho et al. 2000). Also in our study, significantly higher FeNO levels in atopic than in non-atopic subjects were found.

In some studies, signs for eosinophilic inflammation, such as a high level of sIgE or FeNO, have appeared useful predictors for allergic asthma. The ROC analysis of the data of 96 preschool children has shown that FeNO is a good discriminator (AUC = 0.91) between children with probable asthma and healthy controls (Malmberg et al. 2003). In a group of 107 symptomatic bakers, high content of rye flour-sIgE (AUC = 0.83) and clear SPT results (AUC = 0.81) have been good predictors for an asthmatic reaction during a challenge test (van Kampen et al. 2008). However, in the present study, neither sIgE to sx1 nor total IgE, FeNO, or SPT were identified as useful tools to discriminate subjects with and without obstruction, small airway disease, or bronchial hyperreactivity (AUCs: 0.57-0.66).

Although young and according to their own statements mostly non-allergic subjects participated in the medical examination, almost half of them showed signs of atopy, and 10% had airway disease/bronchial hyperreactivity. The accuracy of self-reported data on a lack of atopy and allergy was questionable. In contradistinction, positive statements on the presence of allergy seemed mostly reliable.

In conclusion, we have shown that multiple medical investigations, even though involving enhanced effort and cost, should be included into the recruitment scheme for a successful discrimination between atopic, allergic, and asthmatic study participants.

Acknowledgments We thank the volunteers for their participation and all the involved technical assistants from our institute for their excellent assistance. We gratefully acknowledge Anja Deckert for support in recruitment.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The recruitment procedure and the exposure studies were approved by the Ethic Committee of the Ruhr-University Bochum in Germany. **Informed Consent** All participants provided written informed consent and received financial compensation for participation.

## References

- ATS/ERS (2005) ATS/ERS recommendations for standardized procedures for the online and offline measurement of exhaled lower respiratory nitric oxide and nasal nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:912–930
- Brener ND, Billy JO, Grady WR (2003) Assessment of factors affecting the validity of self–reported health– risk behavior among adolescents: evidence from the scientific literature. J Adolesc Health 33(6):436–457
- Brüning T, Bartsch R, Bolt HM, Desel H, Drexler H, Gundert–Remy U, Hartwig A, Jäckh R, Leibold E, Pallapies D, Rettenmeier AW, Schlüter G, Stropp G, Sucker K, Triebig G, Westphal G, van Thriel C (2014) Sensory irritation as a basis for setting occupational exposure limits. Arch Toxicol 88(10):1855–1879
- Chalupa DC, Morrow PE, Oberdörster G, Utell MJ, Frampton MW (2004) Ultrafine particle deposition in subjects with asthma. Environ Health Perspect 112 (8):879–882
- Daigle CC, Chalupa DC, Gibb FR, Morrow PE, Oberdörster G, Utell MJ, Frampton MW (2003) Ultrafine particle deposition in humans during rest and exercise. Inhal Toxicol 15(6):539–552
- Gorber CS, Tremblay M, Moher D, Gorber B (2007) A comparison of direct vs. self–report measures for assessing height, weight and body mass index: a systematic review. Obes Rev 8(4):307–326
- Haftenberger M, Laußmann D, Ellert U, Kalcklösch M, Langen U, Schlaud M, Schmitz R, Thamm M (2013) Prävalenz von Sensibilisierungen gegen Inhalations– und Nahrungsmittelallergene. Ergebnisse der Studie zur Gesundheit Erwachsener in Deutschland (DEGS1). Bundesgesundheitsblatt 56:687–697. (Article in German)
- Ho LP, Wood FT, Robson A, Innes JA, Greening AP (2000) Atopy influences exhaled nitric oxide levels in adult asthmatics. Chest 118:1327–1331
- Johansson MK, Johanson G, Öberg M (2016) Evaluation of the experimental basis for assessment factors to protect individuals with asthma from health effects during short–term exposure to airborne chemicals. Crit Rev Toxicol 46(3):241–260
- Kleinbeck S, Pacharra M, Schäper M, Blaszkewicz M, Golka K, Brüning T, van Thriel C. (2018) Sensorische Irritationen durch Ameisensäure: Reagieren allergische Probanden stärker auf kontrollierte Expositionen? (Sensory irritations due to formic acid: Do allergic subjects react more strongly to controlled exposures?) In: Deutschen Gesellschaft für Arbeitsmedizin und Umweltmedizin e.V. (Hrsg.): Dokumentation der 58.

Jahrestagung der DGAUM, 7–9 März 2018 in München, p 50 (Article in German)

- Knight V, Wolf ML, Trikha A, Curran–Everett D, Hiserote M, Harbeck RJ (2018) A comparison of specific IgE and skin prick test results to common environmental allergens using the HYTEC<sup>TM</sup> 288. J Immunol Methods 462:9–12
- Malmberg LP, Pelkonen AS, Haahtela T, Turpeinen M (2003) Exhaled nitric oxide rather than lung function distinguishes preschool children with probable asthma. Thorax 58:494–499
- Merget R, Heinze E, Neumann L, Taeger D, Brüning T (2005) Comparison of the PARI Provotest II reservoir method with the ATS dosimeter method to assess bronchial hyperresponsiveness to methacholine. In: Proceedings of the 45th annual conference of the German Society for Occupational and Environmental Medicine (DGAUM) 624–625 (Article in German)
- Miller MR, Hankinson J, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Coates A, Crapo R, Enright P, van der Grinten CP, Gustafsson P, Jensen R, Johnson DC, MacIntyre N, McKay R, Navajas D, Pedersen OF, Pellegrino R, Viegi G, Wanger J (2005) Standardisation of spirometry. Eur Respir J 26:319–338
- Neermark S, Holst C, Bisgaard T, Bay–Nielsen M, Becker U, Tolstrup JS (2019) Validation and calibration of self–reported height and weight in the Danish health examination survey. Eur J Pub Health 29 (2):291–296
- Pacharra M, Kleinbeck S, Schäper M, Blaszkewicz M, Golka K, van Thriel C (2017) Does seasonal allergic rhinitis increase sensitivity to ammonia exposure? Int J Hyg Environ Health 220(5):840–848
- Quanjer PH, Stanojevic S, Cole TJ, Baur X, Hall GL, Culver BH, Enright PL, Hankinson JL, Ip MS, Zheng J, Stocks J, ERS Global Lung Function Initiative (2012) Multi–ethnic reference values for spirometry for the 3–95 yr age range: the global lung function 2012 equations. Eur Respir J 40(6):1324–1343
- Rosenkranz D, Bünger J, Hoffmeyer F, Monsé C, van Kampen V, Raulf M, Brüning T, Sucker K (2020) How healthy is healthy? Comparison between self– reported symptoms and clinical outcomes in connection with the enrollment of volunteers for human exposure studies on sensory irritation effects. Adv Exp Med Biol. https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2019\_472. (Epub ahead of print)
- Shusterman D, Murphy MA, Balmes J (2003) Differences in nasal irritant sensitivity by age, gender, and allergic rhinitis status. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 76 (8):577–583
- Shusterman D, Tarun A, Murphy MA, Morris J (2005) Seasonal allergic rhinitic and normal subjects respond differentially to nasal provocation with acetic acid vapor. Inhal Toxicol 17(3):147–152
- Sucker K, Hoffmeyer F, Monsé C, Jettkant B, Berresheim H, Rosenkranz N, Raulf M, Bünger J, Brüning T (2019) Ethyl acrylate: influence of sex or

atopy on perceptual ratings and eye blink frequency. Arch Toxicol 93(10):2913–2926

- van Kampen V, Rabstein S, Sander I, Merget R, Brüning T, Broding HC, Keller C, Müsken H, Overlack A, Schultze–Werninghaus G, Walusiak J, Raulf–Heimsoth M (2008) Prediction of challenge test results by flour–specific IgE and skin prick test in symptomatic bakers. Int Arch Occup Environ Health 63(7):897–902
- Wanger J, Clausen JL, Coates A, Pedersen OF, Brusasco V, Burgos F, Casaburi R, Crapo R, Enright P, van der Grinten CP, Gustafsson P, Hankinson J, Jensen R, Johnson D, Macintyre N, McKay R, Miller MR, Navajas D, Pellegrino R, Viegi G (2005) Standardisation of the measurement of lung volumes. Eur Respir J 26(3):511–522

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2020) 10: 37–51 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2020\_528 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 30 April 2020



Impaired Coordination and Recruitment of Muscle Agonists, But Not Abnormal Synergies or Co-contraction, Have a Significant Effect on Motor Impairments After Stroke

Sharon Israely, Gerry Leisman, and Eli Carmeli

#### Abstract

Movement synergies, muscle co-contraction, and decreased motor drive to muscle agonists were suggested to be major factors in motor impairments after stroke. The purpose of this study was to investigate the major muscle mechanisms contributing to motor impairment after stroke. Twelve healthy and 13 post-stroke patients participated in this observational study. Both groups participated in a single experimental session, performing hand pointing movements in multiple directions, during which EMG was assessed. Additionally, the patients underwent the Fugl-Meyer

G. Leisman (🖂)

assessment. A set of features from the electromyography (EMG) signal and co-contraction ratios were used to compare the capacity to modulate the muscle activity between the two groups of participants. A correlation analysis was applied between the Euclidian distances of each target and the Fugl-Meyer scoring assessment in the post-stroke patients. We found that impaired modulation of muscle activity in poststroke patients was characterized by significantly increased Euclidian distances between the EMG features of different target directions and by a higher variability between muscle activation compared to healthy subjects. Impaired capacity to modulate muscle activity significantly correlated with the impairment status. In conclusion, impaired motor performance post-stroke systematic disturbance in the control signal to limb muscles, which manifests as decreased capacity to modulate muscle activity, rather than co-contraction of muscle antagonists or stereotyped movement patterns.

#### Keywords

Electromyography · Motor drive · Motor performance · Muscle activity · Muscle contraction · Stroke

S. Israely

Department of Medical Neurobiology, Faculty of Medicine, Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Jerusalem, Israel

Department of Physical Therapy, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

National Institute for Brain and Rehabilitation Sciences-Israel, Nazareth, Israel

Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, Institute for Neurology and Neurosurgery, Universidad de Ciencias Médicas de la Habana, Havana, Cuba e-mail: g.leisman@edu.haifa.ac.il

E. Carmeli

Department of Physical Therapy, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

## 1 Introduction

Brunnstrom (1970) has described six stages of recovery of voluntary movements post-stroke, reflecting the patient's capacity to isolate a movement of a particular limb segment. According to the magnitude and location of the lesion, the restoration of arm motor function begins with flaccid paralysis, followed by return of reflexes, voluntary movement within а synergy, movements out of synergy, and finally restoration of normal movement patterns. The movement synergy is here understood as the stereotypical movement patterns emerging during voluntary movement execution, reflecting the incapacity to dissociate limb segment movements from one another (Levin et al. 2009; Krakauer 2005).

The Fugl-Meyer scale enables the classification of post-stroke patients' impairment based on the recovery stages (Fugl Meyer et al. 1975). The scale is widely used in clinical settings (Nelson et al. 2018; Harris-Love et al. 2015; Mirela Cristina et al. 2015; Ohn et al. 2013). It has been validated to represent the motor impairment status poststroke, mainly through construct validity studies that correlate the score with those of other clinical scales (Wei et al. 2011) or with activities of daily living status (Gladstone et al. 2002). Movement synergies of different severity are commonly seen in post-stroke patients and are suggested to reflect the degree of motor impairment. However, most studies focus on the chronic stage of post-stroke recovery, when the majority of recovery had already took place (Wagner et al. 2007). In the first post-stroke month, when motor recovery is substantial, movement synergies may not be pronounced as spasticity is not yet developed. Moreover, muscle activation pattern does not necessarily reflect the capacity to move out of synergies. Beer et al. (2000) have reported that impaired modulation of muscle activity poststroke should neither be attributed to movement synergies nor to co-contraction ratios, but rather to systematic disturbance in the control signal to limb muscles. Wagner et al. (2007), on the other hand, have suggested the changes in muscle activity in the subacute post-stroke phase reflect

improvements in hand reaching. Hand reaching movements require simultaneous activation of multiple muscles upon two joints, as opposed to stereotypical movement patterns, which makes the execution of such movements difficult for poststroke patients. When reaching to different locations, healthy subjects change the activation amplitude of muscles in the time domain. For instance, reaching across the body may require a greater involvement of the pectoralis and anterior deltoid muscles than when reaching to the body side typically executed by the middle deltoid muscle and scapular stabilizers (Israely et al. 2017a, b). Likewise, reaching to the body top involves a greater involvement of the deltoid muscles than when reaching to a lower body target.

In the present study, we set out to investigate the muscle mechanisms contributing to the motor post-stroke impairment whose degree was evaluated on the Fugl-Meyer scale. In detail, investigated the notion that clinical we manifestations of motor impairment could have to do with muscle activation pattern during a hand reaching task. We reasoned that different movement strategies and impaired coordination in post-stroke patients might be captured by the time domain properties of the electromyography (EMG) signal. Therefore, the ability to change the activation properties of muscles during different motor tasks could be inferred from the EMG signal modulation. Figure 1 illustrates the proposed concept of muscle activity modulation during movements targeted to different locations, in both post-stroke and healthy subjects.

#### 2 Methods

## 2.1 Participants

The study was conducted at the Bait-Balev Rehabilitation Center in Nesher, Israel. There were two groups of participants: 13 post-stroke patients and 12 control healthy subjects. Both groups participated in a single experimental session with the EMG assessment. In addition, the patients underwent the Fugl-Meyer assessment to enable the evaluation of a correlation between



Fig. 1 Changes in muscle activation in the time domain for different movement directions, referred herein as modulation of muscle activity. Participants executed hand pointing movements to nine targets located in front of them while monitored by EMG. (a) EMG tracings of five muscles in a healthy subject while executing the movements to nine targets; (b) same traces in a post-stroke individual. Note that muscle activation in the healthy subject is more phasic, especially in the upper six movement targets, the overall exertion is smaller, and the time to clinical score and EMG data. Cerebral stroke and hemiparesis of the upper extremity. Exclusion criteria, other central nervous system disease, and significant visual or hearing deficits. Participants' characteristics are summarized in Table 1. Post-stroke patients had mild (Fugl-Meyer score > 38; n = 4)-to-moderate (Fugl-Meyer score > 50; n = 9) motor impairment. Control subjects were contacted over the phone. The groups were about matched by the number of participants and sex, but differed by age (p = 0.027).

## 2.2 Study Protocol

Post-stroke patients were tested using the affected arm, whereas healthy subjects were tested using their self-reported dominant arm. Maximum voluntary contractions (MVC) were measured by standard muscle testing (Hislop and Montgomery 2002). The subject sat in front of a table with his forearm resting on it comfortably. The hand reaching spatial device was located as indicated in Fig. 2a. Subjects were requested to point to each target five times with a voice cue activated by EMG software every 10 s, for 45 pointing movements. The target pointing order was constant for all participants. Figure 2b illustrates the target order for a subject with a right-hand dominance. The order for the left-hand dominant subjects was horizontally mirrored but the same in the vertical dimension.

The hand reaching spatial device was composed of two vertical rods to which there were attached three semicircular shelves. Each shelf contained three movable pointing pins adjustable left- and rightward. The three shelves were located 10, 35, and 60 cm above the table. The device was positioned at the maximum hand reaching distance in front of the tested shoulder, with the middle pin (target 5) aligned with the shoulder in the sagittal plane. The side pins were positioned at a  $45^{\circ}$  angle to the shoulder joint at either side.

#### 2.3 Electromyography

Surface EMG was recorded from eight muscles of the shoulder girdle and arm: trapezius; deltoid anterior, medial, and posterior fibers; pectoralis major; infraspinatus; biceps; and triceps (Trigno 8 setup, Delsys; Boston, MA). Electrodes were placed in accordance with the guidelines of the Surface Electromyography for the Non-Invasive Assessment of Muscles (SENIAM)–European Community Project (Hermens et al. 1999). MVC were performed prior to data collection. A 1-min rest period followed each MVC assessment to limit the possibility of fatigue. EMG signals were band-pass filtered at 20–450 Hz and were sampled at 2000 Hz.

EMG recordings were organized as an 8 by T matrix  $X^{8XT}$  for each target, where 8 was the number of muscles and T was the number of time samples. Net noise was filtered out at 50 Hz, followed by a mean subtraction. This was followed by root mean square calculations using overlapping windows of 50 samples. The mean baseline EMGs for each trial were subtracted from the averaged data. EMG data were normalized in accordance with the 70% MVC for each muscle.

Each muscle from each EMG dataset and from each of the 9 movement directions was expressed by 12 constant features. Extracted features were chosen according to the authors' considerations to construct a good low dimensional representation of the original EMG data matrix. Figure 3 details

Fig. 1 (continued) task completion is shorter when compared with those in the post-stroke individual. The poststroke activation pattern is more tonic, especially for the six lower targets of movement. The pectoralis muscle (yellow trace) is highly activated on all of the nine

movement directions. In contrast, in the healthy subject, the pectoralis muscle is strongly activated in phasic pattern for the upper three targets of movement and for the mid-left target, which corresponded to the across-body movement, and is barely active in the three lower targets

Post-stroke patients	Age	Sex	Dominant hand	Side affected	Stroke type	Location	Time since stroke (days)	FM (score)	Shoulder pain (score)
1	78	F	R	L	Ischemic	R-MCA	22	53	44
2	67	F	R	R	Ischemic	L-MCA	32	51	40
3	78	М	R	L	Ischemic	R-IC	20	54	60
4	81	F	R	L	Ischemic	R-IC and Th	13	58	35
5	68	F	R	R	Ischemic	L-Tl	13	53	7
6	76	M	R	L	Ischemic	R-IC and BG	25	51	27
7	68	F	R	R	Ischemic	L-IC	9	54	0
8	89	М	R	R	Ischemic	L-pons	25	42	0
9	79	М	R	L	Hemorrhagic	R-Th	14	38	2
10	71	M	R	R	Ischemic	L-MCA	20	60	0
11	63	M	R	L	Ischemic	R-MCA	15	46	0
12	82	F	R	L	Ischemic	R-BG	26	41	0
13	81	Μ	R	L	Ischemic	R-MCA	20	59	0
Control subj	ects								
1	78	Μ	R	R					
2	71	F	R	R					
3	74	Μ	R	R					
4	54	Μ	R	R					
5	58	Μ	L	L					
6	65	Μ	R	R					
7	67	F	R	R					
8	70	F	L	L					
9	78	F	R	R					
10	79	M	L	L					
11	70	F	R	R					
12	67	M	R	R					

 Table 1
 Participants' demographics and baseline measures

*R* right *L* left, *MCA* middle cerebral artery, *IC* internal capsule, *Th* thalamus, *Tl* temporal lobe, *BG* basal ganglia, *FM* Fugl-Meyer score. The Fugl-Meyer scale evaluates the degree of motor impairment with 0 (maximum) and 66 (minimum impairment). Shoulder pain was assessed on a visual analogue scale (VAS) with 100 (maximum) and 0 (no pain)



**Fig. 2** The hand reaching spatial device. (a) Subjects were asked to reach with their dominant hand (control group) or the impaired hand (patient group) to nine different targets that were located in each participant's

maximum hand reaching range of motion. (b) Representation of the order and direction of the targets for a subject with a dominant right hand



**Fig. 3** A set of 12 features was extracted from the EMG signal of each muscle to compare inter-group differences in its modulation in response to different movement directions. The features comprised the time and amplitude of the first peak, the time and amplitude of the second peak, and the total area under the curve. In cases of more than two peaks or less than two peaks the relevant features were replaced as detailed in the method section.

the chosen features selected by the algorithm. The analysis was performed using Matlab (MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA).

#### 2.4 Data

For each movement direction  $i \in [1, 9]$ , the EMG data  $X^{8 \times T}$  was expressed as  $X^{8 \times 12}$ . For the first inter-group comparison, each  $X^{8 \times 12}$  matrix was converted to  $X^{1 \times 96}$ ,  $f \in [1, 96]$  vector. Accordingly, each participant was expressed by  $X^{9 \times 96}$  matrix  $(X^{i \times f})$  for all nine movement directions. This was followed by calculating the Euclidian distance between all combinations of rows within the  $X^{9 \times 96}$  matrix.

The first method applied for the comparison of differences in muscle function between the poststroke patients and healthy subjects used the Euclidian distances between EMG features, the central fifth point of the reaching space, shown in Fig. 2b, all the other target directions (Table 2). A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was applied using the eight dependent variables

Additional seven features comprised the amplitude of seven data points equally distributed on the time domain plot. In the figure, only five muscles are shown and only one is marked by the set of features. In the study, features were extracted from eight muscles and for each movement direction. Accordingly, each subject was represented by a feature matrix for further analysis

in each subject for inter-group comparison. The Euclidian distance of a muscle feature for reaching each target was correlated with the Fugl-Meyer score. A second method for comparison between the two groups used the same features, however separately for each muscle (Table 3). Accordingly, each muscle tested of each subject was expressed as an eightdimensional vector. The MANOVA was applied for each muscle separately. The third method of analysis compared the total exertion of individual muscles for each movement direction. An eightdimensional vector represented each subject for each movement direction (Table 4). The MANOVA was again applied for comparison between the two groups.

In addition, five pairs of muscles were evaluated for co-contraction and compared between the two groups, according to previously proposed method of analysis (Israely and Carmeli, 2016; Kellis et al. 2003). Briefly, the minimum function and the maximum function of common muscle activities were calculated for each muscle pair. For each function, the total area

Condition	Target 1	Target 2	Target 3	Target 4	Target 6	Target 7	Target 8	Target 9
Healthy	4.876	4.045	4.919	4.185	5.256	4.700	4.191	5.997
	(0.954)	(1.314)	(1.772)	(1.253)	(1.848)	(1.213)	(1.340)	(1.900)
Stroke	8.867	7.330	9.103	7.997	6.553	7.368	6.738	7.418
	(5.185)	(4.162)	(3.836)	(5.142)	(2.474)	(2.541)	(2.387)	(2.713)
p value	0.017	0.017	0.020	0.022	0.150	0.003	0.004	0.142

**Table 2** Comparison of the mean Euclidian distances between EMG features for the central point of the reaching space

 and for all other target directions between post-stroke patients and control healthy subjects

Data are means (SD); non-significant values are highlighted in gray. Note: values in the first two rows represent the Euclidian distances between two vectors as detailed in the methods section and accordingly have no units

**Table 3** Differences in muscle activity, assessed by the mean Euclidian distances between EMG features of the central point of the reaching space and all other target directions, between groups

Muscle	p value	Target 1	Target 2	Target 3	Target 4	Target 6	Target 7	Target 8	Target 9
Upper trapezius	0.027	0.003	0.008	0.002	0.032	0.000	0.029	0.049	0.034
Anterior deltoid	0.119	0.105	0.033	0.006	0.066	0.938	0.246	0.361	0.154
Medial deltoid	0.004	0.010	0.003	0.001	0.013	0.001	0.005	0.011	0.013
Posterior deltoid	0.480	0.522	0.353	0.069	0.132	0.098	0.121	0.197	0.271
Pectoralis major	0.360	0.278	0.038	0.064	0.221	0.615	0.239	0.077	0.955
Infraspinatus	0.000	0.028	0.037	0.001	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.006	0.000
Biceps	0.189	0.438	0.218	0.239	0.100	0.191	0.063	0.012	0.005
Triceps	0.212	0.061	0.083	0.053	0.046	0.353	0.023	0.007	0.054

Multivariate analysis of variance MANOVA. The numbering of targets represents the movement directions depicted in Fig. 2

under curve was calculated. Then, the area of minimum function was divided by that of maximum function. The presence of a correlation between co-contraction indices and the Fugl-Meyer score was investigated.

The Fugl- Meyer scale, which assesses upper extremity motor function, was the main outcome measure. It consists of 33 items scored on a 3-point scale, where 0 represents the inability to complete the test, 1 represents a partial ability, and 2 represents full completion. The items assess reflexes, capacity to move in and out of synergy, and the ability to limit a movement to the shoulder, elbow, or wrist and to grasp various objects (Fugl Meyer et al. 1975). In addition, shoulder pain was assessed on a visual analogue scale (VAS) with 100 (maximum) and 0 (no pain).

There were some missing data in the statistical analysis. Three out of the 13 post-stroke patients managed to reach for the 6 lower targets, but not for the upper 3. The mean amputation technique was applied for the three missing targets in these three participants (Schafer and Graham 2002).

When the assumption of homogeneity of variance was violated, ANOVA Welch test was applied instead of the standard MANOVA. Spearman's rank correlation was applied between the Fugl-Meyer score and the mean Euclidian distance of each target direction. A p value <0.05 defined statistically significant differences. The analysis was performed using a commercial SPSS v23 package (IBM Corp, Armonk, NY).

## 3 Results

## 3.1 Changes in Muscle Activity Between the Middle of the Hand Reaching Space to Other Movement Directions

Table 2 summarizes the mean Euclidian distances from the middle fifth target to each other target direction in the two groups. Distances between the fifth target and other six targets were significantly different between the two groups

Muscle		Target 1	Target 2	Target 3	Target 4	Target 5	Target 6	Target 7	Target 8	Target 9
Upper	Healthy	2,360	1,844	1,918	2,814	2,616	2,543	3,503	3,589	3,652
trapezius		(1221)	(1522)	(1791)	(1445)	(1597)	(1763)	(1758)	(1612)	(1699)
	Stroke	7,307	8,643	8,160	11,370	10,422	10,126	9,420	9,399	9,677
		(4285)	(5523)	(5961)	(7431)	(6768)	(6785)	(4271)	(4203)	(5155)
	p value	0.001	0.001	0.003	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.005
Anterior	Healthy	1,569	2,138	2,751	2,036	2,575	3,650	2,371	3,101	4,380
deltoid		(734)	(1024)	(1067)	(663)	(1027)	(859)	(941)	(1040)	(977)
	Stroke	4,955	6,242	6,424	6,871	6,955	7,204	6,198	6,999	7,678
		(2137)	(3026)	(2890)	(3298)	(3059)	(3325)	(2563)	(3015)	(3641)
	p value	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.001	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.002	0.001	0.003	0.019
Medial	Healthy	1,504	1,254	1,019	2,049	1,800	1,516	2,744	2,621	2,186
deltoid		(334)	(425)	(497)	(658)	(599)	(568)	(906)	(748)	(645)
	Stroke	5,621	6,115	4,713	8,501	6,834	5,894	7,953	7,707	7,197
		(2781)	(4849)	(3626)	(6020)	(4492)	(4195)	(4594)	(5281)	(6281)
	p value	< 0.001	0.004	0.003	0.002	0.002	0.003	0.006	0.014	0.033
Posterior	Healthy	535	345	462	765	436	355	847	534	404
deltoid		(293)	(226)	(713)	(638)	(457)	(322)	(364)	(276)	(230)
	Stroke	2,438	3,109	2,341	4,465	3,207	2,703	4,125	3,930	3,887
		(3089)	(5187)	(3104)	(6574)	(4815)	(3911)	(6050)	(6056)	(7183)
	p value	0.047	0.079	0.053	0.066	0.061	0.052	0.121	0.110	0.160
Pectoralis	Healthy	1,091	1,525	3,441	1,271	1859	4,037	1,073	1,632	3,675
major		(1132)	(1024)	(2974)	(1134)	(1729)	(3223)	(940)	(1086)	(2873)
	Stroke	3,742	5,676	8,087	4,441	4,897	6,825	3,138	4,238	5,570
		(4010)	(6234)	(6064)	(5586)	(4233)	(4795)	(3181)	(3604)	(3097)
	p value	0.038	0.035	0.024	0.063	0.030	0.100	0.075	0.051	0.156
Infraspinatus	Healthy	1,306	1,313	1,258	1,493	1,378	1,166	1,569	1,640	1,430
		(198)	(290)	(430)	(459)	(406)	(308)	(498)	(366)	(401)
	Stroke	4,972	5,996	6,307	7,196	6,716	6,755	6,090	6,312	6,474
		(2841)	(4375)	(4667)	(5174)	(4542)	(4944)	(3815)	(4207)	(5010)
	p value	0.001	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.002	0.005	0.007	0.011
Biceps	Healthy	440	483	462	500	478	454	495	488	441
		(198)	(265)	(231)	(232)	(266)	(236)	(208)	(262)	(205)
	Stroke	2,248	2,765	2,717	3,191	3,004	2,929	1,786	1,849	1,818
		(1670)	(2330)	(2062)	(3168)	(3134)	(2602)	(902)	(940)	(843)
	p value	0.002	0.004	0.002	0.010	0.013	0.005	0.001	0.001	<0.001
Triceps	Healthy	1,451	1,357	925	1,670	1,227	900	1,826	1,582	1,085
		(886)	(958)	(718)	(1228)	(853)	(838)	(1400)	(1187)	(997)
	Stroke	3,569	4,112	3,012	5,666	4,494	3,975	5,290	5,055	4,870
		(2764)	(4660)	(3277)	(5956)	(4465)	(3909)	(5357)	(5149)	(5480)
	p value	0.020	0.057	0.043	0.063	0.023	0.016	0.075	0.064	0.058

**Table 4** Comparison of the mean muscle exertion index, measured as the normalized EMG amplitude for each muscle and for each target direction, between groups. Accordingly, the data are unitless

Data are means (SD); Welch's ANOVA was applied for comparisons. The numbering of targets represents the movement directions depicted in Fig. 2

(p < 0.05) in that they increased post-stroke, reducing the possibility for movement synergies. Targets 6 and 9 were placed in such a way that the patients had to execute the hand pointing movements across the body and to the upper portion of the reaching space. These movements required a greater muscle exertion of deltoid and pectoralis muscles also in healthy subjects, assumingly leading to non-significant inter-group differences. Movements to other locations in space required a smaller effort in healthy subjects but were still demanding for post-stroke patients, which led to significant inter-group differences.

Table 3 illustrates the modulation of each muscle activity in the time domain between different targets for both groups. Using single muscle activity for inter-group comparisons produced less consistent differences that were present only in the upper trapezius, medial deltoid, and infraspinatus but not in the other muscles. That might indicate that differences in muscle activity between the two groups depended on interactions between muscles and not only on the activity of single muscles. With reference to the previous assumption regarding the non-significant intergroup differences for targets 6 and 9, Table 3 non-significant does illustrate inter-group differences for the anterior and posterior deltoids and pectoralis muscles but significant differences for the medial deltoid. The first three muscles are highly active in movements across the body and in the top of the reaching space, i.e., for targets 6 and 9. The non-significant inter-group differences concerning these muscleswith our assumption. However, the significant difference between the medial deltoids was with the assumption.

# 3.2 Muscle Exertion for Different Movement Directions in the Healthy and Post-stroke Groups

The posterior deltoid, pectoralis major, and triceps demonstrated non-significant inter-group differences in some of the movement directions (Table 4). Non-significant differences in pectoralis for higher target directions were consistent with our assumption of non-significant inter-group differences in the first analysis method for targets 6 and 9. The posterior deltoid was less activated during hand reaching in both groups as indicated by lower exertion values compared to the other muscles, suggesting that this muscle did not play a key role in task completion. A non-significant difference in the triceps muscle was rather surprising, given its crucial role in extending the elbow, a movement reportedly shown to be significantly impaired post-stroke (Tomita et al. 2018; Beebe and Lang 2009). Dysfunction of elbow extension poststroke may be aggravated due to impaired recruitment of muscle agonist (triceps) or hyperactivity of muscle antagonist (biceps). Both factors are related to the extent of the integrity of the corticospinal tracts, i.e., stroke severity (Lindenberg et al. 2010) and the time lapse from stroke (Harris-Love et al. 2015). In the present study, patients were in the subacute phase poststroke with mild-to-moderate motor impairment, and they apparently sustained less biceps co-contraction, resisting the elbow extension by the triceps.

## 3.3 Correlation Between Muscle Activity and Fugl-Meyer Score

Correlation was investigated between the Fugl-Meyer score and Euclidian distances between targets. The mean of each individual modulation matrix, i.e., the Euclidian distance from each of the nine targets to all other eight targets, was calculated, so that each individual was represented by modulation vector. Table 5 illustrates the results in which significant negative correlations indicate that an increased Euclidian distance between target features corresponded to low Fugl-Meyer scores.

## 3.4 Muscle Co-contractions in the Healthy and Post-stroke Individuals

Muscle co-contraction ratios between pairs of muscles were calculated and compared between the groups of healthy and post-stroke individuals. Table 6 illustrates the p values of MANOVA evaluation, using the co-contraction ratios between five muscle pairs in both groups. The results were not significant in the three movement directions 4, 5, and 7. These three targets were

	Target 1	Target 2	Target 3	Target 4	Target 5	Target 6	Target 7	Target 8	Target 9
Spearman's	-0.549	-0.527	-0.519	-0.554	-0.577	-0.596	-0.557	-0.546	-0.607
coefficient									
p value	0.052	0.064	0.069	0.049	0.039	0.032	0.048	0.053	0.028

**Table 5** Correlation between the mean Euclidian distance and the Fugl-Meyer score (n = 13)

Table 6 Comparison of co-contraction ratios for five muscle pairs between healthy subjects and post-stroke patients

	Pairwise comparisons; p values							
	Trapezius-anterior deltoid	Anterior deltoid- posterior deltoid	Pectoralis major- posterior deltoid	Anterior deltoid- biceps	Biceps- triceps			
Target 1	0.007	0.879	0.781	0.058	0.138			
Target 2	0.001	0.057	0.105	0.028	0.304			
Target 3	0.021	0.192	0.751	0.025	0.076			
Target 4	0.256	0.476	0.251	0.023	0.056			
Target 5	0.074	0.757	0.741	0.052	0.028			
Target 6	0.007	0.012	0.010	0.001	0.239			
Target 7	0.019	0.685	0.043	0.075	0.063			
Target 8	0.002	0.008	0.306	0.014	0.092			
Target 9	0.001	0.004	0.006	0.002	0.330			

located at the body side and required a shoulder horizontal abduction, in contrast to targets 6 and 9 that required reaching across the body with a horizontal adduction. Reaching across the body to targets 3, 6, and 9 showed significant differences in inter-group co-contraction ratios, due assumingly to greater exertions required to complete the task. There were non-significant intergroup differences in the co-contraction ratio in three pairs of muscles. This might reasonably justify the notion that the emergence of stereotyped movement patterns evolves later through recovery and does so in patients with a greater degree of motor impairment. The right-hand column in Table 5, for instance, illustrates that the ratio between the recruitment of the biceps and triceps muscles was preserved in the subacute phase. Accordingly, impaired elbow extension was probably not due to overactivity of the biceps antagonizing the triceps, but rather due to impaired recruitment of the triceps (Molina Rueda et al. 2012; Wagner et al. 2007). These findings suggest that the co-contraction ratios did not play a major role in motor impairments in the subacute phase of the post-stroke patients.

Figure 4 illustrates the means of co-contraction ratios for each pair of muscles separately. It emphasizes that apart from the co-contraction between the trapezius and the anterior deltoid, the other four pairs of muscles were recruited in a similar manner in both groups, despite a greater exertion of muscles in the post-stroke patients (Table 4). Significant inter-group differences between the trapezius and the anterior deltoid could assumingly result from overactivity of the trapezius to compensate for a weaker deltoid (Israely et al. 2017b; Levin et al. 2009; Wagner et al. 2007). Correlations between the Fugl-Meyer score and co-contraction for all of the muscle pairs were non-significant, which is compatible with the non-significant differences co-contraction ratios between the two groups, reinforcing the assumption that mild-to-moderate motor impairments in the subacute phase of

Upper Trapezius- Anterior Deltoid	Upper Deltoid- Posterior Deltoid	Pectoralis Major- Posterior Deltoid	Anterior Deltoid- Biceps	Biceps Triceps
3 0.75 0.72 0.68	3 0.3 0.38 0.45	3 0.3 0.44 0.51	3 <mark>0.26</mark> 0.28 0.28	3 0.41 0.39 0.35
2 0.67 0.68 0.64	2 0.28 0.31 0.39	2 0.3 0.43 0.49	2 0.36 0.35 0.37	2 0.43 0.42 0.39
1 0.6 0.68 0.66	1 0.27 0.32 0.41	1 0.26 0.43 0.45	1 0.38 0.38 0.43	1 0.47 0.4 0.41
3 2 1	3 2 1	3 2 1	3 2 1	3 2 1
3 0.57 0.58 0.52	3 0.1 0.18 0.4	3 0.16 0.35 0.31	3 0.1 0.16 0.21	3 0.32 0.26 0.23
2 0.46 0.57 0.57	2 0.1 0.34 0.34	2 0.11 0.41 0.41	2 0.12 0.23 0.23	2 0.35 0.24 0.24
1 0.43 0.43 0.47	1 0.18 0.18 0.39	1 0.29 0.29 0.43	1 0.22 0.22 0.28	1 0.32 0.32 0.29
3 2 1	3 2 1	3 2 1	3 2 1	3 2 1

**Fig. 4** Mean co-contraction ratios of post-stroke patients (upper row) and healthy subjects (bottom row) of five muscle pairs for nine movement directions. Each column refers to a different pair of muscles. Co-contraction between a pair of muscles was defined as the ratio between the minimum function of the two muscles and the maximum function of the two muscles and was accordingly graded on 0 to 1 scale. Dark colors indicate higher co-contraction ratios, which means that timing and amplitude of recruitment of the two relevant muscles were more

stroke patients are not due to increased co-contraction ratios.

#### 4 Discussion

We investigated muscle mechanisms underlying motor impairments, in post-stroke patients, who were mostly categorized as suffering from mild motor impairments, in the subacute post-stroke phase. In this cohort, we evaluated their capacity for executing demanding task, which apparently could not be executed in patients with higher degrees of motor impairment. Three patients could execute hand reaching to only six targets instead of nine targets. During data collection, it was noticed that post-stroke patients struggled to execute this task. To minimize the use of compensation strategies, a trunk belt was used to eliminate trunk displacement, forcing the patients to complete the task without recruiting additional abnormal degrees of freedom. The aim was to study muscle mechanisms that contribute to motor impairments under these circumstances,

similar. Lower values, marked by brighter colors, indicate different recruitment properties of the two muscles. The digits 1, 2, and 3 around the boxes indicate the order of targets executed during hand reaching by the right-handed participants. They applied hand reaching to the first row of targets, followed by the second row and then the third row. In each row, the first applied hand reaching was to column number 1, followed by column number 2 and then column 3. For example, the fifth target is the target in the second row in the second column

knowing that the well-defined cohort may limit the generalization of results. Movement synergies were measured by the extent to which patients modulated their muscle activity in the time domain, for different directions. Since movement synergy is characterized by stereotypical movement pattern, we hypothesized that it would be reflected by decreased Euclidian distances between different directions in the post-stroke condition. The second mechanism investigated was co-contraction between five pairs of antagonistic muscles.

Post-stroke patients modulate muscle activity in a different manner than healthy subjects do. Contrary to our assumption, Euclidian distances between targets were significantly increased in post-stroke patients, when compared to healthy subjects. Increased Euclidian distances between targets showed large changes in the pattern of muscle activity between targets, suggesting that motor impairments were probably not due to stereotyped movement patterns. These findings are compatible with previous reports showing that pathologic movement synergies 48

mostly appear in later stages of recovery (McPherson and Dewald 2019; Pandian and Arya 2012) and in patients with more pronounced motor impairments (Cirstea and Levin 2000). Capacity to move out of synergies and to execute isolated joint movements in the subacute phase of recovery may indicate a better prognosis for recovery of physiologic movement patterns (Krakauer and Marshall 2015; Winters et al. 2015).

In this study we revealed significant negative interactions between the Fugl-Meyer scores and muscle activity. The larger the Euclidian distance between targets, the lower the score. The validity of these interactions in mildly impaired patients should be cautiously considered due to the ceiling effect of proximity to the maximum Fugl-Meyer score. Significant differences in muscle activity modulation between the stroke patients and healthy subjects indicate that motor impairments are manifested by interactions between activities of different muscles rather than by activation properties of single muscles. Although muscle exertion was significantly higher in post-stroke patients (Table 4), co-contraction ratio was not a major factor in motor impairments.

Concerning the movement components above outlined, the Fugl-Meyer score enables the quantification of motor impairment in a clinical setting. Since the Fugl-Meyer scale assesses sub-movements, and as such enables the isolation of segmental movements, a decreased score can be interpreted as movement synergies or increased co-contraction. The present findings were with this notion despite significant correlations between muscle activity modulation and the Fugl-Meyer score. The findings illustrate that larger movement impairments correlated with increased Euclidian distance between different target directions. Movement synergies were not the main source of motor impairments observed. This notion is reinforced by the Euclidian distances of the patients being significantly greater when compared to those of the control subjects. The present findings are in line with those of Beer et al. (2000) who have revealed abnormal spatial tuning of muscle torque at the elbow, used to initiate movements of the paretic limb in hemiparetic patients. Those authors suggest that spatial abnormalities result from systematic disturbances in the control signal to limb muscles rather than muscle weakness, spasticity, or muscle synergies. In the present study, co-contraction ratios between five pairs of muscles were not significantly different between the stroke patients and healthy subjects, suggesting that motor impairments were probably not related to co-contraction between antagonists. These findings are with those of other studies that investigated patients in the chronic stage of recovery from more severe motor impairments (Ohn et al. 2013; Leonard et al. 2006).

Significant correlations between our model of the assessment of muscle activity impairment post-stroke and the Fugl-Meyer scale are not settled with the underlying mechanisms causing motor impairments, i.e., movement synergies and increased co-contractions. In this study patients were examined approximately 3 weeks post-stroke and suffered from mild-to-moderate impairments. Spasticity was not strongly pronounced in these patients during recovery; therefore muscle activations were less prone to stereotypical movement patterns. It seems that during recovery from flaccid paresis, patients scan for a proper group of agonistic muscles to efficiently execute the movement manifest by increased Euclidian distances between targets. A larger task demand probably requires recruitment of additional synergistic muscles for task completion (Israely et al. 2017a).

Our present findings underscore the necessity for differentiation between a degree of motor impairment and the time elapsed since stroke, when formulating a suitable treatment program, as has also been suggested by others (Carmichael and Krakauer 2013). Twitchell (1951) and Brunnstrom (1970) have suggested that control over basic synergies should be achieved in order to execute more complex movements. Accordingly, during early stages of recovery, patients should be aided or encouraged to use these synergies (Cirstea and Levin 2000; Bobath, 1990; Carr and Shepherd 1989).

In the last decades, task-oriented training (TOT) has been indicated to promote functional

independence. TOT was previously defined as treatment approach that focuses on meaningful complex movements, with real-life object manipulation in a real-life environment (Timmermans et al. 2010). Numerous studies have evaluated the efficiency of TOT, but controversies remain as yet unsettled regarding its efficiency for improving motor function (Thant et al. 2019; Almhdawi et al. 2016; Jeon et al. 2015; Pollock et al. 2014; French et al. 2007). The mechanisms for motor improvement, motor learning, and motor compensation remain unsettled as well (Krakauer and Cortés 2018; Kitago et al. 2013; Roby-Brami et al. 2003).

Animal experiments and human studies have demonstrated the necessity to focus on reducing motor impairment by enhancing motor learning in the first 6 months post-stroke (Krakauer et al. 2012; Moon et al. 2009). In that context, therapists should direct toward the execution of motor task with the right movement pattern. In severe cases of stroke, therapists may decrease the degrees of freedom to be used by the patient to ease the motor task or may use assisted approach to bridge the agonist recruitment deficits. Moreover, therapists should apply the commonly known rehabilitation principles for motor learning, which include distributed practice (frequent rest periods within a session), contextual interference (using different objects to manipulate), task specific variability (different textures, weights, arm range of motion, direction of movement), feedback by knowledge of results, and increased task demands (Israely et al. 2017b; Schweighofer et al. 2011; Krakauer 2006). In moderately to severely (Fugl-Meyer <45 points) impaired patients, with increased muscle tone 2 weeks post-stroke (Ashworth scale >2), a greater attention should be taken for preserving joint motion ranges and to decrease a chance for contractures in later stages of recovery (Triccas et al. 2019; Urban et al. 2010; Wissel et al. 2010). Platz et al. (2001) have introduced the arm ability training that implemented the above principles, tailored to post-stroke patients with mild impairment. TOT is considered the intervention of choice in patients with mild motor impairment, as long as the emphasis is placed on correct movement pattern and motor learning principles.

This study has several limitations. A rather small number of participants might affect between-group differences. It also could have an impact on the application of classification algorithms validating our findings. Patients had just mild-to-moderate motor impairments, which makes it difficult to generalize the findings for more severe post-stroke conditions. Nonetheless, we believe we have shown that impaired capacity for modulating muscle activity for different movement directions is a good indicator of the overall motor impairment of the upper extremity in milder post-stroke stages of motor impairment. Our findings suggest that in the subacute phase of recovery, motor impairment cannot be attributed to movement synergies or increased co-contraction between muscle antagonists, but rather to impaired coordination and recruitment of muscles agonists, resulting in increased demand on synergistic muscles. It might be assumed that corticospinal tract integrity may facilitate isolated joint movement out of movement synergies.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Review Board of the Bait-Balev Rehabilitation Center in Nesher, Israel, and it was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov#NCT03063151.

**Informed Consent** Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study. In addition, the subject presented in the photo of Fig. 2 gave written informed consent permitting the reproduction of his body in both electronic and printed versions of the article.

#### References

- Almhdawi KA, Mathiowetz VG, White M, del Mas RC (2016) Efficacy of occupational therapy task-oriented approach in upper extremity post-stroke rehabilitation. Occup Ther Int 23(4):444–456
- Beebe JA, Lang CE (2009) Active range of motion predicts upper extremity function 3 months after stroke. Stroke 40(5):1772–1779

- Beer RF, Dewald JP, Rymer WZ (2000) Deficits in the coordination of multijoint arm movements in patients with hemiparesis: evidence for disturbed control of limb dynamics. Exp Brain Res 131(3):305–319
- Bobath B (1990) Adult hemiplegia: evaluation and treatment, 3rd edn. W. Heinemann Medical Books, London
- Brunnstrom S (1970) Movement therapy in hemiplegia: a neurophysiological approach. Medical Department, Harper & Row, New York
- Carmichael ST, Krakauer JW (2013) The promise of neuro–recovery after stroke: introduction. Stroke 44 (6 Suppl 1):S103. https://doi.org/10.1161/ STROKEAHA.111.000373
- Carr JH, Shepherd RB (1989) A motor learning model for stroke rehabilitation. Physiotherapy 75(7):372–380
- Cirstea M, Levin MF (2000) Compensatory strategies for reaching in stroke. Brain 123(5):940–953
- French B, Thomas LH, Leathley MJ, Sutton CJ, McAdam J, Forster A, Langhorne P, Price CI, Walker A, Watkins CL (2007) Repetitive task training for improving functional ability after stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 4:CD006073
- Fugl Meyer A, Jääskö L, Leyman I, Olsson S, Steglind S (1975) The post–stroke hemiplegic patient. 1. A method for evaluation of physical performance. Scand J Rehabil Med 7(1):13–31
- Gladstone DJ, Danells CJ, Black SE (2002) The fuglmeyer assessment of motor recovery after stroke: a critical review of its measurement properties. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 16(3):232–240
- Harris–Love ML, Chan E, Dromerick AW, Cohen LG (2015) Neural substrates of motor recovery in severely impaired stroke patients with hand paralysis. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 30(4):328–338
- Hermens HJ, Freriks B, Merletti R, Stegeman DF, Blok JH, Rau G, Klug C, Hägg G, Blok WJ, Hermens H (1999) European recommendations for surface electromyography: results of the SENIAM project. Roessingh Research and Development, Enschede, the Netherlands, 1999, ISBN 90-75452-15-2
- Hislop HJ, Montgomery J (2002) Daniels and Worthingham's muscle testing techniques of manual examination, 7th edn. W.B. Saunders, Philadelphia
- Israely S, Carmeli E (2016) Handwriting performance versus arm forward reach and grasp abilities among post–stroke patients, a case–control study. Top Stroke Rehabil 24(1):5–11
- Israely S, Leisman G, Machluf C, Shnitzer T, Carmeli E (2017a) Direction modulation of muscle synergies in a hand-reaching task. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng 25(12):2427–2440
- Israely S, Leisman G, Carmeli E (2017b, 2017) Improvement in arm and hand function after a stroke with task– oriented training. BMJ Case Rep. https://doi.org/10. 1136/bcr-2017-219250
- Jeon B, Kim W, Park E (2015) Effect of task-oriented training for people with stroke: a meta-analysis

focused on repetitive or circuit training. Top Stroke Rehabil 22(1):34–43

- Kellis E, Arabatzi F, Papadopoulos C (2003) Muscle coactivation around the knee in drop jumping using the co-contraction index. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 13 (3):229–238
- Kitago T, Liang J, Huang VS, Hayes S, Simon P, Tenteromano L, Lazar RM, Marshall RS, Mazzoni P, Lennihan L, Krakauer JW (2013) Improvement after constraint–induced movement therapy: recovery of normal motor control or task–specific compensation? Neurorehabil Neural Repair 27(2):99–109
- Krakauer JW (2005) Arm function after stroke: from physiology to recovery. Semin Neurol 25(4):384–395
- Krakauer JW (2006) Motor learning: its relevance to stroke recovery and neurorehabilitation. Curr Opin Neurol 19(1):84–90
- Krakauer JW, Cortés JC (2018) A non-task-oriented approach based on high-dose playful movement exploration for rehabilitation of the upper limb early after stroke: a proposal. NeuroRehabilitation 43 (1):31-40
- Krakauer JW, Marshall RS (2015) The proportional recovery rule for stroke revisited. Ann Neurol 78 (6):845–847
- Krakauer JW, Carmichael ST, Corbett D, Wittenberg GF (2012) Getting neurorehabilitation right: what can be learned from animal models? Neurorehabil Neural Repair 26(8):923–931
- Leonard C, Gardipee K, Koontz J, Anderson J, Wilkins S (2006) Correlation between impairment and motor performance during reaching tasks in subjects with spastic hemiparesis. J Rehabil Med 38(4):243–249
- Levin MF, Kleim JA, Wolf SL (2009) What do motor "recovery" and "compensation" mean in patients following stroke? Neurorehabil Neural Repair 23 (4):313–319
- Lindenberg R, Renga V, Zhu LL, Betzler F, Alsop D, Schlaug G (2010) Structural integrity of corticospinal motor fibers predicts motor impairment in chronic stroke. Neurology 74(4):280–287
- McPherson LM, Dewald JPA (2019) Differences between flexion and extension synergy–driven coupling at the elbow, wrist, and fingers of patients with chronic hemiparetic stroke. Clin Neurophysiol 130(4):454–468
- Mirela Cristina L, Matei D, Ignat B, Popescu CD (2015) Mirror therapy enhances upper extremity motor recovery in stroke patients. Acta Neurol Belg 115 (4):597–603
- Molina Rueda F, Rivas Montero FM, Perez de Heredia Torres M, Alguacil Diego IM, Molero Sanchez A, Miangolarra Page JC (2012) Movement analysis of upper extremity hemiparesis in patients with cerebrovascular disease: a pilot study. Neurologia 27 (6):343–347
- Moon S, Alaverdashvili M, Cross AR, Whishaw IQ (2009) Both compensation and recovery of skilled reaching

following small photothrombotic stroke to motor cortex in the rat. Exp Neurol 218(1):145–153

- Nelson CM, Murray WM, Dewald JP (2018) Motor impairment–related alterations in biceps and triceps brachii fascicle lengths in chronic hemiparetic stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 32(9):799–809
- Ohn S, Yoo W, Kim D, Ahn S, Jung B, Cho I, Lee NJ, Jung KI (2013) Measurement of synergy and spasticity during functional movement of the post–stoke hemiplegic upper limb. J Electromyogr Kinesiol 23 (2):501–507
- Pandian S, Arya K (2012) Relation between the upper extremity synergistic movement components and its implication for motor recovery in poststroke hemiparesis. Top Stroke Rehabil 19(6):545–555
- Platz T, Winter T, Müller N, Pinkowski C, Eickhof C, Mauritz K (2001) Arm ability training for stroke and traumatic brain injury patients with mild arm paresis: a single–blind, randomized, controlled trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 82(7):961–968
- Pollock A, Farmer SE, Brady MC, Langhorne P, Mead GE, Mehrholz J, van Wijck F (2014) Interventions for improving upper limb function after stroke. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 11:CD010820
- Roby-Brami A, Feydy A, Combeaud M, Biryukova E, Bussel B, Levin M (2003) Motor compensation and recovery for reaching in stroke patients. Acta Neurol Scand 107(5):369–381
- Schafer JL, Graham JW (2002) Missing data: our view of the state of the art. Psychol Methods 7(2):147
- Schweighofer N, Lee J, Goh H, Choi Y, Kim S, Stewart JC, Lewthwaite R, Winstein CJ (2011) Mechanisms of the contextual interference effect in individuals poststroke. J Neurophysiol 106(5):2632–2641
- Thant AA, Wanpen S, Nualnetr N, Puntumetakul R, Chatchawan U, Hla KM, Khin MT (2019) Effects of task–oriented training on upper extremity functional performance in patients with sub–acute stroke: a

randomized controlled trial. J Phys Ther Sci 31 (1):82-87

- Timmermans AA, Spooren AI, Kingma H, Seelen HA (2010) Influence of task–oriented training content on skilled arm–hand performance in stroke: a systematic review. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 24(9):858–870
- Tomita Y, Mullick AA, Levin MF (2018) Reduced kinematic redundancy and motor equivalence during whole–body reaching in patients with chronic stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 32(2):175–186
- Triccas LT, Kennedy N, Smith T, Pomeroy V (2019) Predictors of upper limb spasticity after stroke? A systematic review and meta–analysis. Physiotherapy 105(2):163–173
- Twitchell TE (1951) The restoration of motor function following hemiplegia in man. Brain 74(4):443–480
- Urban PP, Wolf T, Uebele M, Marx JJ, Vogt T, Stoeter P, Bauermann T, Weibrich C, Vucurevic GD, Schneider A, Wissel J (2010) Occurrence and clinical predictors of spasticity after ischemic stroke. Stroke 41 (9):2016–2020
- Wagner J, Dromerick A, Sahrmann S, Lang C (2007) Upper extremity muscle activation during recovery of reaching in subjects with post–stroke hemiparesis. Clin Neurophysiol 118(1):164–176
- Wei XJ, Tong KY, Hu XL (2011) The responsiveness and correlation between fugl–meyer assessment, motor status scale, and the action research arm test in chronic stroke with upper–extremity rehabilitation robotic training. Int J Rehabil Res 34(4):349–356
- Winters C, van Wegen EE, Daffertshofer A, Kwakkel G (2015) Generalizability of the proportional recovery model for the upper extremity after an ischemic stroke. Neurorehabil Neural Repair 29(7):614–622
- Wissel J, Schelosky LD, Scott J, Christe W, Faiss JH, Mueller J (2010) Early development of spasticity following stroke: a prospective, observational trial. J Neurol 257(7):1067–1072



# Prognostics of Hospitalization Length and Mortality in Patients with Traumatic Frontal Brain Contusions

Sunil Munakomi, Jagdish Thingujam, Aliza Bajracharya, Suja Gurung, and Sangam Shrestha

#### Abstract

Traumatic brain injury has ripple effect on the physical, cognitive, behavioral, and emotional domains of quality of life and portends a longterm neurological disability in survivors. In this study we evaluated the prognostic role demographic and clinico-radiological of variables on the hospitalization length and mortality in 71 of patients with frontal brain contusions. The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) plots were performed, with area under the curve (AUC) values, for graphical comparison of variables that would predict mortality and hospitalization length. We found that the best prognostics of mortality were the Glasgow Coma Scale score, the motor function score, and the Rotterdam CT score, with AUC values of 0.873, 0.836, and 0.711, respectively. Concerning the prediction of hospitalization length, the AUC showed inappreciable differences, with the highest values for the Glasgow Coma Scale score, Rotterdam CT score, and the serum cortisol level in a 0.550-0.600 range. Curve estimation, based on

S. Munakomi (🖂), J. Thingujam, A. Bajracharya, and S. Gurung

Department of Neurosurgery, Nobel Medical College and Teaching Hospital, Biratnagar, Nepal e-mail: sunilmunakomi@gmail.com

S. Shrestha

Department of Pediatrics, Koshi Zonal Hospital, Biratnagar, Nepal

multivariate analysis, showed that the scores of motor function, Glasgow Coma Scale, and Rotterdam CT correlated best with the prediction of both mortality and hospitalization length, along with the upward dynamic changes of serum cortisol for the latter. We conclude that basically simple and non-invasive assessment in survivors of acute traumatic brain contusion is helpful in predicting mortality and the length of hospital stay, which would be of essential value in better allocation of healthcare resources for inpatient treatment and rehabilitation and for post-hospital patient's functioning.

#### Keywords

Clinical outcome · Hospitalization length · Mortality · Traumatic brain contusion

## 1 Introduction

Acute brain injury is the most common sequelae of all traumatic incidents. Frontal contusions comprise 43.4% of the intracranial pathologies resulting from trauma (Papo et al. 1982). Moreover, such contusions have a ripple effect on the physical, cognitive, behavioral, and emotional domains of quality of life, and they also harbinger variable long-term neurological disabilities among the survivors (Kurland et al. 2012). Although most of the patients are initially neurologically preserved, there is a high tendency for rapid progression of brain lesions, leading to sudden brain herniation and eventual death (Chen et al. 2018; Rehman et al. 2008). Brain injury also embarks a significant negative effect on daily lives of patients and caretakers, and it connotes a substantial enduring socioeconomic burden for families and society (Chen et al. 2006).

There is a paucity of neurosurgical studies pertaining to the prognostic value of various clinical factors in predicting the length of hospitalization and mortality among patients with traumatic brain injury. Thus, this study seeks to predict outcome in patients with traumatic frontal contusions based on demographic and clinicoradiological variables referring to the total length of hospitalization and mortality.

# 2 Methods

## 2.1 Patients and Study Design

There were 71 patients enrolled in the study with the diagnosis of traumatic frontal contusions who were hospitalized in the Department of Neurosurgery at the Nobel Medical College and Teaching Hospital in Biratnagar, Nepal, during January 2017 and June 2019. Exclusion criteria consisted of significant associated polytrauma with hemodynamic instability, patient's refusal to participate in the study, or leaving the hospital in the course of treatment against medical advice.

We evaluated demographic and clinicoradiological variables that could have a bearing in predicting the length of hospitalization and mortality (outcomes) among patients with traumatic frontal contusions, such as patient age, gender, initial Glasgow Coma Scale, Rotterdam computed tomography (CT) score, assessment of motor function, bilateralism on opposing body sides, changes in the serum cortisol and thyroid hormones from the first to the third day of admission, accompanying polytrauma, management mode, and the presence of other concurrent brain lesions. Study outcomes were the length of hospitalization and the mortality rate in patients with traumatic frontal contusions.

## 2.2 Sample Size and Data Elaboration

The minimum sample size, required to achieve the study goal, was calculated as 32 patients using the following formula:

$$n = z^2 \ge p \ge q/d^2$$

where z is 1.96 at 95% confidence interval; p, 20% prevalence of traumatic frontal contusions; q, 1-p; and d, 10% margin of error.

The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) plots were performed, with area under curve (AUC) values, for graphical presentation and comparing variables that would be useful for predicting the length of hospitalization and morbidity among patients with traumatic frontal contusions. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) and multivariate logistic regression, along with the logistic coefficient curve, were used to evaluate the effects of different variables, which could affect the two outcome variables: mortality rate and hospitalization length. The analysis was performed using a commercial statistical package of SPSS v16 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY).

## 3 Results

In the ROC analysis, the best predictors of mortality in patients with traumatic frontal contusion were the score of the Glasgow Coma Scale, motor function score, and Rotterdam CT score, with the AUC values of 0.873, 0.836, and 0.711, respectively (Fig. 1). One-way ANOVA for predicting mortality yielded a significant p-value only for the three variables aforementioned; 0.001, 0.003, and 0.005, respectively. Concerning the prediction of hospitalization length, the AUC showed inappreciable differences, with the highest values also for the Glasgow Coma Scale score (0.592), Rotterdam CT score (0.589), and the serum cortisol level (0.564) (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1 Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) plots of clinico-radiological variables for predicting mortality among patients with traumatic frontal contusions



Fig. 2 Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) plots of clinico-radiological variables for predicting hospitalization length among patients with traumatic frontal contusions

In multivariate analysis, curve estimation of the size and direction of the relationship between a predictor, i.e., clinical and radiological variables investigated, and the response outcomes, i.e., mortality and hospitalization length, are depicted in Figs. 3 and 4, respectively, For mortality, the best prediction yielded the motor score (p = 0.001), Glasgow Coma scale score (p = 0.001), and Rotterdam CT score (p = 0.047). For the hospitalization length, prediction was significantly associated with the Glasgow Coma Scale score (p = 0.001), Rotterdam CT score (p = 0.001), mode of management (p = 0.001), serum cortisol content (p = 0.006), and the presence of concurrent brain lesions (p = 0.005).

## 4 Discussion

In this study we assessed the efficacy of clinicoradiological and biochemical variables in predicting mortality and hospitalization length of patients with traumatic frontal brain contusions. There is a paucity of studies addressing the issue that is of substantial practical interest in the face of frequency of such injuries and uncertain outcome and complicating management. In the assessment, we used a spectrum of different factors and variables, such as the Glasgow Coma Scale score, the Rotterdam CT score, and the motor function score at presentation, the presence of concurrent brain pathologies, the associated polytrauma, and the dynamics of changes in the content of serum cortisol and thyroid hormones. We also took into account patients' demographics such as age and gender and the management algorithm performed in these patients. The findings, in general, were that the factors above outlined positively correlated with both mortality and hospitalization length in patients with acute frontal brain injury as depicted in curve estimation, based on multivariate regression analysis (Figs. 3 and 4). There were, however, differences in the prognostic power among these factors.

The Glasgow Coma Scale was the most significant item in predicting both mortality and



Fig. 3 Curve estimations of clinico-radiological variables being associated with the prediction of mortality among patients with traumatic frontal contusions



Fig. 4 Curve estimations of clinico-radiological variables being associated with the prediction of hospitalization length among patients with traumatic frontal contusions

hospitalization length in patients with traumatic frontal contusions. For mortality, the AUC value corresponding to this scale in the ROC plot amounted to 0.873. The finding pointing to the essential importance of the scale in the patient assessment is in line with other previous studies on the subject (Arango-Lasprilla et al. 2010; Hung et al. 2004). However, the score of motor function at presentation and the Rotterdam CT score ran closely behind the Glasgow Coma scale score in predicting mortality, in terms of the AUC values. Moreover, the assessment of motor function seems superior and more reliable in some patients, as the eye and verbal components of the Glasgow Coma Scale might be adversely influenced by drugs, alcohol intoxication, or patient intubation. In addition, motor function assessment is the only one clearly and objectively achievable when a full Glasgow Coma Scale cannot be performed. The Rotterdam CT score, which helps evaluate the course of acute traumatic brain injuries (Munakomi 2016), also appeared useful in predicting both mortality

and hospitalization length in our patients. The score was a particularly strong determinant regarding mortality, with the AUC of 0.711.

In addition, we found in this study that an upward change in the serum cortisol during the first few days of hospitalization due to frontal brain injury was a significant prognostic of mortality. The role of the assessment of serum cortisol in such patients is a contentious issue. In contradistinction to the present finding, Hannon et al. (2011) have found that patients with a low level of cortisol would rather have increased mortality. That finding has not been supported by a study of Olivecrona et al. (2013) who have failed to substantiate the presence of a relationship between dynamic changes in cortisol and mortality after brain injury. The discrepancy among the studies concerning the relation of serum cortisol to mortality is not readily explicable and requires further exploration using alternative study designs.

Referring to the hospitalization length, in general, the variables investigated showed narrow differences in the ROC plot, within a 0.550-0.600 range of AUC values. The Glasgow Coma Scale score and the Rotterdam CT score appeared the most significant determinants with the AUC of 0.592 and 0.589, respectively. However, the serum cortisol level and polytrauma, including concurrent brain lesions, also ranked high in the ability to determine the hospitalization course. In this study, fractures of long bones accounted for the majority of associated polytrauma. Fractures of the pelvis and lower limbs immobilize patients and delay physical rehabilitation, which increases the risk of pulmonary embolism, prolongs the hospital stay, and increases the risk of mortality. These results are in line with those reported by Tardif et al. (2017) and Stewart et al. (2013), except that the latter study has reported chest injuries, rather than bone fractures, as being prevalent among patients with acute traumatic brain injury. Likewise, patient age was another factor that was found of significance in predicting the length of hospital stay in the present study, with increasing age prolonging the stay. Older age carries the inherent risk of comorbidities, such as pre-existing hypertension, diabetes, or cognitive impairments, which all hinders the management of a treatment course in acute brain trauma, in turn leading to a prolongation of hospital stay (Lazaridis et al. 2015; Vitaz et al. 2003).

A limitation in interpreting the findings of the study is that it was performed in a rather small sample of 71 patients with traumatic frontal brain injury hospitalized in a single tertiary medical center. The results obtained should be validated in larger multi-center prospective randomized trials. Nonetheless, we believe we have shown that basically simple and non-invasive assessment in survivors of acute traumatic brain contusion may be helpful in gaining predictive knowledge on the length of hospital stay and plausible mortality. This knowledge is of essential value for better allocation of healthcare resources concerning the management of inpatient treatment and rehabilitation, which would eventually lead to better outcome and post-hospital quality of life.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Nobel Medical College and Teaching Hospital in Biratnagar, Nepal (approval no. 134/2018).

**Informed Consent** Written informed consent was obtained from the patients, their relatives, or next of kin, depending on the patient's clinical status, of all individual participants included in the study.

#### References

- Arango-Lasprilla JC, Ketchum JM, Cifu D, Hammond F, Castillo C, Nicholls E, Watanabe T, Lequerica A, Deng X (2010) Predictors of extended rehabilitation length of stay after traumatic brain injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 91(10):1495–1504
- Chen H, Meng H, Lu ZX (2006) Prospective study on family burden following traumatic brain injury in children. Chin J Epidemiol 27:307–310
- Chen JH, Li PP, Yang LK, Chen L, Zhu J, Hu X, Wang YH (2018) Value of ventricular intracranial pressure monitoring for traumatic bifrontal contusions. World Neurosurg 113:e690–e701
- Hannon MJ, Sherlock M, Thompson CJ (2011) Pituitary dysfunction following traumatic brain injury or subarachnoid haemorrhage – in "Endocrine Management in the Intensive Care Unit". Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 25(5):783–798
- Hung KS, Liang CL, Wang CH, Chang HW, Park N, Hank Juo SH (2004) Outcome after traumatic frontal intracerebral haemorrhage: a comparison of unilateral and bilateral haematomas. J Clin Neurosci 11(8):849–853
- Kurland D, Hong C, Aarabi B, Gerzanich V, Simard JM (2012) Hemorrhagic progression of a contusion after traumatic brain in- jury: a review. J Neurotrauma 29:19–31
- Lazaridis C, Yang M, DeSantis SM, Luo ST, Robertson CS (2015) Predictors of intensive care unit length of stay and intracranial pressure in severe traumatic brain injury. J Crit Care 30(6):1258–1262
- Munakomi S (2016) A comparative study between Marshall and Rotterdam CT scores in predicting early deaths in patients with traumatic brain injury in a major tertiary care hospital in Nepal. Chin J Traumatol 19(1):25–27

- Olivecrona Z, Dahlqvist P, Koskinen LO (2013) Acute neuro-endocrine profile and prediction of outcome after severe brain injury. Scand J Trauma Resusc Emerg Med 21:33
- Papo I, Caruselli G, Scarpelli M, Luongo A (1982) Mass lesions of the frontal lobes in acute head injuries. A comparison with temporal lesions. Acta Neurochir 62 (1–2):47–72
- Rehman T, Ali R, Tawil I, Yonas H (2008) Rapid progression of traumatic bifrontal contusions to transtentorial herniation: a case report. Cases J 1(1):203
- Stewart TC, Alharfi IM, Fraser DD (2013) The role of serious concomitant injuries in the treatment and

outcome of paediatric severe traumatic brain injury. J Trauma Acute Care Surg 75(5):836–842

- Tardif PA, Moore L, Boutin A, Dufresne P, Omar M, Bourgeois G, Bonaventure PL, Kuimi BL, Turgeon AF (2017) Hospital length of stay following admission for traumatic brain injury in a Canadian integrated trauma system: a retrospective multicenter cohort study. Injury 48(1):94–100
- Vitaz TW, Jenks J, Raque GH, Shields CB (2003) Outcome following moderate traumatic brain injury. Surg Neurol 60(4):285–291



# **Circulating P-Selectin and Its Glycoprotein Ligand in Nondiabetic Obstructive Sleep Apnea Patients**

H. M. Winiarska, S. Cofta, L. Bielawska, A. Płóciniczak, T. Piorunek, and E. Wysocka

#### Abstract

Selectins and their ligands play an important role in atherosclerosis. The role of these adhesion molecules in the pathogenesis of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) may be of clinical relevance. Therefore, the aim of this study was to assess the serum content of platelet P-selectin (P-SEL) and P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1) in different OSA stages. The study was performed in nondiabetic patients, aged 32-71, in whom OSA was verified by polysomnography. The apnea/ hypopnea index (AHI) was used to stratify OSA stages: AHI <5, no sleep pathology (OSA-0); AHI 5-15, (OSA-1); AHI 16-30, (OSA-2); and AHI >30, (OSA-3). There were 16 patients in each group. P-SEL and PSGL-1 were assessed by ELISA kits. There were no appreciable differences in the patients' glucose or high-specificity C-reactive protein content. We found that P-SEL and PSGL-1 significantly increased from OSA-0 to OSA-3. There were the following positive associations in all OSA patients: P-SEL vs. AHI, PSGL-

1 vs. AHI, and P-SEL vs. PSGL-1. In addition, the adhesion molecules are associated with the anthropometric parameters, oxygen saturation, and sleep architecture in the OSA-1 group. We conclude that the adhesion molecules consistently increase in the blood of nondiabetic OSA patients, along with progression of disorder severity.

Keywords

Adhesion molecules · Apnea-hypopnea index · Atherosclerosis · Nondiabetic patients · Obstructive sleep apnea · Selectins · Sleep pathology

## 1 Introduction

The obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) is a common sleep disorder, with 9-38% the prevalence in the adult population (Senaratna et al. 2017). The essential pathophysiologic feature is a recurrent cessation of breathing during sleep caused by upper airways collapse. The severity of OSA is usually stratified on the basis of the apnea-hypopnea index (AHI) as follows: mild (AHI 5–15), moderate (AHI 15–30), and severe (AHI >30) (Kapur et al. 2017). The most common risk factors for OSA include obesity, male gender, age, and postmenopausal state (Laratta et al. 2017), all of which are akin to the typical

H. M. Winiarska, S. Cofta (⊠), and T. Piorunek Department of Respiratory Medicine, Allergology and Pulmonary Oncology, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland e-mail: pulmo@ump.edu.pl

L. Bielawska, A. Płóciniczak, and E. Wysocka Department of Laboratory Diagnostics, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland

cardiovascular risk factors. Recurrent episodes of apnea or hypopnea cause many a pathological process, foremost hypoxia–reoxygenation cycles and rapid alterations in the intrathoracic pressure, leading to endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and general atherosclerosis.

Atherosclerosis is a multifactorial inflammatory disease which is expected to be the main cause of mortality in the Western countries (Hansson 2005) due to the development of a spate of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular pathologies. The earliest stage of atherosclerosis is endothelial dysfunction, with dysregulation of thrombosis, redox imbalance, and inflammatory reactions (Gimbrone Jr and Garcia-Cardena 2016), which is followed by migration and adhesion of leukocytes to the endothelium. These processes are mediated by adhesion molecules, notably by P-selectin (P-SEL) which is a transmembrane glycoprotein, stored in endothelial cells and platelets. P-SEL translocates to the cell surface after cell activation (Ley 2003), where the molecule is conducive to leukocyte-endothelium and platelet-endothelium interactions (Budhiraja et al. 2007). Expression of P-SEL is remarkably enhanced in the endothelium overlying active atherosclerotic plaques (Johnson-Tidey et al. 1994). Adhesion of leukocytes to endothelial cells is mediated by the P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1), which is a leukocyte protein responsible for about 90% of P-SEL binding. PSGL-1 also binds to L-selectin and enables the interaction between leukocytes on inflamed endothelial cells (McEver 2001). PSGL-1 deficiency prevents endothelial activation and reduces the risk of atherosclerosis in mice (Luo et al. 2012). Both P-SEL and PSGL-1 play a key role in the early stages of atherosclerosis. Therefore, this study seeks to define the serum content of platelet P-SEL and PSGL-1 in OSA patients.

## 2 Methods

There were 64 consecutive patients, aged 32–71, with a suspicion of OSA, enrolled into the study. Each patient underwent a physical examination and was subjected to the Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) to determine the subjective diurnal sleepiness. The patients were then referred to in-lab sleep polysomnographic (PSG) examination, performed with an EMBLA S4000-Remlogic setup equipped with Somnologica Studio v5.0 software (Embla Systems, Thornton, CO). The full-night recordings were analyzed manually to verify the data provided automatically. The apnea was defined as a cessation of airflow lasting for more than 10 s. The hypopnea was defined as at least 30% reduction of airflow with at least 4% desaturation, lasting for at least 10 s. On the basis of AHI (the number of apnea and hypopnea episodes per hour), we divided patients into four groups: OSA-0 (no disorder; AHI <5), OSA-1 (mild disorder; AHI 5–15), OSA-2 (moderate disorder; AHI 16-30), and OSA-3 (severe disorder; AHI >30); each group consisted of 16 subjects. Arterial blood pressure, complete blood count, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), lipid profile, fasting (Glu-0), and 120-min (Glu-120) glycemia during oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) were determined, using Dimension Xpand Plus Systems (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics, Deerfield, IL). The content of P-SEL and PSGL-1 was measured by the ELISA method using a DRG Reagent Kit (DRG International Inc., Springfield, NJ) on microplate reader (Sunrise Tecan; Männedorf, Switzerland). The study participants with hsCRP <8.00 mg/L and no diabetes according to the OGTT results were enrolled. The exclusion criteria were as follows: chronic or acute heart diseases, stroke, respiratory failure, chronic kidney or liver disease, current smoking, neoplasm, diabetes mellitus, and current infection.

Data were expressed as medians and interquartile ranges (IQR: 25th-75th). The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to check data distribution. Since the distribution was skewed, nonparametric tests were used in further analysis. Differences among the studied groups were assessed with the Kruskal-Wallis test, followed by a post hoc Dunn's test. The Spearman rank correlation coefficient (rho) was used to investigate correlations among parameters, with the following estimators of a rho strength: weak (0.10 - 0.29),average (0.30-0.49),strong (0.50–0.69), very strong (0.70–0.89), and almost full (0.90–1.00). Multiple regression analysis was conducted for relevant parameters. In all of the tests, p < 0.05 was taken as an indicator of statistical significance. The analysis was performed using a commercial statistical packet of Statistica v12.0 (StatSoft, Tulsa, OK).

## 3 Results

Clinical and laboratory characteristics of the study groups are shown in Table 1. The groups differed in the AHI and ESS results. There also were significant differences in the body mass index (BMI) and neck circumference, with the highest values in OSA-3 group. However, there were no intergroup differences in blood pressure, glucose levels during OGTT, total cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, or triglycerides, nor were there any in the duration of sleep phases expressed as a percentage of the total sleep time neither.

There were significant differences in P-SEL and PSGL-1 content among the OSA groups. P-SEL increased from OSA-0 to OSA-3 (Fig. 1), with the following statistical power of differences of the intergroup comparisons with Dunn's test: OSA-0 vs. OSA-1 (p > 0.05), OSA-0 vs. OSA-2 (p < 0.002), OSA-0 vs. OSA-3 (p < 0.001), and OSA-1 vs. OSA-3 (p < 0.001). PSGL-1 also increased from OSA-0 to OSA-3 (Fig. 2), with the following intergroup significance: OSA-0 vs. OSA-1 (p = 1.0), OSA-0 vs. OSA-2 (p = 0.100), OSA-0 vs. OSA-3 (p < 0.001), and OSA-1 vs. OSA-3 (p < 0.001).

Associations between P-SEL and PSGL-1 content and other parameters in the OSA groups are shown in Table 2. P-SEL is strongly or very strongly associated with the level of AHI, minimum oxygen saturation, white blood cell count, and total cholesterol. Likewise, PSGL-1 is associated with the magnitude of AHI. On the other hand, duration of non-REM-3 sleep is adversely associated with the content of both P-SEL and PSGL-1.

Multiple regression analysis was used to assess which investigated parameters could independently influence the content of either P-SEL or PSGL-1 (Table 3). Increasing AHI might explain about 95% of linear increase in PSGL-1 in OSA-3 and 83% of linear increase in PSGL-1 in OSA-2. Moreover, elevated PSGL-1 might explain 84% of linear increase in P-SEL in OSA-3.

#### 4 Discussion

The major finding of the present study was that the blood content of the adhesion molecules P-SEL and PSLG-1 in the blood of OSA patients progressively increased from mild to severe OSA. Moreover, there was a significant inverse association between average arterial oxygen saturation and P-SEL content. On the other side, P-selectin is associated rather weakly with the anthropometrical parameters such as BMI or waist and neck circumference. These findings confirm some of the other studies on the issue, although differ in details with yet some other studies. A previous study in 80 male non-smoking Caucasians has also shown a progressive increase of P-SEL along the increase of OSA severity (Cofta et al. 2013). Another one has shown that P-SEL, and also the incidence of silent brain infarction, is significantly higher in moderate-tosevere OSA when compared to the control group of obese patients but not suffering from OSA. Moreover, CPAP treatment reverses the increased P-SEL content (Minoguchi et al. 2007). Dyugovskaya et al. (2008) have shown in a group of 68 patients that P-SEL content is increased in patients with severe OSA when compared to mild OSA. Rather unexpectedly, those authors find the difference in P-SEL loses significance after adjustment to BMI, which may point to a key role of obesity in the enhancement of the molecule content in OSA. A study by Jurado-Gamez et al. (2012) has used the oxygen desaturation index per hour (ODI), as opposed to AHI in the studies outlined above, as a measure of OSA severity. The authors have shown an increase in P-SEL in severe "desaturators" (ODI  $\geq$ 30%) when compared to mild-to-moderate "desaturators" (ODI 5-30%). In another study,

	•		•		
Parameter	OSA-0 (n = 16)	OSA-1 (n = 16)	OSA-2 (n = 16)	OSA-3 (n = 16)	р
AHI (events/h)	1.6 (0.7–3.3)	10.2 (6.5–12.3)	20.2 (17.1–23.2)	54.5 (50.0-59.5)	-
Age (years)	49.5 (42.5–57.5)	56.0 (6.5-12.3)	56.5 (47.0-61.0)	55.0 (50.0-59.5)	ns
EPW (points)	6.0 (4.5–9.5)	7.5 (4.5–11.0)	8.0 (6.0–10.0)	11.0 (5.0–14.0)	< 0.0001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	26.1 (2227.2)	28.4 (26.4–32.1)	28.8 (26.9–30.2)	33.2 (30.1–39.4)	< 0.0001
Waist (cm)	90.0 (81.0–96.0)	96.5 (92.5–103.5)	102.5 (90.0–107.0)	105.0	0.0002
				(103.0–121.0)	
Neck (cm)	38.5 (34.5-41.5)	40.5 (39.5-42.5)	42.0 (38.5-43.0)	45.0 (42.0-46.0)	0.0009
NREM1%	8.0 (4.8–15.2)	7.5 (6.0–10.9)	13.9 (8.2–21.3)	15.5 (6.0-21.9)	ns
NREM2%	31.1 (24.6–49.1)	29.3 (7.9-41.6)	47.1 (27.3–53.6)	50.7 (26.1-67.0)	ns
NREM3%	20.1 (7.9–35.8)	31.5 (22.4–46.1)	15.9 (12.3–38.15)	20.1 (11.5–31.3)	ns
REM%	15.7 (9.8–21.8)	21.0 (10.6–25.8)	12.9 (3.9–23.7)	17.3 (0.0–31.3)	ns
O <sub>2 Sat aver</sub> (%)	94.9 (94.0–95.8)	93.8 (93.1–94.4)	94.8 (92.05–95.0)	92.0 (90.8–93.3)	ns
O <sub>2 Sat min</sub> (%)	90.0 (87.5–92.0)	84.5 (80.0-88.5)	82.5 (80.0-86.0)	75.0 (64.5–78.0)	ns
SBP (mmHg)	127 (120–141)	132 (119–144)	134 (128–151)	135 (117–153)	ns
DBP (mmHg)	85 (77–90)	84 (78–90)	87 (80–97)	90 (80–98)	ns
G-0 (mmol/L)	5.07 (4.78-5.31)	5.12 (4.87–5.53)	5.17 (4.81-5.56)	5.41 (5.10-5.84)	ns
G-120 (mmol/L)	5.20 (4.64–5.95)	6.67 (4.88-8.13)	6.08 (4.25–7.47)	6.45 (5.07-8.29)	ns
T-C (mmol/L)	5.3 (4.9-6.2)	5.7 (5.1-6.4)	5.3 (5.0-6.1)	5.3 (4.9-6.0)	ns
TG (mmol/L)	1.3 (0.9–1.7)	1.5 (1.2–2.0)	1.4 (1.0–1.7)	1.7 (1.2–2.3)	ns
HDL-C (mmol/	1.7 (1.3–2.0)	1.6 (1.3–1.8)	1.4 (1.2–1.7)	1.4 (1.1–1.5)	ns
L)					
LDL-C (mmol/	3.4 (3.0-4.3)	3.8 (3.0-4.2)	3.5 (2.8–3.9)	3.6 (3.1-4.0)	ns
L)					
WBC (10e9/L)	5.63 (5.19-6.54)	6.56 (5.79–7.30)	7.20 (5.71-8.00)	6.47 (5.52-8.29)	ns
hsCRP (mg/L)	0.80 (0.60–1.40)	1.40 (0.65–2.05)	1.40 (0.45–2.45)	2.00 (1.45-3.00)	0.058
P-SEL (ng/mL)	35.56	39.49	49.64	59.67	<0.0001
	(32.65–39.94)	(37.27–48.14)	(45.11–52.83)	(53.96–77.70)	
PSGL-1 (ng/mL)	103.3	115.3	139.3	480.0	0.003
	(94.25–111.9)	(99.79–139.3)	(102.6–429.4)	(110.4-800.0)	

Table 1 Clinical and laboratory characteristics of patients by the severity of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA)

Data are presented as medians and (IQR: 25th–75th); *AHI* apnea/hypopnea index, *EPW* Epworth Sleepiness Scale, *BMI* body mass index, *Waist* waist circumference, *Neck* neck circumference, *NREM* non-rapid eye movement sleep stage, *REM* rapid eye movement sleep stage, *O*<sub>2 Sat aver</sub> average arterial oxygen saturation, *O*<sub>2 Sat min</sub> minimum arterial oxygen saturation, *SBP* systolic blood pressure, *DBP* diastolic blood pressure, *GLU-0* fasting blood glucose level, *GLU-120* blood glucose level at 120 min of oral glucose tolerance test, *T-C* total cholesterol, *TG* triglycerides, *HDL-C* high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, *LDL-C* low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, *WBC* white blood cell count, *hsCRP* high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, *P-SEL* P-selectin, *PSGL-1* P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1, *ns* nonsignificant; p-values correspond to the Kruskal-Wallis test

no difference in P-SEL has been noticed between "non-desaturators" (ODI <10%) when compared with "desaturators" (ODI  $\geq$ 10%) (Priou et al. 2010). In the experimental rat model, blood P-SEL content increased in the apnea group (Nacher et al. 2007). There are, however, studies failing to show the dependence of blood P-SEL content on OSA severity, although it correlated with BMI (Robinson et al. 2004).

In this study, we also found an increase in the blood content of PSGL-1, a P-SEL glycoprotein

ligand, depending on the OSA severity. The association of PSGL-1 and AHI was particularly strong in OSA-2 and OSA-3 groups. PSGL-1 is strongly associated with P-SEL in OSA-3 group. In contrast, PSGL-1 is weakly associated with BMI. It is rather hard to compare our results with the literature data as there is a paucity of studies on the content of PSGL-1 in the course of OSA. In a study by Horváth et al. (2018), the authors fail to report an appreciable difference in



PSGL-1 content between OSA and non-OSA patients.

We did not find any appreciable differences in the duration of NREM-3 sleep stage, expressed as a percentage of total sleep time, across all of the OSA groups investigated. Interestingly, strong adverse P-SEL-NREM-3 and PSGL-1-NREM-3 associations were unravelled. Currently, there are no data linking disorders of sleep stages with cardiovascular risk. Further investigations are required to explore whether a reduction in

	OSA-0	OSA-1	OSA-2	OSA-3	OSA-1, 2, 3	All patients
Molecule	(n = 16)	(n = 16)	(n = 16)	(n = 16)	(n = 52)	(n = 64)
P-SEL						
AHI			0.517	0.503	0.689	0.735
BMI						0.390
Waist					0.328	0.372
Neck		0.520			0.498	0.498
NREM1						
NREM2				0.524	0.391	0.324
NREM3				-0.612	-0.381	-0.268
O <sub>2 Sat aver</sub>					-0.294	-0.384
O2 Sat min					-0.402	-0.606
WBC				0.629		0.319
hsCRP						0.265
Glu-0						
Glu-120						
T-C						
PSGL-1			0.559	0.840	0.454	0.466
PSGL-1						
AHI			0.786	0.802	0.554	0.556
BMI						0.284
Neck					0.298	0.337
NREM1						
NREM2						
NREM3				-0.556	-0.306	
O <sub>2 Sat aver</sub>		0.499				
O2 Sat min		0.621				-0.274
WBC				0.720		
hsCRP	0.535					0.342
Glu-0			-0.512			
Glu-120				0.503		
T-C			0.690			
LDL-C					0.290	

**Table 2** Associations of P-selectin (P-SEL) andP-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) with theinvestigated parameters, when significant in at least one

group of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) severity (Spearman's rho correlation coefficients)

*AHI* apnea/hypopnea index, *BMI* body mass index, *Waist* waist circumference, *Neck* neck circumference, *NREM* non-rapid eye movement sleep stage,  $O_{2 Sat}$  aver average arterial oxygen saturation,  $O_{2 Sat}$  min minimum arterial oxygen saturation, *WBC* white blood cell count, *hsCRP* high-sensitive C-reactive protein, *Glu-0* fasting blood glucose level, *Glu-120* blood glucose level at 120 min of oral glucose tolerance test, *T-C* total cholesterol, *T-C* total cholesterol, *LDL-C* low-density lipoprotein cholesterol

NREM-3 sleep could be an early presage of the development of arteriosclerosis.

Atherosclerosis is a chronic inflammatory disease, resulting from the interplay of dysfunctional endothelium with systemic hemostatic and inflammatory mechanisms (Lui and Sau-Man 2012). It is characterized by the accumulation of lipids and fibrous elements especially in large arteries (Lusis 2000). This process is the main cause of cardiovascular disorders (CVD), including stroke, myocardial infract, and heart failure, the irreversible effects of advanced atherosclerosis. The early stage of atherosclerosis is a challenge for clinical practice, especially since patients could benefit from therapeutic modifications of CVD risk factors. One of the earliest stages of atherosclerosis is leukocyte rolling on activated endothelium, which is **Table 3** Multiple regression analysis showing factors significantly affecting the outcome variables P-selectin (P-SEL) and P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1)

in the groups of patients with increasing severity of obstructive sleep apnea (OSA)

Outcome variable	OSA-0	OSA-1	OSA-2	OSA-3
P-SEL	n/a	n/a	n/a	p = 0.0008 for
				P-SEL and AHI
				P-SEL and NREM2
				P-SEL and NREM3
				P-SEL and WBC
				P-SEL and PSGL-1
				$(\beta = 1.12; R^2 = 0.87)$
PSGL-1	n/a	n/a	p = 0.0004 for	p < 0.0001 for
			PSGL-1 and AHI	PSGL-1 and AHI
			$(\beta = 0.67, R^2 = 0.83)$	$(\beta = 0.42, R^2 = 0.95)$
			PSGL-1and Glu-0	PSGL-1 and Glu-120
			PSGL-1 and T-C	PSGL-1 and NREM3
				PSGL-1 and WBC

*AHI* apnea-hypopnea index, *NREM* non-REM sleep stage, *WCB* white blood cell count, *Glu-0* fasting blood glucose level, *Glu-120* blood glucose level at 120 min of oral glucose tolerance test, *T-C* total cholesterol,  $\beta$  standardized coefficient indicating the strength of the independent influence of a predictor variable on the outcome variable,  $R^2$  coefficient describing the percentage of linear changes of an outcome variable by linear changes of a predictor variable, n/a non-applicable, i.e., no variable was related to either P-SEL or PSGL-1

promoted by the adhesion molecules P-SEL and its glycoprotein ligand PSGL-1. Enhanced plasma content of P-SEL reflects both endothelial dysfunction and platelet activation (Blann et al. 2003). Burger and Wagner (2003) have shown that P-SEL contributes to atherosclerosis through mediating the monocyte rolling, recruitment of leukocytes to atherosclerotic lesions, and facilitation of thrombosis.

P-SEL is elevated in the blood of patients with acute myocardial infraction (Chiu et al. 2005; Ikeda et al. 1994). Moreover, an inhibitor of P-SEL suppresses plaque formation, rupture, and the intimal bleeding (Guo et al. 2015). Chung et al. (2009) and O'Connor et al. (1999) have reported the elevation of P-SEL in congestive heart failure, although it failed to associate with the ejection fraction. Interestingly, the authors find no difference in P-SEL depending on the ischemic and nonischemic background of heart failure, nor does the content of P-SEL depend on the use or not of acetylsalicylic acid by patients. P-SEL also is elevated in line with the progressing vascular dysfunction of hypertension (Sanada et al. 2005; Verhaar et al. 1998) and in

the early stage of progressing ischemic stroke (Wang et al. 2013).

PSGL-1 is constitutively expressed on the cell surface (Kappelmayer and Nagy Jr 2017; Frenette et al. 2000). It recruits leukocytes and platelets into the atherosclerotic lesions (Huo and Xia 2009; Frenette et al. 2000). It also adversely affects lipid metabolism as reduced content of total cholesterol, LDL-C, and triglycerides and elevated HDL-C are noticed in PSGL-1-deficient mice (Li et al. 2018). Ozaki et al. (2014) have shown that PSGL-1 expression is higher in acute than in stable coronary insufficiency, possibly due to plaque instability (Kitamura et al. 2018). These findings are supported by the experimental studies in the mouse showing that PSGL-1 deficiency is associated with reduced atherosclerosis burden and less endothelial damage (Luo et al. 2012).

Elevated risk of atherosclerosis in OSA patients has been widely discussed. Untreated OSA leads to increased morbidity and mortality. Cardiovascular disorders and their sequelae are the most frequent complications (Lavie et al. 1995). The Sleep Health Heart Study has shown the odds ratio for patients with AHI >11 of 1.27

68

for coronary artery disease and 1.58 for stoke (Lui and Sau-Man 2012). McNicholas and Bonsigore (2007) consider OSA as an independent risk factor of cardiovascular events and show that CPAP therapy reduces this risk. There also are a lot of data concerning the impact of OSA on stroke. Redline et al. (2010) in a study in about 5,500 patients have shown an association between OSA and ischemic stroke, with the adjusted hazard ratio of up to 2.86 in men. Those authors have also observed a risk of stroke in women with AHI >25, the risk increasing by 6% with each unit of AHI increase from 5 to 25. Similar findings have been reported in other studies (Sharma and Culebras 2016; Yaggi et al. 2005).

We conclude that in nondiabetic obstructive sleep apnea patients, moderate and severe stage of the disease enhances the blood content of the adhesion molecules P-selectin and P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 in the disease severitydependent manner as assessed from the magnitude of the apnea-hypopnea index. The increase in the content of adhesion molecules in OSA is liable to be conducive to enhance propensity for arteriosclerosis and consequently cardiovascular morbidity and mortality of the disease.

**Conflict of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interests in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Bioethics Committee of Poznan University of Medical Sciences in Poland.

**Informed Consent** Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

#### References

- Blann AD, Nadar SK, Lip GY (2003) The adhesion molecule P-selectin and cardiovascular disease. Eur Heart J 24(24):2166–2179
- Budhiraja R, Parthasarathy S, Quan SF (2007) Endothelial dysfunction in obstructive sleep apnea. J Clin Sleep Med 3(4):409–415

- Burger PC, Wagner DD (2003) Platelet P-selectin facilitates atherosclerotic lesion development. Blood 101(7):2661–2666
- Chiu CA, Wu CJ, Yang CH, Fang CY, Hsieh YK, Hang CL, Hung WC, Chen CJ, Chen SM, Yu TH, Yeh KH, Fu M, Yip HK (2005) Levels and value of soluble P-selectin following acute myocardial infarction: evaluating the link between soluble P-selectin levels and recruitment of circulating white blood cells and the marker for the rapid diagnosis of chest pain. Chang Gung Med J 28(10):699–707
- Chung I, Choudhury A, Patel J, Lip GY (2009) Soluble, platelet-bound, and total P-selectin as indices of platelet activation in congestive heart failure. Ann Med 41 (1):45–51
- Cofta S, Wysocka E, Dziegielewska-Gesiak S, Michalak S, Piorunek T, Batura-Gabryel H, Torlinski L (2013) Plasma selectins in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Adv Exp Med Biol 756:113–119
- Dyugovskaya L, Polyakov A, Lavie P, Lavie L (2008) Delayed neutrophil apoptosis in patients with sleep apnea. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 177(5):544–554
- Frenette PS, Denis CV, Weiss L, Jurk K, Subbarao S, Kehrel B, Hartwig JH, Vestweber D, Wagner DD (2000) P-Selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 (PSGL-1) is expressed on platelets and can mediate plateletendothelial interactions in vivo. J Exp Med 191 (8):1413–1422
- Gimbrone MA Jr, Garcia-Cardena G (2016) Endothelial cell dysfunction and the pathobiology of atherosclerosis. Circ Res 118(4):620–636
- Guo L, Sun G, Wang G, Ning W, Zhao K (2015) Soluble P-selectin promotes acute myocardial infarction onset but not severity. Mol Med Rep 11(3):2027–2033
- Hansson GK (2005) Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 352 (16):1685–1695
- Horváth P, Lázár Z, Mészáros M, Gálffy G, Puskás R, Losonczy G, Kunos L, Bikov A (2018) The role of Pselectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) in the pathogenesis of obstructive sleep apnea. Eur Respir J 52 (Suppl 62):PA2536
- Huo Y, Xia L (2009) P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 plays a crucial role in the selective recruitment of leukocytes into the atherosclerotic arterial wall. Trends Cardiovasc Med 19(4):140–145
- Ikeda H, Nakayama H, Oda T, Kuwano K, Muraishi A, Sugi K, Koga Y, Toshima H (1994) Soluble form of P-selectin in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Coron Artery Dis 5(6):515–518
- Johnson-Tidey RR, McGregor JL, Taylor PR, Poston RN (1994) Increase in the adhesion molecule P-selectin in endothelium overlying atherosclerotic plaques. Coexpression with intercellular adhesion molecule-1. Am J Pathol 144(5):952–961
- Jurado-Gamez B, Bujalance Cabrera C, Caballero Ballesteros L, Marin Hinojosa C, Munoz Cabrera L, Perez-Jimenez F, Lopez-Miranda J (2012) Association of cellular adhesion molecules and oxidative stress
with endothelial function in obstructive sleep apnea. Intern Med 51(4):363–368

- Kappelmayer J, Nagy B Jr (2017) The interaction of selectins and PSGL-1 as a key component in thrombus formation and cancer progression. Biomed Res Int 2017:6138145
- Kapur VK, Auckley DH, Chowdhuri S, Kuhlmann DC, Mehra R, Ramar K, Harrod CG (2017) Clinical practice guideline for diagnostic testing for adult obstructive sleep apnea: an American Academy of Sleep Medicine Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Sleep Med 13(3):479–504
- Kitamura K, Sato K, Sawabe M, Yoshida M, Hagiwara N (2018) P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) expressing CD4 T cells contribute plaque instability in acute coronary syndrome. Circ J 82(8):2128–2135
- Laratta CR, Ayas NT, Povitz M, Pendharkar SR (2017) Diagnosis and treatment of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. CMAJ 189(48):E1481–E1488
- Lavie P, Herer P, Peled R, Berger I, Yoffe N, Zomer J, Rubin AH (1995) Mortality in sleep apnea patients: a multivariate analysis of risk factors. Sleep 18 (3):149–157
- Ley K (2003) The role of selectins in inflammation and disease. Trends Mol Med 9(6):263–268
- Li B, Lu X, Wang J, He X, Gu Q, Wang L, Yang Y (2018) The metabonomics study of P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) deficiency inhibiting the progression of atherosclerosis in LDLR(-/-) mice. Int J Biol Sci 14(1):36–46
- Lui MM, Sau-Man M (2012) OSA and atherosclerosis. J Thorac Dis 4(2):164–172
- Luo W, Wang H, Ohman MK, Guo C, Shi K, Wang J, Eitzman DT (2012) P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 deficiency leads to cytokine resistance and protection against atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E deficient mice. Atherosclerosis 220(1):110–117
- Lusis AJ (2000) Atherosclerosis. Nature 407 (6801):233–241
- McEver RP (2001) Adhesive interactions of leukocytes, platelets, and the vessel wall during hemostasis and inflammation. Thromb Haemost 86(3):746–756
- McNicholas WT, Bonsigore MR (2007) Sleep apnoea as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease: current evidence, basic mechanisms and research priorities. Eur Respir J 29(1):156–178
- Minoguchi K, Yokoe T, Tazaki T, Minoguchi H, Oda N, Tanaka A, Yamamoto M, Ohta S, O'Donnell CP, Adachi M (2007) Silent brain infarction and platelet activation in obstructive sleep apnea. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 175(6):612–617
- Nacher M, Serrano-Mollar A, Farre R, Panes J, Segui J, Montserrat JM (2007) Recurrent obstructive apneas

trigger early systemic inflammation in a rat model of sleep apnea. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 155(1):93–96

- O'Connor CM, Gurbel PA, Serebruany VL (1999) Usefulness of soluble and surface-bound P-selectin in detecting heightened platelet activity in patients with congestive heart failure. Am J Cardiol 83 (9):1345–1349
- Ozaki Y, Imanishi T, Teraguchi I, Nishiguchi T, Orii M, Shiono Y, Shimamura K, Ishibashi K, Tanimoto T, Yamano T, Ino Y, Yamaguchi T, Kubo T, Akasaka T (2014) Association between P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 and pathogenesis in acute coronary syndrome assessed by optical coherence tomography. Atherosclerosis 233(2):697–703
- Priou P, Gagnadoux F, Tesse A, Mastronardi ML, Agouni A, Meslier N, Racineux JL, Martinez MC, Trzepizur W, Andriantsitohaina R (2010) Endothelial dysfunction and circulating microparticles from patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Am J Pathol 177(2):974–983
- Redline S, Yenokyan G, Gottlieb DJ, Shahar E, O'Connor GT, Resnick HE, Diener-West M, Sanders MH, Wolf PA, Geraghty EM, Ali T, Lebowitz M, Punjabi NM (2010) Obstructive sleep apnea-hypopnea and incident stroke: the sleep heart health study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 182(2):269–277
- Robinson GV, Pepperell JC, Segal HC, Davies RJ, Stradling JR (2004) Circulating cardiovascular risk factors in obstructive sleep apnoea: data from randomised controlled trials. Thorax 59(9):777–782
- Sanada H, Midorikawa S, Yatabe J, Yatabe MS, Katoh T, Baba T, Hashimoto S, Watanabe T (2005) Elevation of serum soluble E- and P-selectin in patients with hypertension is reversed by benidipine, a long-acting calcium channel blocker. Hypertens Res 28(11):871–878
- Senaratna CV, Perret JL, Lodge CJ, Lowe AJ, Campbell BE, Matheson MC, Hamilton GS, Dharmage SC (2017) Prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea in the general population: a systematic review. Sleep Med Rev 34:70–81
- Sharma S, Culebras A (2016) Sleep apnoea and stroke. Stroke Vasc Neurol 1(4):185–191
- Verhaar MC, Beutler JJ, Gaillard CA, Koomans HA, Fijnheer R, Rabelink TJ (1998) Progressive vascular damage in hypertension is associated with increased levels of circulating P-selectin. J Hypertens 16 (1):45–50
- Wang Q, Zhao W, Bai S (2013) Association between plasma soluble P-selectin elements and progressive ischemic stroke. Exp Ther Med 5(5):1427–1433
- Yaggi HK, Concato J, Kernan WN, Lichtman JH, Brass LM, Mohsenin V (2005) Obstructive sleep apnea as a risk factor for stroke and death. N Engl J Med 353 (19):2034–2041

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2020) 10: 71–79 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2020\_507 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 13 March 2020



Nutritional Status and Dietary Patterns in Adults with Severe Obstructive Sleep Apnea

Anna Jeznach–Steinhagen, Katarzyna Okręglicka, Aneta Nitsch–Osuch, Aneta Czerwonogrodzka-Senczyna, and Małgorzata Barnaś

#### Abstract

Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) is associated with daytime sleepiness, obesity, and lifestyle and dietary changes. The potential role of diet in OSA has been largely unexplored. The aim of the study was to assess nutritional status and dietary patterns in OSA patients. The study was conducted in 137 adult patients (48 women and 89 men) aged 31-79 suffering from OSA. The following diagnostic procedures were undertaken: polysomnography, anthropometric measurements, and a dietary pattern questionnaire. We found that 128 (93.4%) patients were overweight or obese with the mean body mass index (BMI) of  $33.2 \pm 6.1$  kg/m<sup>2</sup> and weight of  $98.0 \pm 20.2$  kg. The mean percentage of total body fat was  $45.0 \pm 5.5\%$  in women and  $32.5 \pm 5.5\%$  in men. Obesity was associated with the severity of OSA, expressed by apnea/hypopnea

K. Okręglicka (🖂) and A. Nitsch–Osuch Department of Social Medicine and Public Health, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: kokreglicka@wum.edu.pl

#### M. Barnaś

index. We further found that the waist-to-hip ratio in women, but the neck circumference or percentage of body fat in men, characterizes best the OSA patients. Referring to dietary habits, half of the patients consumed white bread on a daily basis, 35.8% of them had whole grain bread in the diet, and only 16.8% consumed fish at least two portions a week. A third of patients used butter as a spread for bread or a source of fat for cooking, 2.9% of them used soft margarine, and 20.4% used olive or canola oil. Fruits and vegetables were consumed by 60% and 38% of patients, respectively. Refined sugar and sweets were used by 31.4% of patients every day. We conclude that excessive body weight, which may portend the development of OSA, is characterized by different anthropometric variables in men and women. Further, improper dietary habits seem conducive to the gain in body weight and thus may be at play in the pathogenesis of OSA.

#### Keywords

Body fat · Dietary patterns · Nutritional status · Obesity · Obstructive sleep apnea

A. Jeznach–Steinhagen and A. Czerwonogrodzka-Senczyna

Department of Clinical Dietetics, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

Department of Internal Medicine, Pulmonary Diseases and Allergy, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland

### 1 Introduction

Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) is one of the very common diseases in the general population. Among the other factors, the prevalence of OSA depends on age and sex and is estimated at 13% in men and 6% in women aged 30-70 years; it has shown a relative percentage increase by 14-55% over the last 20 years (Peppard et al. 2013). OSA is characterized by recurrent collapse of the upper airway during sleep, resulting in partial or complete obstructive of airflow limitation, leading to a decrease in blood oxygenation, subsequent arousals, fragmented sleep, and excessive daytime sleepiness. Untreated OSA is associated with significant comorbidity and can lead to many cardiovascular complications (Kumor et al. 2013). The main risk of OSA is obesity. According to WHO data, the number of obese patients is growing and has significant impact on the healthcare system. In 2016, 39% of women and 39% of men aged 18 and over were overweight worldwide. Fifty to 70% of overweight and obese subjects have OSA (Young et al. 2002). Including epidemiological data, OSA still remains underdiagnosed in obese subjects. Moreover, OSA and obesity are considered independent risk factors for cardiovascular diseases and atherosclerosis progression. The main measure of obesity is body mass index (BMI), strongly correlated with the severity of OSA. Other anthropometric parameters are also closely related to OSA. Waist-to-hip ratio is a reliable correlate of OSA irrespective of gender. Neck circumference is an independent risk factor for male, but not for female OSA patients. These different aspects of obesity may contribute to the pathogenesis of OSA (Lim et al. 2014). BMI, neck circumference, and a high Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS) are independently predictive of moderate-to-severe OSA in males, whereas age, neck circumference, and morning headaches are independently predictive in females (Earl et al. 2019). The waist-to-hip ratio and neck measures also associate with OSA severity assessed from arterial oxygen desaturations or apnea/hypopnea

index (AHI) (Tom et al. 2018). De Melo et al. (2019) have reported that a higher amount of food intake during the evening period may diminish sleep quality in moderate and severe OSA patients. Those authors also report the presence of a moderate association between the resting energy expenditure or sleep quality and the incidence of OSA, although this association seems insensitive to disease severity.

The present study seeks to define the nutritional status of OSA patients by dietary intake and anthropometric measures and to evaluate the relation of OSA to the obesity metrics, such as BMI, body fat content, muscle mass, neck circumference, and their association with OSA severity, assessed by AHI.

#### 2 Methods

#### 2.1 Patients

There were 137 untreated patients enrolled into the study (M/F, 89/48), who presented symptoms suggestive of OSA and were referred to the in-sleep polysomnography (PSG) investigation (Nox Medical, Reykjavík, Iceland) between June 2017 and June 2018. The assessment of a sleep structure was performed according to the recommendations of Hori et al. (2001). The patients completed a questionnaire on snoring, observed apneas, comorbidities, and medicines used. Sleepiness was assessed with EPS, with scores  $\geq 10$  classified as excessive daytime sleepiness. All of the patients with previously diagnosed or treated OSA and those after bariatric surgery were not eligible for the study.

The diagnosis OSA was established according to the recommendations of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine, which require an AHI  $\geq$ 5/h of sleep in the presence of typical OSA symptoms or AHI  $\geq$ 15/h, regardless of the clinical manifestation (Kapur et al. 2017). Only were patients with the severe OSA (AHI >30/h) recruited to the study.

## 2.2 Nutritional Assessment

A physical examination was performed, and the following parameters were recorded: neck circumference, waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), body mass index (BMI, kg/m<sup>2</sup>), and the central (visceral) obesity as a WHR >1 and peripheral obesity as a WHR <0.8. Body weight and height were measured using a Seca 799 station and column scales, with the accuracy of  $\pm 0.1$  kg/cm (Seca, Chino, CA). The interpretation of BMI data followed the classification set by the WHO, i.e., underweight <18.5 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, normal weight 18.5–25.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, overweight 25–30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, and obese  $\geq$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>. Whole-body impedance (BIA, wrist to ankle) was measured using the Maltron BioScan 920-II multifrequency bioelectrical impedance analyzer (Maltron BioScan, Rayleigh, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Before taking the BIA measurement, the patients were instructed with the following guidelines: no heavy exercise 12 h before the test, no large meals or caffeinated products 4 h before the test, and consumption of liquids limited to 1% of body weight or two 8 oz. glasses of water 2 h before the test.

A 62-item non-quantitative food frequency questionnaire (FFQ-6) was used for the assessment of food intake. The questionnaire was used in the form of a table that included selected food products (see Table 4). Patients determined the frequency of food consumption using a 6-point scale, using the following score: daily, 6 points; 4–5 times a week, 5 points; 2–3 times a week, 4 points; once a week, 3 points; 2–3 times a month, 2 points; and rarely, 1 point. The tool collected information on the frequency of consumption of 62 assorted product groups, representing 8 main food groups consumed in the last 12 months.

## 2.3 Statistical Elaboration

Data were expressed as means  $\pm$  SD. Differences between groups were evaluated with a *t*-test and one-way analysis of variance ANOVA, followed by post hoc Fisher's test as appropriate. The association between the frequency of consumption of food products and gender was assessed with Pearson's correlation coefficient. A *p*-value <0.05 denoted statistically significant differences. A commercial statistical package of Statistica v13.3 was used (StatSoft, Tulsa, OK).

#### 3 Results

## 3.1 Obstructive Sleep Apnea (OSA) Patients' Characteristics

Thirty nine subjects (28.5%) were overweight ( $25 \leq BMI \leq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ), and 88 subjects (64.2%) were obese (BMI >  $30 \text{ kg/m}^2$ ). According to the International Diabetes Federation criteria for waist circumference, 89.3% of men and 100% of women had abdominal obesity. Further, 95.2% men and 87.5% women have elevated WHR (>0.90 for men and > 0.85 for women). Most of the anthropometric parameters were greater in men than those in women, particularly the neck circumference, waist circumference, WHR, and muscle mass. Only were the hip circumference and body fat statistically greater in women (Table 1).

All of the OSA patients had increased sleepiness measured by the ESS scale. Sleepiness score was higher in women than that in men (11.2  $\pm$  4.9 vs. 10.1  $\pm$  4.8, respectively, p = 0.239). In contrast, the mean AHI was higher in men – 39.7  $\pm$  23.9 *per* hour of sleep – and it was somehow lower in women, 31.6  $\pm$  25.3 *per* hour (p > 0.05). There was no difference in SpO<sub>2</sub> between genders (Table 2).

In male OSA patients, AHI, and thus disease severity, significantly associated with the neck circumference, hip circumference, waist circumference, body fat, and BMI. In female patients, AHI associated with WHR only (Table 3).

## 3.2 Frequency of Food Consumption (FFQ Questionnaire Results) in Obstructive Sleep Apnea Patients

About one half of the OSA patients (53.5%) consumed white bread every day. Only did 35.8% of

Parameter	Men $(n = 89)$	Women $(n = 48)$	р
Age (years)	$54.2 \pm 12.3$	$58.4 \pm 11.8$	0.054
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$32.6 \pm 6.1$	34.1 ± 6.1	0.176
Neck circumference (cm)	$44.5 \pm 5.1$	$39.0 \pm 2.1$	< 0.001
Waist circumference (cm)	$110.5 \pm 15.7$	$104.1 \pm 11.1$	0.020
Hip circumference (cm)	$109.3 \pm 11.8$	$114.4 \pm 9.7$	0.017
Waist-to-hip ratio	$1.0 \pm 0.1$	$0.9 \pm 0.1$	< 0.001
Body fat (%)	$32.5 \pm 5.8$	$45.0 \pm 5.5$	< 0.001
Muscle mass (kg)	$33.8 \pm 4.7$	$21.1 \pm 2.8$	< 0.001

 Table 1
 Patients' anthropometric characteristics

Data are means  $\pm$  SD; *t*-test

 Table 2
 Polysomnography parameters

Parameters	Men $(n = 89)$	Women $(n = 48)$	p
AHI (per hour of sleep)	$39.7\pm23.9$	31.6 ± 25.3	0.090
ESS score (points)	$10.1 \pm 4.8$	$11.2 \pm 4.9$	0.239
Mean SpO <sub>2</sub> during sleep (%)	$90.3 \pm 12.0$	91.8 ± 2.9	0.460
Minimum SpO <sub>2</sub> during sleep (%)	$78.0 \pm 12.8$	$80.4 \pm 8.1$	0.288

Data are means  $\pm$ SD; *AHI* apnea/hypopnea index – event per hour of sleep, *ESS* Epworth Sleepiness Scale, *SpO*<sub>2</sub> peripheral blood oxygen saturation (finger pulse oximetry); *t*-test

**Table 3** Associations between obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) severity assessed by apnea/hypopnea index (AHI) and anthropometric parameters

	AHI – men		AHI – women	
	r	р	r	p
Age	-0.035	0.767	0.034	0.849
Neck circumference	0.427	<0.001	-0.029	0.871
Hip circumference	0.435	<0.001	0.036	0.842
Waist circumference	0.421	<0.001	0.332	0.055
Waist-to-hip ratio	0.155	0.191	0.388	0.024
Body fat	0.496	<0.001	-0.022	0.901
Body mass index	0.488	<0.001	0.010	0.519

r Pearson's correlation coefficient

patients use grain bread, and 16.8% consume at least two portions of fish a week. Butter was a daily source of fat for 34.3%, soft margarine was for 2.9%, and olive oil or canola oil was for 20.4% of patients. Fruits were daily consumed by 60% and vegetables by 38% of patients. Sugar and sweets were everyday products for 31.4% of patients (Table 4).

The mean frequency of bread consumption was similar in male and female OSA patients, amounting to 2–3 times per week. Milk consumption also was similar in both genders, consisting mostly of 2% fat milk; it varied from once a week to 2–3 times a month. All of the patients showed increased intake of poultry and pork rather than beef (once a week to 2–3 times a week vs. 2–3 times a month, respectively). Consumption of fruits and vegetables, whether fresh or refined, was similar in OSA women and men (Table 5).

### 4 Discussion

OSA is a common disease worldwide, affecting over 13% of men and 6% of women (Peppard et al. 2013). In a Polish epidemiological study, the diagnosis of OSA has been established in 7.5% of middle-aged population, and the prevalence of

	Men (%	Men (%)				Women (%)						
Food products	6	5	4	3	2	1	6	5	4	3	2	1
White bread	53.9	12.4	12.4	3.4	1.1	15.7	52.1	4.2	10.4	8.3	0.0	20.8
Whole grain bread	37.1	13.5	16.9	9.0	2.2	21.3	33.3	10.4	16.7	8.3	2.1	27.1
Milk 2% fat	25.8	5.6	5.6	2.2	3.4	57.3	12.5	2.1	8.3	8.3	4.2	60.4
Milk 3.2% fat	5.6	6.7	10.1	6.7	3.4	67.4	2.1	8.3	6.3	6.3	0.0	75.0
Pork	9.0	14.6	34.8	24.7	6.7	9.0	4.2	4.2	31.3	29.2	6.3	22.9
Poultry	2.2	21.3	42.7	19.1	4.5	10.1	10.4	8.3	50.0	22.9	0.0	6.3
Fish	1.1	4.5	10.1	31.5	19.1	23.6	2.1	0.0	16.7	31.3	14.6	22.9
Olive oil, canola oil	20.2	7.9	23.6	16.9	5.6	16.9	20.8	12.5	31.3	14.6	6.3	2.1
Butter	31.5	11.2	11.2	6.7	5.6	24.7	39.6	2.1	4.2	2.1	8.3	33.3
Fresh vegetables	25.8	28.1	16.9	7.9	4.5	7.9	35.4	20.8	18.8	2.1	0.0	12.5
Fresh fruits	40.4	13.5	20.2	5.6	5.6	5.6	50.0	20.8	10.4	0.0	2.1	6.3
Sugar and sweets	34.8	6.7	4.5	9.0	9.0	27.0	25.0	4.2	4.2	6.3	2.1	43.8

Table 4 Percentage of patients consuming each of the products listed corresponding to the frequency indicated by points from 6 to 1 as indicated in the table legend

Food frequency points: daily, 6 points; 4-5 times a week, 5 points; 2-3 times a week, 4 points; once a week, 3 points; 2-3 times a month, 2 points; rarely, 1 point

Men Women Statistics White bread  $4.7 \pm 1.8$  $4.4 \pm 2.0$  $\chi 2 = 0.809$ df = 5p = 0.976Whole grain bread  $4.1 \pm 1.9$  $3.8 \pm 2.0$  $\chi 2 = 5.01$ df = 5p = 0.414Milk 0.5% fat  $1.3 \pm 1.0$  $1.5 \pm 1.2$  $\chi 2 = 3.98$ df = 5p = 0.553Milk 2% fat  $\chi 2 = 8.08$  $2.8\pm2.2$  $2.2\pm1.8$ df = 5p = 0.152Milk 3.2% fat  $2.0\pm1.6$  $1.8\pm1.5$  $\chi 2 = 3.42$ df = 5p = 0.635Beef  $2.1\pm1.3$  $\chi 2 = 7.10$  $2.0\pm1.1$ df = 5p = 0.213Pork  $3.7\pm1.3$  $3.0\pm1.4$  $\chi 2 = 8.97$ df = 5p = 0.110Poultry  $3.7 \pm 1.2$  $3.9\pm1.2$  $\chi 2 = 10.55$ df = 5p = 0.061Fish  $\chi 2 = 3.82$  $2.5\,\pm\,1.2$  $2.6\pm1.2$ df = 5p = 0.576Olive oil, canola oil  $3.7 \pm 1.7$  $4.2 \pm 1.3$  $\chi 2 = 7.28$ df = 5p = 0.200

 Table 5
 Mean frequency of consumption of food products by gender

(continued)

	Men	Women	Statistics
Butter	3.8 ± 2.1	3.6 ± 2.3	$\chi 2 = 8.17$ df = 5 p = 0.147
Soft margarine	1.4 ± 1.2	1.1 ± 0.5	$\chi 2 = 3.90$ df = 4 p = 0.419
Fresh vegetables	4.4 ± 1.5	4.6 ± 1.7	$\chi 2 = 6.36$ df = 5 p = 0.273
Stewed vegetables	2.1 ± 1.9	2.3 ± 1.7	$\chi 2 = 5.46$ df = 6 p = 0.486
Steamed vegetables	2.7 ± 1.8	3.2 ± 1.8	$\chi 2 = 2.78$ df = 5 p = 0.733
Fresh fruits	4.7 ± 1.5	5.1 ± 1.4	$\chi 2 = 7.12$ df = 5 p = 0.212
Nuts and seeds	$1.8 \pm 1.4$	$1.7 \pm 1.4$	$\chi 2 = 3.49$ df = 5 p = 0.625
Legumes	1.9 ± 1.2	1.8 ± 1.3	$\chi 2 = 9.98$ df = 5 p = 0.076
Sugar and sweets	3.7 ± 2.2	3.0 ± 2.2	$\chi 2 = 6.35$ df = 5 p = 0.274

#### Table 5 (continued)

Data were expressed as means  $\pm$  SD. Food frequency points: daily, 6 points; 4–5 times a week, 5 points; 2–3 times a week, 4 points; once a week, 3 points; 2–3 times a month, 2 points; rarely, 1 point; Pearson's Chi-squared test

OSA was more than threefold greater in men (11.2%)than that in women (3.4%)(Plywaczewski et al. 2008). In the present study, we evaluated the nutritional habits of OSA patients. The most important drawback concerned the high intake of white bread, simple carbohydrates, and the presence of sweets and confectionery in the diet. In addition, a higher than recommended by WHO consumption of red meat and butter leads to high intake of saturated fatty acids. These findings demonstrate a less than healthy or optimum dietary pattern that falls rather far from the standard recommendations in the prevention of cardiovascular or metabolic, such as diabetes, disorders in OSA patients.

Data on food consumption in OSA patients are scarce, although such patients should require nutritional interventions due to the accompanying obesity. Reid et al. (2019) have shown that OSA associates with lower intake of whole grains, higher intakes of red meat, and a lower overall diet quality. Araghi et al. (2013) highlight the role of body weight in managing OSA by showing that weight gain and loss are consistently associated with increasing and decreasing AHI. The estimate is that a 10% weight loss may lead to as much as a 26% reduction in AHI (Peppard et al. 2013). A recent meta-analysis has confirmed that a significant reduction in AHI and other OSA signs and symptoms is caused by weight reduction and lifestyle interventions, the effect of which depended, to an extent, on OSA severity and gender (Carneiro-Barrera et al. 2019).

We further evaluated the patients' body composition and anthropometric parameters. The majority of patients showed overweight or obesity, with BMI and BF exceeding the recommended norms of the American Council on Exercise (BF% >25% for men and >32% for women). BMI values were greater in OSA men than those in women. We further found that the neck, hip, and waist circumference as well as the percentage of body fat were associated with increasing severity of OSA in men, but not clearly so in women, which underscores the presence of gender differences in the expression of disease severity. Nonetheless, an increased waist-to-hip ratio appears a much more sensitive indicator of OSA severity in women than in men. These findings are in line with the previous studies on sleep-related breathing disorders. Young et al. (2002) have reported an association between the risk of OSA and obesity, WHR, or neck circumference. Ip et al. (2004) and Ip et al. (2001) have shown that higher BMI is accompanied by a higher risk of apnea in Chinese patients, even though the BMI remains in the normal range. Similar conclusions have been reached in the Korean population, where BMI, male gender, and hypertension are closely associated with the risk for OSA (Kang et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2004). Likewise, Udwadia et al. (2004) have reported an association between BMI, neck circumference, and diabetes and the risk for OSA in Indian men. Polesel et al. (2019) have reached the same conclusion in the Brazilian population. These authors argue that waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio best prognosticate sleep-related breathing disorders in women, whereas neck circumference and waist-to-hip circumference are the best harbingers of mild OSA in men, with BMI remains a factor the most closely associated with severe OSA. However, BMI may not be a perfect parameter for the assessment of OSA severity. Sutherland et al. (2019) have found that South American OSA patients have a larger AHI when compared to African Americans, having a similar BMI. Cho et al. (2016) have also reported that OSA patients have a larger neck circumference than that in healthy control subjects. Further, the authors did not show any significant differences in BMI, waist circumference, or waist-to-hip ratio in OSA patients when compared with a control group, nor have they noticed any differences in neck circumference

between Asian and Caucasians patients. In contradistinction, Davidson and Patel (2008) have shown a much stronger association between waist circumference and the severity of sleeprelated breathing disorders than that for neck circumference or BMI. In that study, however, only were half of the patients obese, with waist circumference of more than 102 cm. The factors that have the greatest potential for prognosticating the development and identification of sleeprelated breathing disorders seemingly are highly multifarious and vary from study to study. Aside from disease severity, these factors depend not only on body built and anthropometric parameters but also on genetic and ethnic differences. From the clinical standpoint, there is a consistent impression that BMI and neck circumference rank first as prognostics of OSA development (Cizza et al. 2014; Simpson et al. 2010; Onat et al. 2009).

In conclusion, most of OSA patients are overweight and obese. There are gender differences in prognosticating the severity of OSA on the basis of anthropometric parameters. In women, waistto-hip ratio seems an optimum predictor of OSA severity, whereas the neck circumference and waist-to-hip circumference rank first in men. Most of OSA patients run an unhealthy and proarteriosclerotic diet, high in calories, fat, and simple carbohydrates and low in fish, fresh fruits, and vegetables. A nutritional intervention should become a routine part of counseling and management OSA patients.

**Conflict of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical University of Warsaw in Poland.

**Informed Consent** Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

## References

- Araghi MH, Chen YF, Jagielski A, Choudhury S, Banerjee D, Hussain S, Thomas GN, Taheri S (2013) Effectiveness of lifestyle interventions on obstructive sleep apnea (OSA): systematic review and metaanalysis. Sleep 36(10):1553–1562
- Carneiro-Barrera A, Diaz-Roman A, Guillen-Riquelme A, Buela-Casal G (2019) Weight loss and lifestyle interventions for obstructive sleep apnoea in adults: systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev 20 (5):750–762
- Cho JH, Choi JH, Suh JD, Ryu S, Cho SH (2016) Comparison of anthropometric data between Asian and Caucasian patients with obstructive sleep apnea: a meta-analysis. Clin Exp Otorhinolaryngol 9(1):1–7
- Cizza G, de Jonge L, Piaggi P, Mattingly M, Zhao X, Lucassen E, Rother KI, Sumner AE, Csako G, NIDDK Sleep Extension Study (2014) Neck circumference is a predictor of metabolic syndrome and obstructive sleep apnea in short-sleeping obese men and women. Metab Syndr Relat Disord 12(4):231–241
- Davidson TM, Patel MR (2008) Waist circumference and sleep disordered breathing. Laryngoscope 118 (2):339–347
- de Melo CM, Del Re MP, Dos Santos Quaresma MVL, Moreira Antunes HK, Togeiro SM, Lima Ribeiro SM, Tufik S, de Mello MT (2019) Relationship of evening meal with sleep quality in obese individuals with obstructive sleep apnea. Clin Nutr ESPEN 29:231–236
- Earl DE, Lakhani SS, Loriaux DB, Spector AR (2019) Predictors of moderate to severe obstructive sleep apnea: identification of sex differences. Sleep Breath 23(4):1151–1158
- Hori T, Sugita Y, Koga E, Shirakawa S, Inoue K, Uchida S, Kuwahara H, Kousaka M, Kobayashi T, Tsuji Y, Terashima M, Fukuda K, Fukuda N, Sleep Computing Committee of the Japanese Society of Sleep Research Society (2001) Proposed supplements and amendments to 'A manual of standardized terminology, techniques and scoring system for sleep stages of human subjects', the Rechtschaffen & Kales (1968) standard. Psychiatry Clin Neurosci 55(3):305–310
- Ip MS, Lam B, Lauder IJ, Tsang KW, Chung KF, Mok YW, Lam WK (2001) A community study of sleepdisordered breathing in middle-aged Chinese men in Hong Kong. Chest 119(1):62–69
- Ip MS, Lam B, Tang LC, Lauder IJ, Ip TY, Lam WK (2004) A community study of sleep-disordered breathing in middle-aged Chinese women in Hong Kong: prevalence and gender differences. Chest 125 (1):127–134
- Kang HH, Kang JY, Ha JH, Lee J, Kim SK, Moon HS, Lee SH (2014) The associations between anthropometric indices and obstructive sleep apnea in a Korean population. PLoS One 9(12):e114463

- Kapur VK, Auckley DH, Chowdhuri S, Kuhlmann DC, Mehra R, Ramar K, Harrod CG (2017) Clinical practice guideline for diagnostic testing for adult obstructive sleep apnea: an American Academy of sleep medicine clinical practice guideline. J Clin Sleep Med 13(3):479–504
- Kim J, In K, Kim J, You S, Kang K, Shim J, Lee S, Lee J, Lee S, Park C, Shin C (2004) Prevalence of sleepdisordered breathing in middle-aged Korean men and women. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 170 (10):1108–1113
- Kumor M, Bielicki P, Barnas M, Przybylowski T, Zielinski J, Chazan R (2013) Prevalence of metabolic syndrome diagnosis in patients with obstructive sleep apnoea syndrome according to adopted definition. Pneumonol Alergol Pol 81(5):417–423
- Lim YH, Choi J, Kim KR, Shin J, Hwang KG, Ryu S, Cho SH (2014) Sex-specific characteristics of anthropometry in patients with obstructive sleep apnea: neck circumference and waist-hip ratio. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 123(7):517–523
- Onat A, Hergenc G, Yuksel H, Can G, Ayhan E, Kaya Z, Dursunoğlu D (2009) Neck circumference as a measure of central obesity: associations with metabolic syndrome and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome beyond waist circumference. Clin Nutr 28(1):46–51
- Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, Palta M, Hagen EW, Hla KM (2013) Increased prevalence of sleepdisordered breathing in adults. Am J Epidemiol 177 (9):1006–1014
- Plywaczewski R, Bednarek M, Jonczak L, Zielinski J (2008) Sleep-disordered breathing in a middle-aged and older Polish urban population. J Sleep Res 17 (1):73–81
- Polesel DN, Nozoe KT, Tufik SB, Bezerra AG, Fernandes MTB, Bittencourt L, Tufik S, Andersen ML, Hachul H (2019) Gender differences in the application of anthropometric measures for evaluation of obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Sci 12(1):2–9
- Reid M, Maras JE, Shea S, Wood AC, Castro-Diehl C, Johnson DA, Huang T, Jacobs DR Jr, Crawford A, St-Onge MP, Redline S (2019) Association between diet quality and sleep apnea in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Sleep 42(1). https://doi.org/10. 1093/sleep/zsy194
- Simpson L, Mukherjee S, Cooper MN, Ward KL, Lee JD, Fedson AC, Potter J, Hillman DR, Eastwood P, Palmer LJ, Kirkness J (2010) Sex differences in the association of regional fat distribution with the severity of obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep 33(4):467–474
- Sutherland K, Keenan BT, Bittencourt L, Chen NH, Gislason T, Leinwand S, Magalang UJ, Maislin G, Mazzotti DR, McArdle N, Mindel J, Pack AI, Penzel T, Singh B, Tufik S, Schwab RJ, Cistulli PA, SAGIC Investigators (2019) A global comparison of anatomic risk factors and their relationship to obstructive sleep apnea severity in clinical samples. J Clin Sleep Med 15(4):629–639

- Tom C, Roy B, Vig R, Kang DW, Aysola RS, Woo MA, Harper RM, Kumar R (2018) Correlations between waist and neck circumferences and obstructive sleep apnea characteristics. Sleep Vigil 2(2):111–118
- Udwadia ZF, Doshi AV, Lonkar SG, Singh CI (2004) Prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing and sleep apnea in middle-aged urban Indian men. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169(2):168–173
- Young T, Shahar E, Nieto FJ, Redline S, Newman AB, Gottlieb DJ, Walsleben JA, Finn L, Enright P, Samet JM, Sleep Heart Health Study Research Group (2002) Predictors of sleep-disordered breathing in community-dwelling adults: the Sleep Heart Health Study. Arch Intern Med 162(8):893–900



## **Medication Compliance in COPD Patients**

Jacek Polański, Mariusz Chabowski, Natalia Świątoniowska-Lonc, Grzegorz Mazur, and Beata Jankowska-Polańska

#### Abstract

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is one of the most severe public health problems and a leading cause of death worldwide. One of the main reasons for poor control of the disease is low patient compliance with treatment plan. The aim of the study was to investigate sociodemographic and health status factors that may have an influence on adherence to treatment. There were 106 inpatients (F/M, 42/64; mean age 70  $\pm$  6 years) with COPD enrolled into this retrospective study. Patients completed the Adherence to Refills and Medications Scale (ARMS) to assess adherence to therapy. We found that the mean ARMS score was  $23.1 \pm 6.8$ . About 86% of patients had low adherence, and 14% had good adherence (mean score  $3.2 \pm 2.4$ ). The low-adherence patients were more likely to be older (p = 0.020), female (p = 0.011), single (p = 0.019), not professionally active (p =0.049), hospitalized more often

Department and Clinic of Internal and Occupational Diseases and Hypertension, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

M. Chabowski

(p = 0.005) and for a longer time (p = 0.046), feel worse (p = 0.023), experience a greater impact of the disease on sleep quality (p = 0.008) and daily activities (p = 0.001), and had a higher GOLD stage of COPD when compared to patients with good adherence patients (p = 0.012). Multiple factor analysis demonstrates that independent adverse predictors of the ARMS score included the following: being single (OR = 3.18), having had more than eight hospitalizations (OR = 1.18), and experiencing dysfunction in daily activities (OR = 1.79). Male gender (OR = 0.77) and longer than 21-day hospitalizations (OR = 0.93) were independent positive predictors of adherence. In conclusion, COPD patients demonstrate a low level of adherence to pharmacotherapy. Adherence is adversely affected by sociodemographic (older age, female gender, being single, and professionally inactive) and clinical factors (more frequent hospitalizations, perception of poor wellbeing, disordered sleep and daily functioning, and a higher GOLD stage).

#### Keywords

 $\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{l} Adherence \ to \ treatment \ \cdot \ COPD \ \cdot \ Health \\ status \ \cdot \ Pharmacotherapy \ \cdot \ Sociodemographic \\ factors \end{array}$ 

J. Polański and G. Mazur

Department of Oncology and Palliative Care, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

N. Świątoniowska-Lonc and B. Jankowska-Polańska (⊠) Department of Clinical Nursing, Faculty of Health Science, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland e-mail: bianko@poczta.onet.pl

## 1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a leading cause of chronic morbidity and mortality worldwide. It involves a permanent restriction of air flow through the airways, which is typically progressive and associated with a significant chronic inflammatory response of the respiratory tract to inhaled particles and gases. The Global Burden of Disease (GBD) organization estimates that the number of COPD patients in the world exceeds 328 million, including 168 million men and 160 million women (Vos et al. 2012). In 1990, COPD was the sixth most common cause of death, but the mortality is growing. In the year 2000, COPD already ranked fourth, and by 2020, an estimated 4.7 million people will die from COPD, making it the third most common cause of death worldwide (López-Campos et al. 2016). These changes are due to a rise in tobacco smoking, increasing environmental pollution in developing countries, and a longer life expectancy. Epidemiological studies covering the entire Polish population are lacking, but available estimates put the number of COPD patients in Poland at two million (Niżankowska-Mogilnicka et al. 2007).

In most patients, the available pharmaceutical treatment enables full control of the disease, significant alleviation of symptoms, and a reduction of exacerbation risk. One of the main reasons for poor control of the disease is low adherence to treatment plan, including pharmacotherapy, lifestyle and diet modifications, and a lack of cooperation with the medical caretakers. In 2003, WHO listed nonadherence to treatment among the world's most serious health problems, as it constitutes a major obstacle to benefiting from evidence-based therapy (Burkhart and Sabaté 2003). According to a WHO report, less than 50% of chronically ill patients adhere to their treatment, which adversely affects treatment effectiveness, patients' quality of life, and the economic side of treatment. In Poland, the percentage of COPD patients who continue treatment with inhaled medication at the end of 1-year follow-up does not exceed 21% (Kardas et al. 2012).

In literature, there is no clarity yet regarding the impact of certain factors on adherence in COPD. Therefore, the purpose of the present study was to determine the influence of the selected variables on adherence to pharmaceutical treatment in COPD patients.

## 2 Methods

#### 2.1 Patients and Survey Instrument

This retrospective study included 106 inpatients (F/M, 42/64; mean age 70  $\pm$  6 years) diagnosed with COPD and treated at the Lower Silesian Lung Center in Wroclaw, Poland. The Adherence to Refills and Medications Scale (ARMS) was a survey tool to assess adherence to therapy. Sociodemographic and clinical data were obtained from medical files. The ARMS has been developed by Kripalani et al. (2009) and used in patients with coronary artery disease and other chronic conditions, including hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes mellitus. The survey consists of 12 items gathered in 2 subscales: adherence to taking medications (8 items) and adherence to refilling prescriptions (4 items). Responses are scored on a 4-point Likert-type scale as "none", "some of the time", "most of the time", and "all of the time", assuming the values from 1 to 4, respectively. The score range is from 12 to 48; the lower the score, the better the adherence (Lomper et al. 2018).

Sociodemographic data were obtained from the patient files and concerned gender, age, marital status, residence, education, and professional activity. Clinical data referred to body mass index (BMI), cigarette smoking habit, number and duration of hospitalizations, perceived well-being, impact of the disease on sleep quality and daily activities, and medications. Patients were stratified according to the current GOLD classification of COPD severity, using a four-stage GOLD classification: GOLD I mild, GOLD II moderate, GOLD III severe, and GOLD IV very severe (Le et al. 2019).

## 2.2 Statistical Elaboration

Continuous variables were expressed as means  $\pm$ SD and ordinal variables as counts and percentages. Quantitative variables were assessed for significance of differences using the Mann-Whitney U test. Comparison of qualitative variables was performed using the Chi-squared test with Yates's correction for  $2 \times 2$  tables or with Fisher's exact test in case of low counts. The influence of quantitative variables on the dichotomous variable (high vs. low adherence) was analyzed using logistic regression, and the results were presented as odds ratio (OR) with a 95% confidence interval (CI). Multivariate analysis of the independent influence of the variables studied on the quantitative variable was performed using linear regression, and the results were shown as regression model variable values with a 95% confidence interval (95% CI). A p-value <0.05 defined statistical significance of differences and associations. The analysis was performed using the R software v3.6.1 (R Core Team 2019).

#### Results

3

## 3.1 Sociodemographic and Clinical Characteristics of Patients in Relation to Adherence to Treatment

A total ARMS score of 12–15 points was interpreted as high adherence and scores of  $\geq 16$ as low adherence. Accordingly, low adherence was found in 85.9% of patients and high adherence in the remaining 14.1%; a difference between the groups was significant (p < 0.05). In the low-adherence group, the patients predominated who were female, older, widowed, single, and retired (Table 1).

Low-adherence patients were hospitalized more often, and their current hospitalization was longer. Overall, patients in the low-adherence group had more severe disease and poorer perception of wellbeing and experienced a more significant impact of COPD on daily activities and sleep (Table 2).

		High adherence	Low adherence	All	<i>p</i> -
Variable		(n = 15)	( <i>n</i> = 91)	(n = 106)	value
Age (year)	Mean $\pm$ SD	$66.8 \pm 4.81$	$70.7 \pm 6.0$	$70.2\pm5.9$	0.020
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Mean $\pm$ SD	$25.0 \pm 3.3$	$25.3\pm 6.0$	$25.2\pm5.7$	0.892
Pack-years	Mean $\pm$ SD	$28.7 \pm 18.1$	$37.6 \pm 24.9$	$36.3 \pm 24.2$	0.132
Gender	Female	1 (6.7%)	41 (45.1%)	42 (39.6%)	0.011
	Male	14 (93.3%)	50 (55.0%)	64 (60.4%)	
Marital status	In relationship	13 (86.7%)	44 (48.4%)	57 (53.8%)	0.019
	Single	0 (0.0%)	20 (22.0%)	20 (18.9%)	
	Widowed	2 (13.3%)	27 (29.7%)	29 (27.4%)	
Residence	Urban	5 (33.3%)	27 (29.7%)	32 (30.2%)	0.768
	Rural	10 (66.7%)	64 (70.3%)	74 (69.8%)	
Education	Primary	3 (20.0%)	35 (38.5%)	38 (35.9%)	0.295
	High school	8 (53.3%)	42 (46.2%)	50 (47.2%)	
	College/	4 (26.7%)	14 (15.4%)	18 (17.0%)	
	university				
Professional	Active	8 (53.3%)	21 (23.1%)	29 (27.4%)	0.049
activity	Unemployed	0 (0.0%)	4 (4.0%)	4 (3.8%)	
	Retired	7 (46.7%)	66 (72.3%)	73 (68.9%)	
Cigarette smoking	Smokers	12 (80.0%)	72 (79.1%)	84 (79.3%)	1.000
	Non-smokers	3 (20.0%)	19 (20.9%)	22 (20.8%)	

 Table 1
 Sociodemographic characteristics of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients in relation to the level of adherence to therapy

BMI body mass index. The p-value corresponds to high vs. low-adherence difference for all items in a given category of variables

Variable $(n = 13)$ $(n = 13)$ $(n = 10)$ $(n = 10$	Variable		High adherence	Low adherence	All	<i>p</i> -
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		1.4	(n = 13)	(n = 91)	(n = 106)	value
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Number of hospitalizations	1-4	13 (80.7%)	38 (41.8%)	51 (48.1%)	0.005
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		5-8	2 (13.3%)	38 (41.8%)	40 (37.7%)	-
		>8	0 (0.0%)	15 (16.5%)	15 (14.2%)	
	Current hospitalization	< 7 days	12 (80.0%)	37 (40.7%)	49 (46.2%)	0.046
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		8–14 days	3 (20.0%)	33 (36.3%)	36 (34.0%)	_
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		15–21 days	0 (0.0%)	15 (16.5%)	15 (14.2%)	_
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		> 21 days	0 (0.0%)	6 (6.6%)	6 (5.7%)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Perceived well-being	Very good	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.1%)	1 (0.9%)	0.023
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Good	11 (73.3%)	35 (38.5%)	46 (43.4%)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Moderate	4 (26.7%)	30 (33.0%)	34 (32.1%)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Poor	0 (0.0%)	25 (27.5%)	25 (23.6%)	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Impact of COPD on daily	None	2 (13.3%)	5 (5.5%)	7 (6.6%)	0.001
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	activities	Slight	10 (66.7%)	17 (18.7%)	27 (25.5%)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Moderate	2 (13.3%)	28 (30.8%)	30 (28.3%)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Significant	1 (6.7%)	18 (19.8%)	19 (17.9%)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Very significant	0 (0.0%)	23 (25.3%)	23 (21.7%)	
Slight         3 (20.0%)         18 (19.8%)         21 (19.8%)           Moderate         1 (6.7%)         15 (16.5%)         16 (15.1%)           Significant         1 (6.7%)         18 (19.8%)         19 (17.9%)           Very significant         1 (6.7%)         25 (27.5%)         26 (24.5%)           Feeling rested after a night's sleep         Yes         10 (66.7%)         30 (33.0%)         40 (37.7%)         0.027           Medications <sup>a</sup> SAMA         5 (33.3%)         61 (67.0%)         66 (62.3%)         0.535           SABA         2 (13.3%)         11 (12.1%)         13 (12.3%)         1.000           LABA         8 (53.3%)         55 (60.4%)         63 (59.4%)         0.814           Theophylline         1 (6.7%)         30 (33.0%)         31 (29.3%)         0.064           Theophylline         1 (6.7%)         30 (33.0%)         31 (29.3%)         0.062           GOLD stage         I         9 (60.0%)         18 (19.8%)         27 (25.5%)         0.012	Impact of COPD on sleep	None	9 (60.0%)	15 (16.5%)	24 (22.6%)	0.008
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Slight	3 (20.0%)	18 (19.8%)	21 (19.8%)	-
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Moderate	1 (6.7%)	15 (16.5%)	16 (15.1%)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Significant	1 (6.7%)	18 (19. 8%)	19 (17.9%)	
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Very significant	1 (6.7%)	25 (27.5%)	26 (24.5%)	-
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Feeling rested after a night's	Yes	10 (66.7%)	30 (33.0%)	40 (37.7%)	0.027
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	sleep	No	5 (33.3%)	61 (67.0%)	66 (62.3%)	-
SABA         2 (13.3%)         11 (12.1%)         13 (12.3%)         1.000           LABA         8 (53.3%)         55 (60.4%)         63 (59.4%)         0.814           LAMA         5 (33.3%)         57 (62.6%)         62 (58.5%)         0.064           Theophylline         1 (6.7%)         14 (15.4%)         15 (14.2%)         0.690           Glucocorticoids         1 (6.7%)         30 (33.0%)         31 (29.3%)         0.062           II         9 (60.0%)         18 (19.8%)         27 (25.5%)         0.012           II         5 (33.3%)         39 (42.9%)         44 (41.5%)         0.12	Medications <sup>a</sup>	SAMA	5 (33.3%)	23 (25.3%)	28 (26.4%)	0.535
Image         Image <th< td=""><td></td><td>SABA</td><td>2 (13.3%)</td><td>11 (12.1%)</td><td>13 (12.3%)</td><td>1.000</td></th<>		SABA	2 (13.3%)	11 (12.1%)	13 (12.3%)	1.000
Interview         Interview <t< td=""><td></td><td>LABA</td><td>8 (53.3%)</td><td>55 (60.4%)</td><td>63 (59.4%)</td><td>0.814</td></t<>		LABA	8 (53.3%)	55 (60.4%)	63 (59.4%)	0.814
Initial         Initial <thinitial< th=""> <thinitial< th=""> <thi< td=""><td></td><td>LAMA</td><td>5 (33,3%)</td><td>57 (62.6%)</td><td>62 (58.5%)</td><td>0.064</td></thi<></thinitial<></thinitial<>		LAMA	5 (33,3%)	57 (62.6%)	62 (58.5%)	0.064
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Theophylline	1 (6 7%)	14 (15 4%)	15 (14 2%)	0.690
GOLD stage         I         9 (60.0%)         18 (19.8%)         27 (25.5%)         0.012           II         5 (33.3%)         39 (42.9%)         44 (41.5%)		Glucocorticoids	1 (67%)	30 (33 0%)	31 (29 3%)	0.062
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	GOLD stage	I	9 (60 0%)	18 (19.8%)	27 (25 5%)	0.012
$\frac{11}{10} = \frac{5}{5} \frac{5}{5} \frac{5}{5} \frac{5}{5} \frac{5}{7} \frac{5}{7} \frac{1}{7} $	COLD Singe	<u>-</u>	5 (33 3%)	39 (42 9%)	44 (41 5%)	-
111  1(6.7%)  22(24.2%)  23(21.7%)		III	1 (6 7%)	22 (24 2%)	23 (21 7%)	-
$\frac{11}{1000} = \frac{10000}{12000000000000000000000000000000$		IV	0 (0.0%)	12 (13.2%)	12 (11.3%)	-

**Table 2** Clinical characteristics of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients in relation to the level of adherence to therapy

<sup>a</sup>Total exceeds 100%, as the item allowed for multiple choices. The p-value corresponds to high- vs. low-adherence difference for all items in a given category of variables, unless otherwise indicated

#### 3.2 Level of Adherence to Treatment

The mean ARMS score was  $23.1 \pm 6.8$  points or 1.9 points *per* question, meaning that the average frequency of adherent behaviors was slightly lower than "some of the time". The mean score concerning "medication taking" subscale was  $15.0 \pm 4.4$  points or 1.9 points *per* question,

meaning that the nonadherence to taking medications also was slightly lower than "some of the time". Likewise, the mean score in "prescription refilling" subscale was  $8.1 \pm 2.7$  points or 2.0 points *per* question, meaning that the adherence to getting prescription refills also corresponded to "some of the time" category (Table 3).

ARMS	Range (points)	n	Mean $\pm$ SD	Mean per question
Overall ARMS score	12–48	106	$23.1\pm 6.8$	1.9
Taking medications	8–32	106	$15.0 \pm 4.4$	1.9
Refills	4–16	106	$8.1 \pm 2.7$	2.0

Table 3 Adherence to therapy in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients of the study

ARMS the adherence to refills and medications scale

## 3.3 Multiple Factor Analysis of the Impact of Variables on Adherence to Treatment

Logistic regression demonstrates a single significant independent predictor of low adherence to treatment, which turned out to be male gender, with OR = 0.77, meaning a 23.6% decrease in adherence compared to females (p < 0.05). Linear regression demonstrates that the independent significant predictors of a total ARMS score were the following (Table 4):

- Marital status: compared to being married, being widowed increased the score by a mean of 3.2 points.
- Number of hospitalizations: compared to one to four hospitalizations, more than eight hospitalizations increased the score by a mean of 7.5 points.
- Duration of current hospitalization: compared to hospitalization shorter than 7 days, hospitalization longer than 21 days decreased the score by a mean of 8.2 points.
- Impact of COPD on daily activities: compared to no impact, a strong impact increased the score by a mean of 15.6.

## 3.4 Multiple Factor Analysis for Taking Medications and Refilling Prescriptions

Linear regression demonstrates that the independent significant (p < 0.05) predictors of ARMS score in the subscale of taking medications were the following (Table 5):

- Number of hospitalizations: compared to one to four hospitalizations, more than eight hospitalizations increased the score by a mean of 4.8 points.
- Duration of current hospitalization: compared to hospitalization shorter than 7 days, hospitalization longer than 21 days decreased the score by a mean of 5.2 points.
- Impact of COPD on daily activities: compared to no impact, a significant impact increased the score by a mean of 10.1 points.

Significant predictors of ARMS score in the subscale of refilling prescriptions were the following:

- Number of hospitalizations: compared to one to four hospitalizations, more than eight hospitalizations increased the score by a mean of 2.7 points.
- Impact of COPD on daily activities: compared to no impact, a significant impact increased the score by a mean of 5.5 points.

## 4 Discussion

The literature data indicate that COPD patients have a lower level of adherence than those with cardiovascular disease, hypercholesterolemia, osteoporosis, depression, or diabetes. COPD treatment is primarily based on inhalation therapy, though most patients prefer oral medications. Adherence in patients with inhalation therapy is low. In a study by Wiśniewski et al. (2014), 67% of patients adhered to treatment just for up to 30 days after discharge from the hospital. In

			Adherence			Total score		
Variable		OR	95% CI	p	OR	95% CI	p	
Age (year)		1.01	0.99; 1.02	0.528	0.11	-0.20; 0.41	0.490	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		0.10	0.98; 1.01	0.744	-0.15	-0.39; 0.09	0.222	
Pack-years		1.00	0.99; 1.01	0.761	-0.05	-0.17; 0.06	0.355	
Gender	Female	1	ref.		ref.			
	Male	0.77	0.67; 0.91	0.001	-0.67	-3.21; 1.87	0.601	
Marital status	In relationship	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Single	1.11	0.90; 1.37	0.324	1.13	-2.40; 4.66	0.525	
	Widowed	1.02	0.85; 1.24	0.825	3.18	0.06; 6.30		
Residence	Urban	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Rural	1.12	0.93; 1.36	0.231	-0.16	-3.38; 3.06	0.923	
Education	Primary	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	High school	0.90	0.76; 1.08	0.260	-0.99	-4.01; 2.03	0.517	
	College/ university	0.89	0.71; 1.13	0.338	-0.73	-4.74; 3.29	0.718	
Professional activity	Active	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Unemployed	1.09	0.75; 1.63	0.658	3.68	-3.12; 10.47	0.284	
	Retired	1.06	0.87; 1.31	0.553	-2.89	-6.38; 0.61	0.104	
Number of hospitalizations	1-4	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	5-8	1.15	0.88; 1.50	0.323	4.27	-0.31; 8.86	0.067	
	> 8	1.18	0.81; 1.72	0.406	7.51	1.03; 13.98	0.024	
Current hospitalization	< 7 days	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	8–14 days	0.99	0.79; 1.23	0.914	-2.33	-6.07; 1.41	0.218	
	15-21 days	0.95	0.67; 1.36	0.787	-4.49	-10.58; 1.60	0.146	
	> 21 days	0.93	0.59; 1.47	0.748	-8.22	-16.04; -0.40	0.040	
Impact of COPD on daily	None	1.00	ref.		ref.			
activities	Slight	1.03	0.75; 1.41	0.868	-0.54	-5.91; 4.82	0.841	
	Moderate	1.36	0.89; 2.09	0.161	2.64	-4.66; 9.95	0.472	
	Significant	1.64	0.99; 2.71	0.060	4.82	-3.81; 13.44	0.269	
	Very significant	1.787	0.89; 3.60	0.109	15.60	3.60; 27.59	0.012	

**Table 4** Multiple factor analysis of the impact of variables on the level of adherence to therapy in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients

(continued)

			Adherence			Total score		
Variable		OR	95% CI	p	OR	95% CI	p	
SAMA	No	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Yes	1.01	0.80; 1.30	0.966	-0.32	-4.19; 3.56	0.871	
SABA	No	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Yes	1.28	0.94; 1.74	0.126	2.71	-2.60; 8.03	0.312	
LABA	No	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Yes	1.01	0.82; 1.25	0.893	-0.44	-4.00; 3.12	0.806	
LAMA	No	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Yes	1.07	0.86; 1.34	0.543	0.08	-3.73; 3.88	0.969	
Theophylline	No	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Yes	0.93	0.68; 1.28	0.674	-1.38	-6.81; 4.06	0.615	
Glucocorticoids	No	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Yes	1.20	0.86; 1.68	0.289	-0.94	-6.68; 4.79	0.744	
GOLD stage	Ι	1.00	ref.		ref.			
	Π	1.11	0.82; 1.50	0.519	2.54	-2.67; 7.75	0.334	
	III	0.92	0.54; 1.57	0.749	7.27	-1.94; 16.47	0.120	
	IV	1.01	0.49; 2.06	0.981	9.85	-2.40; 22.09	0.113	

#### Table 4 (continued)

Data are odds ratio (OR) 95% confidence intervals (95% CI); *BMI* body mass index; *SAMA* short-acting muscarinic antagonist; *SABA* short-acting inhaled beta-agonist; *LABA* long-acting  $\beta$ 2-agonists; *LAMA* long-acting muscarinic antagonists.

screening tests performed in daily clinical practice, adherence to treatment in asthma and COPD patients rarely exceeds 50%. In the present study, good adherence was found in just 14.2% of patients. This is a considerably lower percentage than that found in other studies.

There is an ongoing discussion on the influence sociodemographic variables have on adherence. COPD patients who live alone often nonadhere to treatment. In studies by Bourbeau and Bartlett (2008) and Khdour et al. (2012), sociodemographic factors failed to associate with adherence to treatment. On the other hand, Tashkin (1995) has demonstrated that a stable family situation and available social support are linked to better adherence. Social support is among the most commonly reported predictors in chronically ill patients. Research has repeatedly shown a beneficial impact of social support on quality of life in patients with high blood pressure, acute coronary syndromes, atrial fibrillation, and heart failure (Ji et al. 2019). Social support plays an essential role in reducing stress, anxiety, and depression and in limiting the adverse influence of frailty in elderly patients.

In the present study, one factor that significantly affected adherence to treatment was the patient's daily functioning. COPD patients often quit work due to dyspnea and other symptoms, which decreases the perception of well-being and raises economic difficulties. All has an impact on both motivation to adhere to treatment and prescription refilling. The COPD patients in this study were in the seventh decade and often times with comorbidities, which made them use polypharmacy. The use of multiple drugs

		Taking medications			Refilling prescriptions		
Variable		r	95% CI	p	r	95% CI	p
Age (year)		0.05	-0.15; 0.25	0.612	0.06	-0.07; 0.18	0.382
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )		-0.09	-0.25; 0.07	0.265	-0.06	-0.16; 0.04	0.230
Pack-years		-0.03	-0.11; 0.05	0.422	-0.02	-0.07; 0.02	0.331
Gender	Female	ref.			ref.		
	Male	-1.12	-2.78; 0.55	0.185	0.45	-0.60; 1.49	0.398
Marital status	In relationship	ref.			ref.		
	Single	0.46	-1.84; 2.77	0.690	0.67	-0.79; 2.12	0.362
	Widowed	2.04	-0.00; 4.07	0.050	1.15	-0.14; 2.43	0.079
Residence	Urban	ref.			ref.		
	Rural	-0.31	-2.41; 1.80	0.770	0.15	-1.17; 1.48	0.819
Education	Primary	ref.			ref.		
	High school	-0.50	-2.47; 1.47	0.614	-0.49	-1.73; 0.76	0.438
	College/ university	-0.22	-2.84; 2.41	0.869	-0.51	-2.16; 1.14	0.538
Professional activity	Active	ref.			ref.		
	Unemployed	2.52	-1.92; 6.96	0.261	1.15	-1.64; 3.95	0.414
	Retired	-2.11	-4.39; 0.17	0.070	-0.78	-2.21; 0.66	0.286
Number of hospitalizations	1–4	ref.			ref.		
	5-8	2.78	-0.22; 5.77	0.069	1.50	-0.39; 3.38	0.118
	> 8	4.79	0.55; 9.02	0.027	2.72	0.06; 5.39	0.045
Current hospitalization	< 7 days	ref.			ref.		
	8–14 days	-0.82	-3.27; 1.62	0.504	-1.51	-3.05; 0.03	0.055
	15–21 days	-2.02	-6.00; 1.96	0.314	-2.46	-4.97; 0.04	0.054
	> 21 days	-5.24	-10.35; -0.13	0.045	-2.98	-6.19; 0.24	0.069
Impact of COPD on daily	None	ref.					
activities	Slight	0.11	-3.40; 3.62	0.951	-2.86	1.56; 0.56	0.559
	Moderate	2.03	-2.74; 6.81	0.398	-2.39	3.62; 0.69	0.686
	Significant	3.41	-2.23; 9.05	0.231	-2.14	4.95; 0.43	0.432
	Very significant	10.11	2.27; 17.95	0.012	0.55	10.42; 0.03	0.030

**Table 5** Multiple factor analysis of the impact of variables on taking medications and refilling prescriptions in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients

(continued)

			Taking medications			Refilling prescriptions		
Variable		r	95% CI	p	r	95% CI	p	
SAMA	No	ref.						
	Yes	0.095	-2.44; 2.63	0.941	-2.01	1.18; 0.61	0.608	
SABA	No	ref.						
	Yes	2.053	-1.42; 5.53	0.242	-1.53	2.84; 0.55	0.550	
LABA	No	ref.						
	Yes	-0.042	-2.37; 2.29	0.972	-1.86	1.07; 0.59	0.589	
LAMA	No	ref.						
	Yes	0.985	-1.50; 3.47	0.432	-2.48	0.66; 0.25	0.250	
Theophylline	No	ref.						
	Yes	-0.86	-4.42; 2.69	0.63	-2.75	1.72; 0.65	0.647	
Glucocorticoids	No	ref.						
	Yes	-1.49	-5.24; 2.26	0.429	-1.81	2.91; 0.64	0.642	
GOLD stage	I	ref.						
	Π	1.34	-2.07; 4.74	0.436	-0.94	3.35; 0.27	0.267	
	III	4.81	-1.21; 10.82	0.115	-1.33	6.24; 0.20	0.199	
	IV	5.45	-2.55; 13.45	0.178	-0.64	9.43; 0.09	0.086	

#### Table 5 (continued)

Data are regression coefficient r 95% confidence intervals (95% CI); *BMI* body mass index, *SAMA* short-acting muscarinic antagonist, *SABA* short-acting inhaled beta-agonist, *LABA* long-acting  $\beta$ 2-agonists, *LAMA* long-acting muscarinic antagonists

increases the risk of adverse effects, leading to a belief that the main treatment is rather ineffective or even harmful. As a result, patients often randomly discontinue medications, which worsens the course of a disease.

An association between perception of one's health and adherence has been documented (Wiśniewski et al. 2014). According to Sanduzzi et al. (2014),adverse consequences of nonadherence include a gradual deterioration of quality of life, a sense of lack of control over a disease, and a higher mortality. Likewise, poor treatment outcome associates with poor adherence (Mäkelä et al. 2013; van der Molen et al. 2002). In the present study, both frequent and longer hospitalizations were significant predictors of lower adherence. This finding is in line with those of the 3-year-long TORCH study that has

demonstrated a greater than twofold increase in the risk of death and a nearly twofold increase in the risk of rehospitalization in nonadherent patients (Vestibo et al. 2009). On the other hand, frequent COPD exacerbations may increase the perception of treatment necessity and thus portend better adherence.

In the present study, we found that female gender was associated with significantly lower adherence to treatment. That finding is at variance with most other studies, although some studies do report an association between gender and adherence (Kokturk et al. 2018; Müllerová et al. 2016). The influence of gender on adherence may be related to the increasing percentage of women who smoke cigarettes, a habit that may adversely affect daily functioning. Another factor, often reported as a predictor of adherence to treatment, is age. In this study we found that older age significantly associates with lower adherence. The finding is in line with the reports that show older age is a risk factor for nonadherence due to forgetfulness, cognitive impairment, and polypharmacy (Shrestha et al. 2015). However, the issue remains contentious as some studies show that old patients are more likely to adhere to treatment (Rand et al. 1995; Turner et al. 1995). Yet other studies fail to support any association between age and adherence (Khdour et al. 2012).

We also report in here that nonadherent patients belonged to higher GOLD classes and thus suffered from more severe COPD. Adherence has to do with the severity of respiratory function deterioration. Dyspnea, the most bothersome symptom, is related to a decrease in FEV1% (Duarte-de-Araújo et al. 2018). Nonetheless, a link between COPD severity and adherence is not full clear. Some studies show that more severe course of COPD increases the patients' motivation to counteract distressing symptoms (Ivanov et al. 2018; Jouleh et al. 2018). In contradistinction, Liao and Chen (2019) have reported that as many as 81% of patients with a low severity of COPD, assessed from a proportion of days covered with at least one COPD maintenance medication of more than 80%, adhere to treatment. In the same vein, Leiva-Fernández et al. (2014) have reported that patients with mild-to-moderate COPD use up more prescriptions for inhaled corticosteroids.

In conclusions, we believe we have shown in this study that COPD patients, in the main, demonstrate a low level of adherence to therapy. Older age, female gender, being single and professionally inactive, frequent and longer hospitalizations, poor perception of well-being, and more sever course of COPD are all factors that significantly impact adherence to treatment. Medical practice should include an evaluation of adherence to therapy in COPD patients to achieve the optimum outcome.

Acknowledgments The authors thank all of the patients who participated in the survey. This study received no external funding.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

**Ethical Approval** All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Wroclaw Medical University (approval no. 371/2019).

**Informed Consent** Written informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

#### References

- Bourbeau J, Bartlett SJ (2008) Patient adherence in COPD. Thorax 63(9):831–838
- Burkhart PV, Sabaté E (2003) Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action. J Nurs Scholarsh 35 (3):207
- Duarte–de–Araújo A, Teixeira P, Hespanhol V, Correia– de–Sousa J (2018) COPD: understanding patients' adherence to inhaled medications. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 13:2767–2773
- Ivanov Y, Nikolaev I, Nemeth I (2018) Real–life evaluation of COPD treatment in a Bulgarian population: a 1– year prospective, observational, noninterventional study. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 13:653–663
- Ji H, Fang L, Yuan L, Zhang Q (2019) Effects of exercise– based cardiac rehabilitation in patients with acute coronary syndrome: a meta–analysis. Med Sci Monit 25:5015–5027
- Jouleh B, Erdal M, Eagan TM, Bakke P, Gulsvik A, Nielsen R (2018) Guideline adherence in hospital recruited and population based COPD patients. BMC Pulm Med 1:195
- Kardas P, Czeleko T, Śliwczyński A (2012) Consistency and regularity of the COPD and asthma treatment in Poland – the adherence to therapeutic recommendations according to the national database of the prescription collection. In: Proceedings of the 10th International Conference of the Polish Pharmacoeconomics Society – ISPOR Poland Chapter, Warsaw
- Khdour MR, Hawwa AF, Kidney JC, Smyth BM, McElnay JC (2012) Potential risk factors for medication non–adherence in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Eur J Clin Pharmacol 68(10):1365–1373
- Kokturk N, Polatli M, Oguzulgen IK, Saleemi S, Al Ghobain M, Khan J, Doble A, Tariq L, Aziz F, El Hasnaoui A (2018) Adherence to COPD treatment in Turkey and Saudi Arabia: results of the ADCARE study. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 13:1377–1388

- Kripalani S, Risser J, Gatti ME, Jacobson TA (2009) Development and evaluation of the Adherence to Refills and Medications Scale (ARMS) among low– literacy patients with chronic disease. Value Health 12 (1):118–123
- Le LAK, Johannessen A, Hardie JA, Johansen OE, Gulsvik A, Vikse BE, Bakke P (2019) Prevalence and prognostic ability of the GOLD 2017 classification compared to the GOLD 2011 classification in a Norwegian COPD cohort. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 14:1639–1655
- Leiva–Fernández J, Leiva–Fernández F, García–Ruiz A, Prados–Torres D, Barnestein–Fonseca P (2014) Efficacy of a multifactorial intervention on therapeutic adherence in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): a randomized controlled trial. BMC Pulm Med 14:70
- Liao KM, Chen CY (2019) The association between adherence and dementia in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Medicine (Baltimore) 98(20):e15646
- Lomper K, Chabowski M, Chudiak A, Białoszewski A, Dudek K, Jankowska–Polańska B (2018) Psychometric evaluation of the Polish version of the Adherence to Refills and Medications Scale (ARMS) in adults with hypertension. Patient Prefer Adherence 12:2661–2670
- López-Campos JL, Tan VV, Soriano JB (2016) Global burden of COPD. Respirology 21(1):14–23
- Mäkelä MJ, Backer V, Hedegaard M, Larsson K (2013) Adherence to inhaled therapies, health outcomes and costs in patients with asthma and COPD. Respir Med 107(10):1481–1490
- Müllerová H, Landis SH, Aisanov Z, Davis KJ, Ichinose M, Mannino DM, Maskell J, Menezes AM, van der Molen T, Oh YM, Tabberer M, Han MK (2016) Health behaviors and their correlates among participants in the Continuing to Confront COPD International Patient Survey. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis 11:881–890
- Niżankowska–Mogilnicka E, Mejza F, Buist AS, Vollmer WM, Skucha W, Harat R, Pajak A, Gasowski J, Frey J, Nastalek P, Twardowska M, Janicka J, Szczeklik A (2007) Prevalence of COPD and tobacco smoking in Malopolska region – results from the BOLD Study in Poland. Pol Arch Intern Med 117(9):402–409

- R Core Team (2019) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.R-project. org. Accessed on 16 Feb 2020
- Rand CS, Nides M, Cowles MK, Wise RA, Connett J (1995) Long-term metered-dose inhaler adherence in a clinical trial. The lung health study research group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 152(2):580–588
- Sanduzzi A, Balbo P, Candoli P, Catapano GA, Contini P, Mattei A, Puglisi G, Santoiemma L, Stanziola AA (2014) COPD: adherence to therapy. Multidiscip Respir Med 9(1):60
- Shrestha R, Pant A, Shakya Shrestha S, Shrestha B, Gurung RB, Karmacharya BM (2015) A cross–sectional study of medication adherence pattern and factors affecting the adherence in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Kathmandu Univ Med J 13 (49):64–70
- Tashkin DP (1995) Multiple dose regimens. Impact on compliance. Chest 107(5 Suppl):176S–182S
- Turner J, Wright E, Mendella L, Anthonisen N (1995) Predictors of patient adherence to long-term home nebulizer therapy for COPD. The IPPB Study Group. Intermittent positive pressure breathing. Chest 108 (2):394–400
- van der Molen T, Pieters W, Bellamy D, Taylor R (2002) Measuring the success of treatment for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease – patient, physician and healthcare payer perspectives. Respir Med 96 (Suppl C):S17–S21
- Vestibo J, Anderson JA, Calverley P, Celli B, Ferguson GT, Jenkins C, Knobil K, Willits LR, Yates JC, Jones PW (2009) Adherence to inhaled therapy, mortality and hospital admission in COPD. Thorax 64 (11):939–943
- Vos T, Flaxman AD, Naghavi M et al (2012) Years lived with disability (YLDs) for 1160 sequelae of 289 diseases and injuries 1990–2010; a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease study 2010. Lancet 380(9859):2163–2196
- Wiśniewski D, Porzezińska M, Gruchała–Niedoszytko M, Niedoszytko M, Słomiński JM, Jassem E (2014) Factors influencing adherence to treatment in COPD patients and its relationship with disease exacerbations. Pneumonol Alergol Pol 82(2):96–104

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2020) 10: 93–100 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2020\_503 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 14 March 2020



# Seasonality of Respiratory Syncytial Virus Hospitalization

# August Wrotek, Małgorzata Czajkowska, and Teresa Jackowska

#### Abstract

Seasonality of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection is an area of limited knowledge. In this study, we set out to get insight into the epidemic characteristics of RSV. We retrospectively evaluated medical files of 512 hospitalizations in children due to RSV infection from January 2010 to July 2017. In this cohort of patients, there were 96.3% of children below 1 year of age; the median age was 2.8 months. The influence of weather condition during the week of hospitalization (WH) and also the preceding week (WP) on the rate of hospitalizations was also assessed. An overview of morbidity data demonstrates that the epidemic RSV season started from Week 50 of a year and lasts until Week 15 of the following year, with a peak between Week 4 and Week 10. The average monthly percentage rate of morbidity per year was as follows: December, 12.3%; January, 24.5%; February, 29%; and March, 21.7%. Hospitalizations were positively associated with the minimum and maximum outside air temperature during the WH (62.5% and 59.7%, respectively) and the WP (64.3% and 63.4%, respectively) and with relative humidity (WH 23% and WP

e-mail: tjackowska@cmkp.edu.pl

29.8%). A weak association with the wind speed was also noticed (WH 22% and WP 21%), while there was no influence of the level of atmospheric pressure on RSV morbidity. We conclude that seasonality of RSV is present between December and April each year, and morbidity is mostly influenced by minimum-maximum outside air temperature changes. Further epidemiological exploration is required to get a better knowledge on both active and passive immunization against RSV.

Keywords Airways · Bronchiolitis · Infection · Respiratory syncytial virus · Seasonality

### 1 Introduction

Lower respiratory tract infections (LRTI) are one of the major health concerns. Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is one of the most frequent and virulent pathogens causing LRTI. The exact global burden of RSV infections remains unknown. The estimate is that up to 20% of LRTI might be caused by RSV (Nair et al. 2010). The proportion increases in hospitalized LRTI, reaching 26%, and in children below 2 months of age, reaching 44% of cases (Hall et al. 2013). Clinical course of RSV infection varies from transient events to severe bronchiolitis and pneumonia. A vast majority of bronchiolitis caused by RSV is of particular concern (Hall

A. Wrotek, M. Czajkowska, and T. Jackowska (🖂)

Department of Pediatrics, Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw, Poland

Department of Pediatrics, Bielanski Hospital, Warsaw, Poland

et al. 2009) due particularly to children's young age and poor treatment options (Friedman et al. 2014; Ralston et al. 2014). Necrotizing bronchiolitis or pneumonia may require intensive care unit treatment (Simões et al. 2015).

There are data to suggest that the RSV season directly precedes the influenza outbreak (van Asten et al. 2016). Considering the ease of the RSV transmission and its impact on both morbidity and mortality in all age groups (Richter et al. 2016), intensified measures of preventing the disease deem warranted. To this end, predicting the RSV season is a paramount public health issue. RSV morbidity shows a seasonal pattern in temperate and subtropical latitudes (Tang and Loh 2014), while in the tropical climate, semiannual activity is observed (Hogan et al. 2016; Bloom-Feshbach et al. 2013). There is no effective vaccination against RSV as of yet. One of the hurdles is that the vaccine timing to prevent RSV infections, particularly in the youngest children, is a pivotal but unsettled issue (Caballero et al. 2017; Gálvez et al. 2017). Passive RSV prophylaxis can be currently achieved by administration of a monoclonal antibody, palivizumab, to infants at a high risk of severe RSV infection. The issue of prophylaxis is difficult to resolve due to high costs, differences in seasonality, and varying lengths of the RSV season in the different climate zones (Lee et al. 2017; Sanchez-Luna et al. 2017). Thus, exploration of a more precise RSV infection timeline may help adjust local prevention strategies (Panozzo et al. 2010).

There is a paucity of studies on the RSV incidence. The available data show a reverse association with outside temperature (Oliveira-Santos et al. 2016; Sirimi et al. 2016; du Prel et al. 2009) and a positive one with relative humidity (Nenna et al. 2017). The aim of the present study is to evaluate the RSV epidemiology in connection to meteorological conditions on the basis of RSV-related hospitalization in a single pediatric hospital ward in Warsaw, Poland. The issue was addressed by assessing the annual, monthly, and weekly fluctuations in the disease incidence depending on the weather condition.

#### 2 Methods

In this study, we retrospectively evaluated medical files of 512 children hospitalized due to RSV infection from January 2010 to July 2017. A vast majority of patients, 493 (96.3%) out of the 512, were below 12 months of age. The median age was 2.8 months, ranging from 8 days to 121 months. The infection was diagnosed on the basis of signs and symptoms indicating the involvement of the lower respiratory tract. It was confirmed using a rapid RSV diagnostic test and/or polymerase chain reaction (PCR), performed in a nasopharyngeal swabs. The RSV-related diagnoses, coded according to the ICD-10 manual, were in the order of frequency as follows: bronchiolitis (J21.0; 390 cases), pneumonia (J12.1; 65 cases), and bronchitis (J20.5; 57 cases). The following terms were further referred to in this epidemiological overview:

**Epidemic Week** a week when at least 2% (*ca* 1/52) of the total number of RSV cases was diagnosed each year.

**Epidemic Month** a month when at least 8.5% (*ca* 1/12) of the total number of RSV cases was diagnosed each year. Frequency of infection data was calculated as a percentage of all positive cases *per* month each year, and then the percentages were added up and divided by the number of years (7 years for July–December or 8 years for January–June). The mean percentage obtained was used in further considerations.

**Epidemic Year** a year when at least 13.3% of the total number of cases was diagnosed. The overall number of months evaluated was 90 (or 7.5 years), making a single year 1/90. The following formula was used:  $1/90 \times 12$  (or alternatively 1/7.5) = 13.3%.

**Meteorological Data** The RSV hospitalizations were referred to the daily outside temperature (maximum, minimum, and mean), mean daily relative humidity, mean daily wind speed, and mean daily atmospheric pressure. The data were obtained from a measurement station of the Institute of Meteorology and Water Management in Warsaw, Poland, at the Warsaw Chopin Airport, with the coordinates of 52°9'N, 20°58'E, located approximately 14 km away from the hospital. Taking into account the incubation period of RSV infection, leading to delayed hospitalization from infection onset, a 7-day backward adjustment was made in matching the meteorological data.

Data was expressed as arithmetic means  $\pm$ SD or medians with interquartile range (IQR). Data distribution was checked for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk test. An unpaired *t*-test or Mann-Whitney U test was used as required. The Spearman rank correlation coefficient *rho* was used to evaluate associations between sets of data. A p-value <0.05 defined statistically significant differences. The analysis was conducted using a commercial statistical package of Statistica v13 (StatSoft; Tulsa, OK).

#### 3 Results

A total number of RSV-related cases of infection *per* year varied between 30 in 2010 and 98 in 2013. There were annual fluctuations noticed. For instance, there were 98 (19.1% of total), 71 (13.9% of total), and 93 (18.2% of total)

cases, respectively. However, no fixed pattern of annual fluctuations could be observed (Table 1).

Table 2 shows monthly and weekly evaluations in more detail. The months with the greatest morbidity were December (12.3% of cases *per* year), January (24.5% of cases *per* year), February (29% of cases *per* year), and March (21.7% of cases *per* year). The epidemic season extended toward April in 2011 and 2014 (8.8% and 11.3% of cases *per* year, respectively). Most often, epidemic season starts from Week 50 of a year and lasts until Week 15 of the following year, reaching peak between Week 4 and Week 10 (Table 3).

Referring to the meteorological conditions, RSV hospitalizations were associated with outside temperature, relative humidity, and wind speed. No significant association was found with barometric pressure. Temperature is adversely associated with hospitalizations (maximum temperature rho = -0.597, minimum temperature -0.625, rho =and mean temperature rho = -0.613). After adjustment for a 7-day RSV incubation delay, i.e., taking the meteorological data 1 week before hospitalization, correlations for temperature and relative humidity became slightly stronger. The rho coefficient for the association of RSV hospitalizations with wind speed was weak, amounting to 0.200 before and 0.188 after the adjustment (Table 4).

**Table 1** The monthly and yearly number and percentage of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infections during2010–2017

	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	SUM	%
Jan	3	16	4	29	13	27	15	27	134	26.2
Feb	11	18	15	27	14	12	12	40	149	29.1
Mar	7	11	14	28	16	7	9	21	113	22.1
Apr	1	5	4	4	8	3	2	3	30	5.9
May	2	1	0	1	4	2	4	2	16	3.1
Jun	1	1	0	0	2	2	0	0	6	1.2
Jul	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	na	0	0.0
Aug	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	na	1	0.2
Sept	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	na	1	0.2
Oct	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	na	2	0.4
Nov	2	0	3	1	0	3	1	na	10	2.0
Dec	3	5	9	8	13	3	9	na	50	9.8
Total number	30	57	49	98	71	62	52	93	512	100
Total percentage	5.8	11.1	9.6	19.1	13.9	12.1	10.2	18.2	-	-

	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	Mean %
Jan	10.0	28.1	8.2	29.6	18.3	43.6	28.9	29.0	24.5
Feb	36.7	31.6	30.6	27.6	19.7	19.4	23.1	43.0	29.0
Mar	23.3	19.3	28.6	28.6	22.5	11.3	17.3	22.6	21.7
Apr	3.3	8.8	8.2	4.1	11.3	4.8	3.9	3.2	5.9
May	6.7	1.8	0.0	1.0	5.6	3.2	7.7	2.2	3.5
Jun	3.3	1.8	0.0	0.0	2.8	3.2	0.0	0.0	1.4
Jul	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	na	0.0
Aug	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.6	0.0	na	0.2
Sept	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.6	0.0	na	0.2
Oct	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.4	1.6	0.0	na	0.4
Nov	6.7	0.0	6.1	1.0	0.0	4.8	1.9	na	2.9
Dec	10.0	8.8	18.4	8.2	18.3	4.8	17.3	na	12.3

Table 2 Percentage of cases each month and the mean percentage during 7.5 years of the study period

na nonavailable

**Table 3** Percentage distribution of RSV-related hospitalizations by weeks in each epidemic season and the mean percentage in each week on yearly basis during 7.5 years of the study period

Week	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	Mean %
1	6.7	1.8	0.0	5.1	2.8	9.7	3.9	3.2	4.1
2	0.0	3.5	2.0	0.0	2.8	8.1	5.8	4.3	3.3
3	0.0	5.3	4.1	8.2	4.2	6.5	7.7	5.4	5.2
4	3.3	15.8	0.0	12.2	2.8	11.3	9.6	9.7	8.1
5	3.3	8.8	4.1	8.2	8.5	16.1	5.8	16.1	8.9
6	10.0	8.8	0.0	6.1	1.4	6.5	9.6	7.5	6.2
7	0.0	5.3	8.2	10.2	7.0	1.6	9.6	11.8	6.7
8	16.7	8.8	14.3	5.1	7.0	3.2	0.0	10.8	8.2
9	10.0	5.3	10.2	5.1	1.4	4.8	1.9	7.5	5.8
10	20.0	7.0	8.2	6.1	4.2	3.2	9.6	7.5	8.2
11	0.0	1.8	10.2	7.1	9.9	1.6	0.0	4.3	4.4
12	0.0	3.5	2.0	6.1	7.0	1.6	3.9	3.2	3.4
13	0.0	3.5	4.1	6.1	1.4	1.6	1.9	3.2	2.7
14	0.0	3.5	2.0	1.0	5.6	0.0	0.0	1.1	1.7
15	3.3	1.8	6.1	2.0	4.2	0.0	1.9	1.1	2.6
16	0.0	3.5	0.0	1.0	1.4	1.6	1.9	1.1	1.3
[]									
48	0.0	0.0	4.1	0.0	0.0	1.6	1.9	na	1.1
49	0.0	0.0	6.1	3.1	0.0	0.0	3.9	na	1.9
50	0.0	5.3	2.0	1.0	4.2	1.6	0.0	na	2.0
51	6. 7	3.5	6.1	2.0	5.6	0.0	7.7	na	4.5
52	3.3	0.0	4.1	2.0	8.5	3.2	5.8	na	3.8

na nonavailable

#### 4 Discussion

The findings of this study are generally in line with those present in the literature. The RSV seasonality varies, depending on both geographical location and climatic conditions. Annual epidemic seasons are observed in subtropical and temperate latitudes, while the infection pattern is less clear in tropical climate (Tang and Loh 2014; Bloom-Feshbach et al. 2013). In Europe, most of the research on the matter has been performed in the Mediterranean subtropical climate. The RSV seasons last from December until

Parameter	Before adjustment	After 7-day adjustment
Maximum temperature	-0.597	-0.634
Minimum temperature	-0.625	-0.643
Mean temperature	-0.613	-0.640
Relative humidity	0.230	0.298
Wind speed	0.200	0.188
Atmospheric pressure	ns	ns
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · ·

**Table 4** Correlation coefficient *rho* for the relationship between RSV-related hospitalizations and meteorological conditions

ns nonsignificant

March in Cyprus (Panayiotou et al. 2014) and Northern Portugal (Oliveira-Santos et al. 2016) and from December to February in Italy (Nenna et al. 2017). Those studies covered the periods of 3, 10, and 10 years, respectively, but the number of RSV patients evaluated in each (128, 367, and 266 patients, respectively) was lower than that in the present study. The largest study was conducted in Athens, covering 12 seasons and 2030 RSV patients (Sirimi et al. 2016), showing that the season lasted from December to April, with the highest incidence between January and March.

Poland is in temperate climate, and thus, relating the results above outlined to Polish patients might not be entirely correct. In this context, two studies from the neighboring Germany seem most relevant for comparison. Weigl et al. (2002) have investigated 384 RSV patients over a 7-year period, failing to notice a fixed RSV seasonal pattern. On the other hand, du Prel et al. (2009), investigating the effect of meteorological conditions on the hospitalization rate of 326 RSV patients over a 3-year period, have reported that the hospitalization rate was the only factor that inversely correlated with outside temperature, indicating increasing RSV frequency with decreasing temperature. Likewise, low temperature correlates with the RSV incidence in the studies by Oliveira-Santos et al. (2016) and Nenna et al. (2017). In the former study, RSV morbidity also is positively associated with wind speed and in the latter with relative humidity. However, the correlations between RSV hospitalizations and relative humidity or wind speed have not been confirmed in multivariable analysis, which may be explicable by the intertwined associations among temperature, relative humidity, and wind speed. In multivariable analysis performed by Sirimi et al. (2016), the average monthly temperature only achieved statistical significance regarding the association with the RSV incidence.

In the present study, we found a strong correlation of RSV hospitalizations with outside temperature, particularly the minimum temperature and with relative humidity. On the other hand, correlation with wind speed (approx. 20%) was rather weak and thus of minor influence on the meteorologically related RSV seasonality. We failed to find any appreciable association between atmospheric pressure and RSV hospitalizations, which is in line with the findings of du Prel et al. (2009). A question arises how lower temperature would facilitate spread of RSV. Studies suggest that the virus is more viable in secretions when temperature drops (Cui et al. 2015; Vandini et al. 2013). Low temperature, in itself, may also promote more indoor activity, while crowding is an essential risk factor for viral human-to-human spread (Jeena et al. 2003).

We also analyzed the possible influence of weather condition 1 week before hospital admission. This approach took into account a 7-day RSV incubation period, which could skew the effect on RSV morbidity and hospitalizations of meteorological factors at admission. In the main, found that the correlations we between RSV-related hospitalization rate and temperature or relative humidity became stronger after the backward meteorological adjustment. Similar approach of the evaluation of weather conditions preceding hospitalization by 7-10 days has been used in other studies (Oliveira-Santos et al. 2016;

Vandini et al. 2013). Likewise, a 14 km distance between the hospital and the meteorological station would rather be unlikely cause of result distortion. The climate and landscape differences are negligible in the city of Warsaw. Therefore, a single-site measurement, in all likelihood, reflects the meteorological condition within a wide perimeter. Moreover, the hospital serves patients from all over the city, as there is no hospital zoning in the current health-care system in Poland, so that a restriction to meteorological stations in the close hospital's vicinity could in fact be a source of bias. A comparably close distance has been reported in other studies (Sirimi et al. 2016).

In the present study, RSV detection was performed using a rapid immunochromatographic assay, and it was confirmed using PCR in some cases; both were qualitative analyses. A recent study by Midgley et al. (2017) has shown that PCR is more relevant regarding the determination of RSV seasonality. Nonetheless, high sensitivity and specificity of about 90-100% of a rapid test speaks in favor of reliability of this method of diagnosis (Mesquita et al. 2017; Peters et al. 2017). In an attempt to circumvent the bias of not including patients with RSV infection due to a defunct test result, the epidemic weeks and months were referred to the total number of confirmed RSV cases in a year and were expressed as a percentage. We also took a substantial leeway in considering what number of RSV hospitalizations would make the epidemic periods, assuming the presence of weeks containing more than one over 52 (ca 2%) and months containing more than one over 12 (ca 8.5%) of infection cases. Other possible biases were likely minimized in the present study by having over a 500-patient cohort, and the observation period extended to 90 months. Nonetheless, a single center study model could limit the interpretation and generalization of the results obtained. RSV seasonality may also be influenced by other factors, particularly those that are affected by weather condition, e.g., air pollution (Nenna et al. 2017; Ségala et al. 2008), which was not controlled for in the present study.

In conclusion, we believe we have shown that the RSV season starts around Week 50 of a year (late December) and lasts until Week 15 of the following year (half of April), with a peak between Week 4 and Week 10 (February and March). There are annual variations in the length of the epidemic RSV season, but the studies are too scarce to make generalizations to this end. RSV hospitalizations are mostly inversely influenced by the minimum temperature (64% correlation), followed by the relative humidity (30% correlation). Long-term explorations on widespread RSV infections are needed, which would help establish ways of passive and active prophylaxis and thus would much contribute to public health policies to mitigate the spread of virus.

Acknowledgments Our thanks go to the Institute of Meteorology and Water Management in Warsaw for providing meteorological data needed for this study. This study was supported by CMKP grant 501-1-020-19-19.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Center of Postgraduate Medical Education in Warsaw, Poland.

**Informed Consent** Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

#### References

- Bloom-Feshbach K, Alonso WJ, Charu V, Tamerius J, Simonsen L, Miller MA, Viboud C (2013) Latitudinal variations in seasonal activity of influenza and respiratory syncytial virus (RSV): a global comparative review. PLoS One 8:e54445
- Caballero MT, Polack FP, Stein RT (2017) Viral bronchiolitis in young infants: new perspectives for management and treatment. J Pediatr (Rio J) 93(Suppl 1):75–83
- Cui B, Zhang D, Pan H, Zhang F, Farrar J, Law F, van Doorn HR, Wu B, Ba-Thein W (2015) Viral aetiology of acute respiratory infections among children and associated meteorological factors in southern China. BMC Infect Dis 15:124

- du Prel JB, Puppe W, Gröndahl B, Knuf M, Weigl JA, Schaaff F, Schmitt HJ (2009) Are meteorological parameters associated with acute respiratory tract infections? Clin Infect Dis 49:861–868
- Friedman JN, Rieder MJ, Walton JM, Canadian Paediatric Society, Acute Care Committee, Drug Therapy and Hazardous Substances Committee (2014) Bronchiolitis: recommendations for diagnosis, monitoring and management of children one to 24 months of age. Paediatr Child Health 19:485–498
- Gálvez NMS, Soto JA, Kalergis AM (2017) New insights contributing to the development of effective vaccines and therapies to reduce the pathology caused by hRSV. Int J Mol Sci 18:pii: E1753
- Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Iwane MK, Blumkin AK, Edwards KM, Staat MA, Auinger P, Griffin MR, Poehling KA, Erdman D, Grijalva CG, Zhu Y, Szilagyi P (2009) The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. N Engl J Med 360:588–598
- Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Blumkin AK, Edwards KM, Staat MA, Schultz AF, Poehling KA, Szilagyi PG, Griffin MR, Williams JV, Zhu Y, Grijalva CG, Prill MM, Iwane MK (2013) Respiratory syncytial virus– associated hospitalizations among children less than 24 months of age. Pediatrics 132:e341–e348
- Hogan AB, Glass K, Moore HC, Anderssen RS (2016) Exploring the dynamics of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) transmission in children. Theor Popul Biol 110:78–85
- Jeena PM, Ayannusi OE, Annamalai K, Naidoo P, Coovadia HM, Guldner P (2003) Risk factors for admission and the role of respiratory syncytial virus– specific cytotoxic T–lymphocyte responses in children with acute bronchiolitis. S Afr Med J 93:291–294
- Lee SR, Kwok KL, Ng DKK, Hon KL (2017) Palivizumab for infants < 29 weeks in Hong Kong without a clear– cut season for respiratory syncytial virus infection–a cost–effectiveness analysis. J Trop Pediatr 64:418–425
- Mesquita FDS, Oliveira DBL, Crema D, Pinez CMN, Colmanetti TC, Thomazelli LM, Gilio AE, Vieira SE, Martinez MB, Botosso VF, Durigon EL (2017) Rapid antigen detection test for respiratory syncytial virus diagnosis as a diagnostic tool. J Pediatr 93:246–252
- Midgley CM, Haynes AK, Baumgardner JL, Chommanard C, Demas SW, Prill MM, Abedi GR, Curns AT, Watson JT, Gerber SI (2017) Determining the seasonality of respiratory syncytial virus in the United States: the impact of increased molecular testing. J Infect Dis 216:345–355
- Nair H, Nokes DJ, Gessner BD, Dherani M, Madhi SA, Singleton RJ, O'Brien KL, Roca A, Wright PF, Bruce N, Chandran A, Theodoratou E, Sutanto A, Sedyaningsih ER, Ngama M, Munywoki PK, Kartasasmita C, Simões EA, Rudan I, Weber MW, Campbell H (2010) Global burden of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children: a systematic review and meta–analysis. Lancet 375:1545–1555

- Nenna R, Evangelisti M, Frassanito A, Scagnolari C, Pierangeli A, Antonelli G, Nicolai A, Arima S, Moretti C, Papoff P, Villa MP, Midulla F (2017) Respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis, weather conditions and air pollution in an Italian urban area: an observational study. Environ Res 158:188–193
- Oliveira-Santos M, Santos JA, Soares J, Dias A, Quaresma M (2016) Influence of meteorological conditions on RSV infection in Portugal. Int J Biometeorol 60:1807–1817
- Panayiotou C, Richter J, Koliou M, Kalogirou N, Georgiou E, Christodoulou C (2014) Epidemiology of respiratory syncytial virus in children in Cyprus during three consecutive winter seasons (2010–2013): age distribution, seasonality and association between prevalent genotypes and disease severity. Epidemiol Infect 142:2406–2411
- Panozzo CA, Stockman LJ, Curns AT, Anderson LJ (2010) Use of respiratory syncytial virus surveillance data to optimize the timing of immunoprophylaxis. Pediatrics 126:e116–e123
- Peters RM, Schnee SV, Tabatabai J, Schnitzler P, Pfeil J (2017) Evaluation of Alere and RSV for rapid detection of respiratory syncytial virus in children hospitalized with acute respiratory tract infection. J Clin Microbiol 55:1032–1036
- Ralston SL, Lieberthal AS, Meissner HC, Alverson BK, Baley JE, Gadomski AM, Johnson DW, Light MJ, Maraqa NF, Mendonca EA, Phelan KJ, Zorc JJ, Stanko-Lopp D, Brown MA, Nathanson I, Rosenblum E, Sayles S 3rd, Hernandez-Cancio S, American Academy of Pediatrics (2014) Clinical practice guideline: the diagnosis, management, and prevention of bronchiolitis. Pediatrics 134:e1474–e1502
- Richter J, Panayiotou C, Tryfonos C, Koptides D, Koliou M, Kalogirou N, Georgiou E, Christodoulou C (2016) Aetiology of acute respiratory tract infections in hospitalised children in Cyprus. PLoS One 11: e0147041
- Sanchez-Luna M, Burgos-Pol R, Oyagüez I, Figueras-Aloy J, Sánchez-Solís M, Martinón-Torres F, Carbonell-Estrany X (2017) Cost–utility analysis of palivizumab for respiratory syncytial virus infection prophylaxis in preterm infants: update based on the clinical evidence in Spain. BMC Infect Dis 17:687
- Ségala C, Poizeau D, Mesbah M, Willems S, Maidenberg M (2008) Winter air pollution and infant bronchiolitis in Paris. Environ Res 106:96–100
- Simões EA, DeVincenzo JP, Boeckh M, Bont L, Crowe JE Jr, Griffiths P, Hayden FG, Hodinka RL, Smyth RL, Spencer K, Thirstrup S, Walsh EE, Whitley RJ (2015) Challenges and opportunities in developing respiratory syncytial virus therapeutics. J Infect Dis 211(Suppl 1): S1–S20
- Sirimi N, Miligkos M, Koutouzi F, Petridou E, Siahanidou T, Michos A (2016) Respiratory syncytial virus activity and climate parameters during a 12–year period. J Med Virol 88:931–937

- Tang JW, Loh TP (2014) Correlations between climate factors and incidence – a contributor to RSV seasonality. Rev Med Virol 24:15–34
- van Asten L, Bijkerk P, Fanoy E, van Ginkel A, Suijkerbuijk A, van der Hoek W, Meijer A, Vennema H (2016) Early occurrence of influenza A epidemics coincided with changes in occurrence of other respiratory virus infections. Influenza Other Respir Viruses 10:14–26
- Vandini S, Corvaglia L, Alessandroni R, Aquilano G, Marsico C, Spinelli M, Lanari M, Faldella G (2013) Respiratory syncytial virus infection in infants and correlation with meteorological factors and air pollutants. Ital J Pediatr 39(1):1
- Weigl JA, Puppe W, Schmitt HJ (2002) Seasonality of respiratory syncytial virus–positive hospitalizations in children in Kiel, Germany, over a 7–year period. Infection 30:186–192



# Factors Affecting Influenza Vaccination Rate in Adults with Asthma

Jeremy Bigaj, Natalie Czaicki, and Tadeusz M. Zielonka

#### Abstract

Asthma is considered one of the most common noncommunicable diseases worldwide, with an incidence of 5.4% in the Polish, adult population. Symptoms of the disease can be triggered or worsened by a variety of factors including viral infection such as influenza, affirming the necessity for prophylactic vaccination. However, there is concern among the general population of the possibility of anaphylactic response to vaccination, which can deter patients with allergic asthma for fear of triggering exacerbation of their condition. The objective of the study was to determine the extent to which patients with asthma adhere to a schedule of recommended vaccinations in Poland. Two hundred fourteen patients were recruited from specialist outpatient clinics in Warsaw to complete voluntarily an anonymous questionnaire created for the purpose of this study. Within the past year, 82% stated having at least one respiratory infection, and 72% of patients were aware of the

T. M. Zielonka (🖂)

Department of Family Medicine, Medical University of Warsaw, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: tadeusz.zielonka@wum.edu.pl recommendation for annual vaccination against the flu. Forty-three percent of patients reported receiving the flu vaccine at least once, and only 20% followed through with annual vaccination. The most common sources of information about the importance of annual flu vaccination were from their doctors (47%) and the media (26%). Relatively few asthmatic patients in Warsaw get annual flu vaccinations despite the recommendations. These results were mainly sourced due to uncorrected fears and a lack of information about the importance of prophylaxis in asthma. It is essential to create effective strategies to inform patients with asthma of the importance of annual vaccinations.

### Keywords

 $\label{eq:adults} \begin{aligned} Adults \cdot Asthma \cdot Education \cdot Flu \ vaccination \cdot \\ Motivation \cdot \ Prophylaxis \end{aligned}$ 

## 1 Introduction

Asthma is considered one of the most common noncommunicable diseases worldwide (WHO 2013). In Poland, a study by Liebhart et al. (2007) found the prevalence of asthma to be approximately 5.4% in adults, where family history, sex, and exposure to smoke and traffic-related air pollution were the most significant risk factors.

J. Bigaj

Ysbyty Gwynedd, Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board, North Wales, UK

N. Czaicki

Ipswich Hospital, East Suffolk and North Essex NHS Foundation Trust, Colchester, UK

The three main pathophysiological characteristics used in the diagnosis of asthma are chronic eosinophilic airway inflammation, airflow limitation, and bronchial hyperreactivity (Walford and Doherty 2014). The symptoms associated with asthma can be triggered or worsened by allergens, tobacco smoke, exercise, temperature, bacterial infections, and especially by viral infections such as influenza (GINA 2015). Viral infections can cause a variety of additional pathophysiological changes, the severity of which depends on the virus. For instance, infection by influenza usually leads to extensive epithelial necrosis (Soo-Kim et al. 2015). The influenza virus is a trigger that causes inflammation in the airways of people with asthma resulting in severe complications, such as exacerbation of asthma, hospitalization, or even death (CDC 2016). The influenza vaccine itself is usually made using egg proteins, which can be seen as a potential trigger for an allergic reaction and consequently exacerbation of asthma. However, not only are these reactions rare, studies have shown there is no significant increase in risk for patients with egg allergies in comparison to those without egg allergies (Kelso 2014). Vaccination, especially in the elderly population, has been shown to reduce rates of mortality and morbidity of influenza in asthmatic patients (Rothbarth et al. 1995). Recently, systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated that for persons with asthma, influenza vaccination may be effective in both reducing influenza infection and asthma attacks (Vasileiou et al. 2017). Due to the severity of adverse effects attributable to influenza, especially in patients with asthma, global guidelines set out by the Global Initiative for Asthma recommend an annual vaccination against influenza as a preventative measure (GINA 2015). Annual immunization with influenza vaccine of people with asthma is recommended by WHO and many national immunization advisory groups (CDC 2013a; NACI 2013). In Poland, the Ministry of Health recommends vaccination for adults over the age of 55, and in persons at high clinical risk, such as those with asthma. However, only is the cost of vaccine administration paid for by the Polish National insurance scheme, the cost of the vaccine must be covered by the recipient (VENICE 2014).

In a study comparing influenza vaccination rates in 11 EU countries including Poland, it was found that the vaccination coverage rate for those in the high-risk group was lowest in Poland at 11%, whereas the highest coverage was 56% in the UK (Blank et al. 2009). A study by Kroneman and van Essen (2007a) found that patients in Poland were more concerned with the cost of the influenza vaccination than patients in other countries, such as Sweden. A low vaccination rate points to the need for assessment of the patients' understanding of the associated risks of influenza infection on asthma, as well as their source of information. It is important to evaluate whether vaccination rates are affected by cost or misconceptions, such as fear of anaphylaxis or the belief that prophylaxis for influenza will not have a significant effect on the severity of asthma. Another important factor to consider is the information about vaccine recommendations that patients receive from their healthcare providers to create effective strategies to inform patients with asthma of the importance of annual vaccinations. In the USA, a majority of general pediatricians and family physicians reported routinely recommending influenza vaccination for asthma patients (Dombkowski et al. 2008).

The objective of this study was to determine the extent to which patients with asthma adhere to a schedule of recommended vaccinations in Poland. In addition, it assesses the sources of their knowledge and where appropriate, their main motivations for adhering to annual vaccination or equally, what deters them from following recommendations.

#### 2 Methods

The study was based on a questionnaire created specifically for patients with asthma. The questionnaire assessed general information about the patients, including age, sex, and education, as well as information pertaining to their vaccination status. In addition to addressing how often patients were vaccinated, motivations for

	Total	Females	Males
Number of patients	214	149	65
Age (yr)	$52 \pm 17$	$52 \pm 17$	$52 \pm 17$
Range of age (yr)	20–91	20–91	20-87
University education (%)	63.6	64.4	61.5
High school education or less (%)	36.5	35.6	38.5
Duration of asthma (yr)	$13.1 \pm 14.4$	$13.7 \pm 15.0$	$11.7 \pm 12.8$
Atopic asthma (%)	51	54	43
Treated by pulmonologist (%)	82.8	83.3	81.6
Treated by allergologist (%)	11.6	10.1	12.6
Treated by family doctor (%)	5.6	5.8	6.6

 Table 1
 Characteristics of asthma patients

vaccination and deterring factors were evaluated. The study also enquired from what sources patients received the most information pertaining to the importance of annual vaccination against influenza and more specifically which doctors were most likely to recommend vaccination.

Two hundred fourteen patients were recruited from five specialist outpatient clinics in Warsaw (Warsaw Medical University Hospital, Czerniakowski Hospital, Military Medical Institute, Luxmed Medical Center, and the Independent Public Outpatient Clinic of South Praga). The majority of patients were women (70%) of the mean age of  $52 \pm 17$  years, ranging from 20 to 91 years. Sixty-four percent of respondents had higher education. Half of the patients were atopic. The mean duration of asthma, as declared by patients, amounted to  $13.1 \pm 14.4$  years. The patients were usually treated by a pulmonologist (83%). They were divided into two age groups: (I) below 55 years of age, 116 patients, and (II) 55 years of age and older, 98 patients (Table 1).

Continuous data were expressed as means  $\pm$ SD and categorical as percentages. A t-test was used to assess the intergroup differences. A p-value of <0.05 was considered to define statistically significant differences. Data was entered into a database using Microsoft Excel 2011.

#### 3 Results

About 51% of patients reported having allergic asthma. The most common triggers of

exacerbations were infections (27%), followed by exercise (19%), allergens (17%), weather (12%), and air pollution (12%). Within the preceding year, 82.0% of patients stated having at least one respiratory infection, and 71.5% were aware of the recommendation for annual vaccination against the flu. Annual vaccination was reported by 20% of patients. However, patients younger than 55 years of age were twice as often to be unaware of the need for influenza vaccination when compared to older patients, 38% and 18.4%, respectively. In the younger group, annual vaccinations were also half as often than in the patients 55+ years of age, 13.7% and 26.5%, respectively (Fig. 1). There were no significant gender differences noticed concerning the awareness of recommendations for annual vaccination against the flu or the proportion of patients reporting such vaccination. About 73% of women and 68% of men reported being aware of the recommendation for vaccination, with just 20% of patients of either gender being actually vaccinated (Fig. 2). University education failed to significantly affect the awareness of flu vaccinations when compared to patients having lower educational status, 69.6% and 76.6%, respectively. Nonetheless, patients with university education were more often vaccinated, albeit insignificantly so, than those with lower education (20.6% and 14.1%, respectively (Fig. 3).

Female patients younger than 55 years of age were significantly more aware (81.2%) of the recommendation of annual vaccination against the flu than those 55+ years of age (65%) (p = 0.02) (Fig. 4). The younger patients also



Fig. 1 Awareness of recommendation for vaccination against influenza and vaccination rate by age



Fig. 2 Awareness of recommendation for vaccination against influenza and vaccination rate by gender

were more likely to have annual vaccination than the older ones; 27% vs. 14%, respectively (p = 0.08). There were 75% of women with university education in the younger group and 71.6% of them were aware of the recommendation of annual vaccination, with just scarce 10% following through with it. In contradistinction, out of the remaining 25% of women with lower



Fig. 3 Awareness of recommendation for vaccination against influenza and vaccination rate by education level



Fig. 4 Awareness of recommendation for vaccination against influenza and vaccination rate in females based on education level and age

educational status in this group only 55% were aware of the recommendation of annual vaccination and none followed through with it. Here, 54.5% of women reported being vaccinated at least once, and the other 45.5% reported never being vaccinated. Such a trend was not noticed in women 55+ years of age, where 80.6% of those with university education and 81.8% of those with lower educational status were aware of the recommendation of annual vaccination, with 24.1% and 29.6% following through it, respectively. Additionally, 34.5% and 41.4% of older women with university education reported vaccination at least once or never being vaccinated, respectively. In those with lower educational status, these figures were 37.1% and 29.6%, respectively (Fig. 4).

Conversely to females, male patients younger than 55 years of age were significantly less aware (55.6%) of the recommendation of annual vaccination against the flu than those 55+ years of age (82.8%) (p = 0.02) (Fig. 5). The younger patients also were less likely to have annual vaccination than the older ones (16% vs. 24%, respectively), although the difference failed to reach statistical significance (p = 0.478). Male patients'

<55 years old

education also appeared to influence the awareness of vaccination. In those 55+ years of age, 72.2% had higher education and one half of them were aware of the recommendation. Out of the remaining 27.8% with a lower educational status, about 70% were aware of the recommendation of annual vaccination. Among male patients aged below 55 years who were aware of the recommendation, those with university education were more likely to follow through with vaccination (38.5%) when compared to those with a lower educational status (14.3%). This trend was unnoticed in male patients aged over 55 years, where of the 48.3% patients with university education, 78.6% were aware of the recommendation but only 24.1% followed through with it. For comparison, in the 51.7% of male patients with a lower educational status, 93.3% were aware of the recommendation, with just 8.1% following through with annual vaccination (Fig. 5).

The most common sources of information about the importance of annual flu vaccination were from doctors (47%) and media (26%) (Fig. 6). Family doctors (24%) and pulmonologist (16%) were the specialists most likely to recommend vaccination, followed by allergologists

>55 years old



**Fig. 5** Awareness of recommendation for vaccination against influenza and vaccination rate in males based on education level and age



(4%) and others (1%). However, 36% of patients reported getting no recommendation from any doctor, and 19% reported self-requesting the vaccine.

Thirty-eight percent of patients reported never being vaccinated against the flu, which comprised 40% of female and 32% of male participants. The most common reasons for being unvaccinated were the following: disbelief in vaccine effectiveness (29%), fear of adverse effects (18%), lack of information on prophylaxis (16%), and fear of asthma exacerbation (10%). Males were more likely to list disinclination for vaccination, 18% vs. 6% in females (p = 0.08), and a lack of awareness, 24% vs. 15% in females (p = 0.31). On the other side, females were more likely to list contraindication to vaccination, 8% vs. 0% in males (p = 0.02); logistical difficulties, 3% vs. 0% in men (p = 0.19); and a lack of faith in vaccine effectiveness, 33% vs. 26% in females (p = 0.43) (Fig. 7).

#### 4 Discussion

High-risk patients in Poland are one of the lowest in Europe vaccination rates against influenza of about 3.5% (ECDC 2015). In the present study, annual vaccination rate, declared by asthma patients, stood at 20%. However, this result was obtained from patients treated in universityassociated specialist clinics in the capital city of Warsaw, which could, in part, account for a relatively high rate declared. The result may have been substantially lower in provincial centers, where both doctors and patients may not be as aware of the need for vaccination against influenza. A 9% vaccination rate has been reported for chronically ill patients aged below 65 in Poland compared to 13% in Sweden in the years 2003-2005 (Kroneman and van Essen 2007a, b).

We found in this study that there was, overall, no significant gender-related difference in the


Fig. 7 Factors preventing from vaccination against influenza

vaccination rate (19.5% in women vs. 19.9% in men). A divergent result has been obtained by Kroneman and van Essen (2007a) who have found that vaccination rate is higher in women. We did, however, find that patient had affect on gender-related, asthma-independent differences in the vaccination rate. Younger female patients were more aware of the recommendation for influenza vaccination and were more likely to get the vaccination than the older ones, with the assumed cut-off age limit of 55 years. Interestingly, in male asthma patients, this result was reversed. In a study by Chung et al. (2017), patients were divided into three age groups, 19–49, 50–64, and 65+, with 28%, 50%, and 82% vaccination rates, respectively. The patients, therefore, had a progressively greater vaccination rate with age, but no gender-related differences are reported. The distribution of those results is grossly akin to the present findings, although the vaccination rate is seemingly higher in the older patients of the study quoted. Likewise, the distribution of results in a study of Lu et al. (2009) is in line with the present findings, although the vace the patients aged 18–49 have

a 34% vaccination rate and those aged 50–64 have a 55% rate; the figures are larger than those found in the present study. Those authors have reported enhanced likelihood of vaccination with older age, female gender, health insurance, and in non-smokers. An association between older ages, especially above 65 years, with increased vaccination rate has also been found in an Australian study, which could be due to the eligibility for free immunization as of that age (Dower et al. 2011).

In contradistinction to a dismally low influenza vaccination rate in Poland, some countries such as the Netherlands or the UK exceed the 75% target recommended by the Council of the European Union (CEU 2009). Studies from other countries also show higher vaccination rates in asthmatic patients than those reported in the present study. Lu et al. (2009) have shown a 29% vaccination rate in asthma patients aged 18-64 in the USA. Another US study has reported a 43% rate in asthmatic patients and a greater adherence recommendation to vaccination in older individuals (Mazurek et al. 2014). The vaccination rate has been about 50% in the asthmatic population in the USA in the 2010-2011 epidemic season, an increase by about a dozen of percentage points compared with that 5 years back (CDC 2013b). In Spain, vaccination rate in asthmatic patients has been reported at about 35% and increasing with patient age; this figure was higher than the 22% in non-asthmatic patients (Santos-Sancho et al. 2013). Another Spanish study has reported a vaccination rate of 38% among adult asthmatic patients, the percentage increasing in the elderly, non-smokers, and in those with lower levels of education (Jiménez-García et al. 2010). A study from Australia has reported a vaccination rate of 47% among highrisk patients suffering from asthma, diabetes, or cardiovascular pathologies (Dower et al. 2011). In Canada, 36% of asthmatics have never been vaccinated against influenza (Guthrie et al. 2017). A German study shows that about half of patients aged over 60, particularly those with chronic pathologies, believe the influenza vaccine causes influenza. The most common reasons for not getting vaccinated were mistrust of the vaccine

(22%) and the perception that influenza is not a dangerous infection (21%) (Bödeker et al. 2015).

In the present study, misconceptions on influenza were the most commonly reported reasons for not getting vaccinated. The misconceptions comprised the psychological resistance to any vaccination, perceived disqualification to flu vaccination, misjudgment on the severity of influenza infection and thus a notion that preventative measures suffice, and the vaccine cost. We found, however, that the cost played a rather marginal role when compared to the lack of proper education. In Poland, there is a serious shortage of medical staff, both doctors and nurses, with the lowest population rates per in the EU. Consequently, medical professionals do not have enough time for patient education, and the findings we herein present show that medical advice is essential in persuading asthmatic patients to get vaccinated. This notion is strengthened by the finding that a monetary incentive of physicians in the UK for providing more extensive medical advice to patients has increased vaccination rates. We show that declared awareness for the need to vaccinate against influenza did not, in most cases, result in vaccination. Therefore, enhanced patient education does not seem to entirely resolve the issue of inadequate vaccination rate. The situation may be further worsened by the contemporary rise in the anti-vaccination movements which may hamper the efforts to improve influenza vaccination rate. As personal beliefs are crucial in the vaccination decisionmaking process, tailored communication strategies should focus on improving an understanding of health risks and benefits of vaccination in target groups (Bödeker et al. 2015). In Canada, 84.4% of patients with asthma cited perceptual barriers as a reason for not being vaccinated (Guthrie et al. 2017).

A limitation of this study was the reliance on patient declarations, which may have introduce a bias, an inherent feature of self-reported surveys. Another bias, as aforementioned, could be that the study was conducted at university-associated tertiary care institutions, where physicians were well aware of the importance of influenza vaccinations in high-risk groups. Therefore, further exploration should be needed to confirm the validity of the present findings on larger patient populations at the providers of primary and secondary care.

## 5 Conclusions

This study shows that influenza vaccination rate in the adult asthmatic patients in Poland currently stands at 20%. This rate is reasonably high when compared to the 3.5% average in the general population, but remains relatively low when compared to other countries. Whether the vaccination rate herein reported is due to improved vaccination coverage or other factors, such as, the tertiary referral centers where the study was conducted, remains to be further explored on larger patient populations. Irrespective of the underlying reason, it seems essential to create effective strategies to inform asthmatic patients on the importance of annual vaccination. The information ought to address the patients' misgivings concerning a lack of value of prophylaxis against influenza, particularly in the presence of chronic pathologies, and the all-too-often notion of a relative no-harm of the infection. Vaccination against influenza also is a cost-effective preventive measure of hospitalization due to postinfection complications associated with asthma exacerbation, which could have added healthcare benefits in countries, such as Poland, with a socialized healthcare system.

Acknowledgments We would like to thank Dr. A. Chciałowski, Dr. P. Dabrowiecki, and Dr. J. Oleksy for their help and efforts in collecting data from their patients for the purpose of the study.

**Conflicts Interest** No conflicts of interest were declared with relation to this work.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical University of Warsaw, Poland. **Informed Consent** Informed consent was obtained from all individual participants included in the study.

#### References

- Blank PR, Schwenkglenks M, Szucs TD (2009) Vaccination coverage rates in eleven European countries during two consecutive influenza seasons. J Infect 56:446–458
- Bödeker B, Remschmidt C, Schmich P, Wichmann O (2015) Why are older adults and individuals with underlying chronic diseases in Germany not vaccinated against flu? A population–based study. BMC Public Health 15:618
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2013a) Prevention and control of seasonal influenza with vaccines. Recommendations of the advisory committee on immunization practices–United States, 2013–2014. MMWR Recomm Rep 62(RR–07):1–43
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2013b) Vaccination coverage among persons with asthma – United States, 2010–2011 influenza season. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 62(48):973–978
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (2016) Flu and people with asthma. https://www.cdc.gov/flu/ asthma/index.htm. Accessed on 23 Nov 2018
- CEU (2009) Council of the European Union Council Recommendation of 22 December 2009 on seasonal influenza vaccination (2009/1019/EU). Off J Eur Union 71–72. https://www.epha.org/IMG/pdf/Council\_Reccomendation\_on\_seasonal\_flu\_vaccine.pdf.
   Accessed on 30 Oct 2018
- Chung JH, Kim TH, Han CH (2017) Factors influencing influenza vaccination among south Korean adult asthma patients: a nationwide population–based cross–sectional study. J Asthma 17:1–6
- Dombkowski KJ, Leung SW, Clark SJ (2008) Physician perspectives regarding annual influenza vaccination among children with asthma. Ambul Pediatr 8:294–299
- Dower J, Donald M, Begum N, Vlack S, Ozolins I (2011) Patterns and determinants of influenza and pneumococcal immunization among adults with chronic disease living in Queensland, Australia. Vaccine 29 (16):3031–3037
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) (2015) Seasonal influenza vaccination in Europe. Overview of vaccination recommendations and coverage rates in the EU Member States for the 2012–13 influenza season. https://ecdc.europa.eu/en/ publications/Publications/Seasonal-influenzavaccination-Europe-2012–13.pdf. Accessed on 11 Feb 2018

Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) (2015) Pocket guide for asthma management and prevention. https://www. ginasthma.org/documents/1/Pocket-Guide-for-Asthma-Management-and-Prevention. Accessed on 28 Oct 2018

- Guthrie JL, Fisman D, Gardy JL (2017) Self–rated health and reasons for non–vaccination against seasonal influenza in Canadian adults with asthma. PLoS One 12(2): e0172117
- Jiménez–García R, Hernández–Barrera V, Carrasco– Garrido P, de Andrés AL, de Miguel Diez J, de Miguel AG (2010) Coverage and predictors of adherence to influenza vaccination among Spanish children and adults with asthma. Infection 38(1):52–57
- Kelso JM (2014) Administering influenza vaccine to eggallergic persons. Expert Rev Vaccines 13:1049–1057
- Kroneman MW, van Essen GA (2007a) Stagnating influenza vaccine coverage rates among high–risk groups in Poland and Sweden in 2003/4 and 2004/5. Euro Surveill 12:E1–E2
- Kroneman MW, van Essen GA (2007b) Variations in influenza vaccination coverage rate among the high– risk population in Sweden in 2003/4 and 2004/5: a population survey. BMC Public Health 7:113
- Liebhart J, Malolepszy J, Wojtyniak B, Pisiewicz K, Plusa T, Gladysz U, Polish Multicentre Study of Epidemiology of Allergic Diseases (2007) Prevalence and risk factors for asthma in Poland: results from the PMSEAD study. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 17:367–374
- Lu PJ, Euler GL, Callahan DB (2009) Influenza vaccination among adults with asthma findings from the 2007 BRFSS survey. Am J Prev Med 37(2):109–115
- Mazurek JM, White GE, Moorman JE, Storey E (2014) Influenza vaccination among persons with work– related asthma. Am J Prev Med 47(2):203–211
- National Advisory Committee on Immunization (NACI) (2013) Statement on seasonal influenza vaccine for

2013–2014. https://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/publicat/ ccdr-rmtc/13vol39/acs-dcc-4/index-eng.php. Accessed 17 on Nov 2018

- Rothbarth PH, Kempen BM, Sprenger MJW (1995) Sense and nonsense of influenza vaccination in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151:1682–1686
- Santos–Sancho JM, Lopez–de Andres A, Jimenez– Trujillo I, Hernandez–Barrera V, Carrasco–Garrido P, Astasio–Arbiza P, Jimenez–Garcia R (2013) Adherence and factors associated with influenza vaccination among subject with asthma in Spain. Infection 41(2):465–471
- Soo-Kim H, Lee H, Sook-Kim H, Won S, Kyoung-Lee E, Bang K, Hong-Chun Y, Yoon J, Hee-Kim H, Tack-Kim J (2015) Effect of influenza virus infection in a murine model of asthma. Iran J Allergy Asthma Immunol 14:392–401
- Vaccine European New Integrated Collaboration Effort (VENICE) (2014) National seasonal influenza vaccination survey for 2012–13. https://venice.cineca.org/ VENICE\_Seasonal\_Influenza\_2012–13\_v10.pdf. Accessed on 28 Oct 2018
- Vasileiou E, Sheikh A, Butler C, El Ferkh K, von Wissmann B, McMenamin J, Ritchie L, Schwarze J, Papadopoulos NG, Johnston SL, Tian L, Simpson CR (2017) Effectiveness of influenza vaccines in asthma: a systematic review and meta–analysis. Clin Infect Dis 65(8):1388–1395
- Walford HH, Doherty TA (2014) Diagnosis and management of eosinophilic asthma: a US perspective. J Asthma Allergy 7:53–65
- WHO (2013) Asthma. https://www.who.int/mediacentre/ factsheets/fs307/en/. Accessed on 28 Oct 2018

Adv Exp Med Biol - Clinical and Experimental Biomedicine (2020) 10: 113–120 https://doi.org/10.1007/5584\_2020\_530 © Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 Published online: 21 April 2020



# Respiratory Complications in Children Hospitalized with Respiratory Syncytial Virus Infection

August Wrotek, Małgorzata Kobiałka, Bartłomiej Grochowski, Iga Kamińska, Kaja Pędziwiatr, Anna Skoczek-Wojciechowska, Maria Godek, and Teresa Jackowska

#### Abstract

The goal of this study was to define the prevalence of respiratory complications, other than bronchiolitis, such as pneumonia, acute otitis media, and conjunctivitis in children treated in a hospital due to respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection, with reference to the plausible risk factors. The study included 111 children, aged up to 22 months (median 3 months). Complications were observed in 68 (61%) children, with 32 (29%) children presenting more than one. The most frequent complication was acute otitis media in 53 (48%), pneumonia in 37 (33%), and conjunctivitis in 12 (11%) out of the 111 children. Children with complications were older than those without complications and had fever that lasted for a significantly longer time, both before and during hospitalization, and the fever was stronger. They also presented a significantly lower breathing rate at admission. The age over 3 months was a single risk factor associated with the development of otitis media (OR = 9.8, 95%CI: 3.6–26.7) and pneumonia (OR = 2.8, 95%CI: 1.1–7.3). Other factors such as prematurity, birth weight below 2500 g, exposure to tobacco smoke during pregnancy, and the cessation of breastfeeding below age 6 months were statistically irrelevant to this end. We conclude that complications are very frequent in hospitalized children with RSV infection and their risk increases with the infant age.

### Keywords

Bronchiolitis · Infection · Otitis media · Pneumonia · Respiratory syncytial virus

## 1 Introduction

The respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) is one of the most common infectious agents, responsible for an enormous percentage of acute respiratory tract infections in infants and younger children. The virus causes about 30 m infections each year in low- and middle-income countries and 2.8 m in high-income countries, leading to about 3.2 m hospitalizations. The majority of hospitalizations occur in children below age 5 months, and 45% of

A. Wrotek, M. Kobiałka, and T. Jackowska (🖂)

Department of Pediatrics, Medical Center of Postgraduate Medical Education, Warsaw, Poland

Department of Pediatrics, Bielanski Hospital, Warsaw, Poland e-mail: tjackowska@cmkp.edu.pl

e-man: tjackowska@emkp.edu.pr

B. Grochowski, I. Kamińska, K. Pędziwiatr, A. Skoczek-Wojciechowska, and M. Godek

Student Research Group at the Bielanski Hospital, Warsaw, Poland

hospitalizations concerns children in the first 6 months of life (European Medicines Agency 2017). There is a high fatality rate of 6.21 deaths per 1000 children below age 5 years, yet the deaths occur mainly in lower-income countries (Stein et al. 2017). The lowest fatality rate is observed in high-income countries where it is estimated to be 0.2%, 0.9%, and 0.7% in children aged 0-5 months, 6-11 months, and 12--59 months, respectively (Shi et al. 2017). The RSV causes a major health concern and has a significant impact from the medical care and socioeconomic standpoints. In the outpatient setting, acute otitis media (AOM), which is one of the most frequent complications of respiratory tract infections, turns to be a major cost drawing condition. AOM is variably reported in over 20% (Paramore et al. 2004), 47% (Chonmaitree et al. 2008), 57% (Ruuskanen et al. 1989), and 58% (Heikkinen et al. 2017) of children hospitalized due to RSV-associated bronchiolitis and pneumonia. In general, a leading diagnosis in children hospitalized due to RSV infection is bronchiolitis, which concerns about 70-85% of hospitalized, particularly younger children (Hall et al. 2009). Conversely, RSV is also a major etiological factor of bronchiolitis, responsible for about 60-80% of all bronchiolitis cases (Bamberger et al. 2012; Mansbach et al. 2012; Calvo et al. 2010). RSV also plays a causative role in community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) as about 30% of CAP appears RSV positive (Jain et al. 2015; García-García et al. 2012).

RSV is associated with a risk of developing post-infection wheezing/asthma and as allergic rhinoconjunctivitis. A study by Fujishima (2002) has suggested that the risk of rhinoconjunctivitis increases due to the presence of RSV in conjunctival epithelial cells. A meta-analysis by Shi et al. (2015) has shown that the risk factors of a severe RSV infection course, in the decreasing order of odds ratio, are the following: preterm infants, low birthweight, male gender, having siblings, maternal smoking and history of atopy, and a lack of breastfeeding. Regarding mortality, a higher risk is associated with prematurity; severe comorbidities, including chronic lung disease and congenital heart disease; and nosocomial acquisition of infection (Welliver et al. 2010). The goal of this study was to define the prevalence of respiratory tract complications, other than nearly universal bronchiolitis, such as pneumonia, acute otitis media, and conjunctivitis in children hospitalized due to RSV-associated respiratory infections, with reference to the plausible risk factors.

## 2 Methods

The study included 111 children aged up to 22 months (median 3 months, interquartile range (IQR) 1-16 months), who were treated in a tertiary hospital due to RSV infection in the 2017/ 2018 season. Clinical and laboratory conditions were assessed at admission and then repeatedly in the course of hospitalization. The following variables were recorded: breathing rate, heart rate, serum C-reactive protein (CRP) and procalcitonin, peripheral capillary blood pH, partial carbon dioxide pressure and oxygen saturation, and hematologic profile consisting of white blood cells count (WBC), absolute neutrophil count (ANC), hemoglobin concentration, and platelet count. In addition, we assessed duration of fever prior to hospitalization, the highest level and duration of in-hospital fever, the number of days on oxygen supplementation and antibiotic treatment, and duration of hospitalization.

Acute otitis media (AOM) was defined as the presence of redness, hemorrhagic or cloudy appearance, and bulging of tympanic membrane. In order not to miss an AOM case, since many viral otitis media runs a self-limiting course, patients were prospectively followed up, and otoscopy was performed in each patient at the following time points, admission and then days 3, 5, and 7 post-admission, depending on the patient's length of hospitalization. The other descriptive definitions in the study were as follows: prematurity, gestational age below 37 weeks; low birth weight, below 2500 g; maternal cigarette smoking, any smoking during pregnancy mentioned by parents surveyed at admission; lack of breastfeeding, cessation of breastfeeding below age 6 months; and crowding

condition at home, 1.5 or more persons per one room in a household, which was the median value for the whole group of patients. These definitions are generally in line with those used in previous studies (Shi et al. 2015), with some modifications made for a lack of breastfeeding and crowding. The entire lack of breastfeeding is, in our opinion, impossible to ascertain and may be a misnomer, as even mothers who are unwilling to breastfeed make attempts at the very beginning almost in each case. Breastfeeding up to age 6 months is recommended as a desirable goal by the WHO and the European Society for Pediatric Gastroenterology, Hepatology and Nutrition (WHO 2019; Agostoni et al. 2009). Thus, we considered the lack of breastfeeding as its cessation below age 6 months. Likewise, overcrowding is difficult to ascertain as it may depend on the number of persons per room or household, as well as on other poorly controlled for local circumstances. For instance, crowding has been defined as more than 1.5 persons/room (Bruden et al. 2015),  $\geq 2$  persons/room plus 4 or more children in the household (Bulkow et al. 2002), and > 10persons/household or the presence of  $\geq 2$  siblings aged 3–5 years sleeping in the same room (Weber et al. 1999). Yet others have set the number of siblings sleeping in the same room at  $\geq 3$  (Okiro et al. 2008). Shi et al. (2015) have used the definition of crowding of  $\geq$ 7 persons/household in their meta-analysis, excluding the studies that failed to meet this criterion. In view of the arbitrariness and lack of fixed rules for what is crowding, we defined it in this study as the number of inhabitants *per* household exceeding the median value.

Data was presented as means  $\pm$ SD or medians with lower and upper quartiles. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to assess normality data distribution. A *t*-test and Mann-Whitney U test were used to compare the independent variables, as appropriate A *p*-value <0.05 defined statistically significant intergroup differences. Logistic regression analysis was used to calculate the odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (95% CI). Statistical analysis was performed using a commercial Statistica v13 package (StatSoft; Tulsa, OK).

### 3 Results

Complications were noticed in 61% of cases (68/111) of RSV-associated respiratory infection, with 29% of children (32/111) presenting more than one complication. There were 30 cases of double complications and 2 cases of the 3 complications above outlined. The most frequent complication was AOM, 48% (53/111), followed by pneumonia, 33% (37/111), and conjunctivitis, 11% (12/111). Referring to the co-occurrence of multiple complications, AOM was accompanied by pneumonia in 25 children and by conjunctivitis in 4 children cases, while in another 3 children, pneumonia and conjunctivitis co-occurred.

At admission, there were 25, 13, and 5 children diagnosed with unilateral, bilateral, and purulent AOM, respectively. On days 3–5, the number increased to 32, 18, and 14 cases, respectively. On day 7, there were 10 unilateral, 7 bilateral, and no purulent AOM case. The peak increases in the number of AOM on days 3–5, when compared to the admission examination, were as follows: unilateral 1.28-fold, bilateral 1.39-fold, and purulent 2.8-fold.

The children with complications, in the main, were older than those without complications (median 6 vs. 2 months, respectively; p < 0.001) (Table 1). This age difference between children

 Table 1
 Baseline characteristics of children with and without complications after respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection

Parameter	Complications	No complications	p
Calendar age (months)	6 (2–16)	2 (1-3)	0.001
Gestational age (weeks)	39 (38–40)	39 (39–39)	0.600
Birth weight (g)	3,340 (2,835–3,820)	3,400 (3,030–3,760)	0.100
Crowding (persons per household room)	1 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	0.120

Results are medians (LQ-UQ)

with and without complications concerned both AOM and pneumonia groups (median 7 vs. 2 months, IQR: 3–16 vs. 1–4 months; p < 0.010 and 7 vs. 3 months, IQR: 2–16 vs. 1–6 months, respectively; p = 0.011). Fever at admission in these children was higher and lasted longer both before and during hospitalization, and they had a lower breathing rate. Children with complications also required longer antibiotic treatment. All these clinical differences between children with and without complications related to RSV infection were significant as presented in detail in Table 2.

The serum CRP level was distinctly higher in children with RSV-associated complications (median 5.45 vs. 1.00 mg/L; p < 0.001; with the upper limit of the norm in the hospital laboratory

of 5.00 mg/L). Likewise, neutrophil count was significantly higher in these children (median 4.67 vs. 2.19 k/ $\mu$ L; p = 0.011). The other blood and biochemical indices investigated did not differ significantly between children with and without complications (Table 3).

Among the risk factors for RSV-associated complications, only the median age over 3 months correlated with the development of complications (OR = 5.2, 95% CI: 2.0–13.5) in the whole group. The correlation was much stronger for AOM (OR = 9.8, 95% CI: 3.6–26.7) than for pneumonia (OR = 2.8, 95% CI: 1.1–7.3). All the other analyzed risk factors, including prematurity, birth weight below 2,500 g, exposure to tobacco smoke during pregnancy, and the cessation of breastfeeding below age 6 months, were

 Table 2
 Clinical characteristics of children with and without complications after respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection

Parameter	With complications	Without complications	p
Fever		1	1
Severity at admission (°C)	$37.8 \pm 1.0$	$37.1 \pm 0.8$	0.001
Total duration (hours)	54.7 ± 55.9	$17.8 \pm 41.5$	0.001
Before hospitalization (hours)	$30.0 \pm 44.6$	$11.0 \pm 29.5$	0.007
During hospitalization (hours)	$21.8 \pm 27.4$	6.2 ± 23.5	0.001
Breathing rate (/min)	50 (40–58)	58 (50-65)	0.031
Heart rate (/min)	138 (130–148)	140 (130–152)	0.064
Oxygen supplementation (hours)	0 (0–36)	0 (0–0)	0.578
Antibiotic therapy (days)	7 (0–10)	0 (0–0)	0.001
Hospitalization (days)	10 (8–13)	8 (7–11)	0.181

Results are means  $\pm$ SD and medians (LQ-UQ)

 Table 3
 Laboratory findings in children with and without complications after respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infection

With complications	Without complications	p
11.8 (10.9–12.3)	11.4 (10.8–12.4)	0.721
11.89 (8.90–13.70)	10.84 (8.49–13.55)	0.317
4.67 (2.22–6.47)	2.19 (1.12–5.08)	0.011
379 (311–472)	439 (344–498)	0.133
5.45 (1.78–14.58)	1.00 (0.49–4.74)	0.001
0.13 (0.09–0.38)	0.12 (0.08–0.15)	0.112
92.2 (90.3–94.0)	90.3 (87.2–93.4)	0.077
34.9 (30.9–37.5)	35.5 (32.6–40.9)	0.142
7.42 (7.40–7.44)	7.41 (7.39–7.43)	0.050
	With complications           11.8 (10.9–12.3)           11.89 (8.90–13.70)           4.67 (2.22–6.47)           379 (311–472)           5.45 (1.78–14.58)           0.13 (0.09–0.38)           92.2 (90.3–94.0)           34.9 (30.9–37.5)           7.42 (7.40–7.44)	With complications         Without complications           11.8 (10.9–12.3)         11.4 (10.8–12.4)           11.89 (8.90–13.70)         10.84 (8.49–13.55)           4.67 (2.22–6.47)         2.19 (1.12–5.08)           379 (311–472)         439 (344–498)           5.45 (1.78–14.58)         1.00 (0.49–4.74)           0.13 (0.09–0.38)         0.12 (0.08–0.15)           92.2 (90.3–94.0)         90.3 (87.2–93.4)           34.9 (30.9–37.5)         35.5 (32.6–40.9)           7.42 (7.40–7.44)         7.41 (7.39–7.43)

Results are medians (LQ-UQ); *Hb* hemoglobin content, *WBC* white blood cell count, *NEU* absolute neutrophil count, *PLT* platelet count, *CRP* C-reactive protein, *PCT* procalcitonin, *ScO*<sub>2</sub> capillary blood oxygen saturation, *PcCO*<sub>2</sub> capillary blood partial pressure of carbon dioxide, *pHc* capillary blood pH

statistically irrelevant when analyzed for the whole group of patients with complications, as compared to those without complications, as well as in the subgroups of AOM, pneumonia, and conjunctivitis.

## 4 Discussion

This study demonstrates a substantial 61% (68/111) rate of complications in children up to 22 months of age, hospitalized due to RSV-associated respiratory infection, with about half of those children presenting more than one complication. Acute otitis media (AOM) clearly prevailed at 48% (53/111), followed by pneumonia, 33% (37/111), and conjunctivitis, 11% (12/111). Otitis media paired with pneumonia also prevailed in case of multiple complication in a child. Despite rather severe and frequent complications, there was no fatality in the investigated group. Our findings are grossly in line with other literature reports. Willson et al. (2003) reported a somehow higher 79% prevalence of complications, but that study focused on infants only, and it investigated a broader array of complications, including cardiovascular and electrolyte disorders which took place in 9% and 19% of infants, respectively. On the other side, Gentile et al. (2019) reported a clearly lower 21% prevalence of complications in non-fatal cases, but about 94% in fatal cases, with many patients having more than one complication. Those authors emphasize that the study was conducted in a hospital, and the complications included respiratory distress, atelectasis, sepsis, and the nosocomial infection; the last one not necessarily being RSV-associated.

The present study focused on respiratory complications that constitute a health hazard in an inpatient setting such as AOM, pneumonia, and conjunctivitis. We purposefully excluded bronchiolitis from the array of RSV-associated complications on the ground that it is the most frequent clinical presentation of RSV infection. Had bronchiolitis been considered a complication, the prevalence of complications would have increased to 98% (109/111). For

comparison, Hall et al. (2009) have found in a prospective, population-based study that 70% of children below age 5 years, hospitalized due to RSV infection, are diagnosed with bronchiolitis. Thus, bronchiolitis should rather be considered a typical clinical presentation of RSV infection in hospitalized children than a complication.

We found that AOM was the predominating complication affecting 48% of children with RSV-associated infection. Previous studies have shown a similar prevalence of AOM: 47.4% in children aged 6 months to 3 years who were prospectively followed up for 1 year (Chonmaitree et al. 2008); 55.6% in children with bronchiolitis, investigated in a study by Gomaa et al. (2012); and 57% in a study by Ruuskanen et al. (1989). Heikkinen et al. (2017) have evaluated the prevalence of AOM by children's age, showing a peak up to age 1 year. Yet it remained at a high level also in children aged 1, 2, and 3-6 years, amounting to 52%, 58%, and 46%, respectively. Likewise, Vesa et al. (2001) have shown the presence of AOM in 57.7% of children hospitalized due to RSV infection. Further, those authors show the predominating occurrence of AOM in the course of any verified viral infection in children aged 6-11 months. A lower prevalence of AOM has been reported in children hospitalized due to RSV bronchiolitis (20.1%) or pneumonia (21.4%) in a review of the American national databases performed by Paramore et al. (2004). However, that study analyzed the final diagnoses unlike the studies outlined above, including the present one, based on а prospective surveillance of RSV-infected children.

In the present study, prevalence of RSV-associated pneumonia was 33%. This figure seems to reflect well the optimum 32% benchmark of clinical care quality concerning the use of chest radiograph in children hospitalized with bronchiolitis, based on the assumption that each X-ray would yield a positive result (Parikh et al. 2014). In a population-based study by Hall et al. (2009), the highest 51% rate of RSV-associated pneumonia has been in children aged 24--59 months. In contrast, in a study conducted in more than 15,000 patients in a tertiary hospital

over an 18-year-long surveillance, Gentile et al. (2019) have reported that atelectasis, which closely reflects pneumonia, is seen only in 3.8% of RSV survivors and in 13.4% of fatal cases. Likewise, Heikkinen et al. (2017) have reported pneumonia in 3% of children with RSV infection aged under 13 years. Therefore, there appears to be an essential age-dependent difference in the prevalence of pneumonia in children with bronchiolitis, with much greater vulnerability in infants and small children.

In a study of Souty et al. (2019) in 6000 patients of all ages, conjunctivitis did not associate with RSV infection in children below age 15 years, although it modestly did with influenza infection, the occurrence of both types of infections being alike - 15% and 17%, respectively. Interestingly, in a study of Sigurs et al. (2005), increased frequency of allergic rhinoconjunctivitis has been reported in children aged about 13 years who had been hospitalized years earlier in infancy due to severe RSV infection when compared to non-hospitalized subjects. The underlying pathomechanism of the effect is unclear, but it might have to do with RSV invading the conjunctival epithelial cells during the infection (Fujishima 2002). If the eye is the primary site for RSV invasion, local inflammation could result in persistent rhinoconjunctivitis. In a murine model, RSV is able to replicate in the eye, with subsequent lower respiratory tract infection that is indistinguishable in terms of the disease course from that acquired through the nose. As a consequence of ocular infection, a mix of chemokines and cytokines are produced. Anticytokine treatment reduces local inflammation but does not inhibit RSV replication (Bitko et al. 2007). The presence of RSV-associated conjunctivitis might be a prognostic of future allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, considering the persistent ocular inflammatory response subsequent to viral invasion.

In this study we found that age over 3 months was a single risk factor associated with the development of otitis media and pneumonia. Other commonly considered factors such as prematurity, birth underweight, exposure to cigarette smoke during pregnancy, and the cessation of breastfeeding below age 6 months did not appear to associate with any of the complications found. For comparison, Hall et al. (2009) have reported that the duration of breastfeeding for less than 1 month of age is a significant risk factor for the development of infectious complications. However, cessation of breastfeeding between 1 and 6 months of age seems irrelevant to this end. Although the risk factors that concern children who are hospitalized each season are wellknown, the practical use of this knowledge seems limited. There is a need to increase awareness of the amenable risk factors of RSV infection in the public at large, the factors that basically concern all kinds of respiratory infection. A case in point may be the issue of cigarette smoking during pregnancy. In this study, 20 (18%) out of the 111 children hospitalized with a severe course of RSV infection were exposed to maternal smoking.

Limitations of this study were a relatively small group of child patients and a preselection bias stemming from the fact that all the patients were hospitalized. We also failed to verify the existence of comorbidities, e.g., congenital heart disease, kidney diseases, and others. The presence or lack of a serious comorbidity was established only the basis of anamnesis taken from the child parents/guardians. Despite these limitations we believe we have conclusively shown that RSV infection is related to a high number of complications, which raises a serious health concern and places a substantial burden on healthcare resources. A risk of complications increases with the infant age. Unfortunately, the known risk factors of a severe RSV course do not exactly reflect the development of complications. Therefore, the ill children need to be carefully followed up in order to discern and treat possible complications in a timely manner.

Acknowledgments The study was supported by CMKP grant 501-1-020-19-19.

**Conflicts of Interest** The authors declare no conflicts of interest in relation to this article.

Ethical Approval All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Center of Postgraduate Medical Education in Warsaw, Poland.

**Informed Consent** Written informed consent was obtained from the parents or legal guardians of all the child patients of the study.

## References

- Agostoni C, Braegger C, Decsi T, Kolacek S, Koletzko B, Michaelsen KF, Mihatsch W, Moreno LA, Puntis J, Shamir R, Szajewska H, Turck D, van Goudoever J, ESPGHAN Committee on Nutrition (2009) Breast– feeding: a commentary by the ESPGHAN Committee on nutrition. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 49:112–125
- Bamberger E, Srugo I, Abu Raya B, Segal E, Chaim B, Kassis I, Kugelman A, Miron D (2012) What is the clinical relevance of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis? Findings from a multi–center, prospective study. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 31:3323–3230
- Bitko V, Musiyenko A, Barik S (2007) Viral infection of the lungs through the eye. J Virol 81:783–790
- Bruden DJ, Singleton R, Hawk CS, Bulkow LR, Bentley S, Anderson LJ, Herrmann L, Chikoyak L, Hennessy TW (2015) Eighteen years of respiratory syncytial virus surveillance: changes in seasonality and hospitalization rates in southwestern Alaska native children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 34:945–950
- Bulkow LR, Singleton RJ, Karron RA, Harrison LH, Alaska RSV Study Group (2002) Risk factors for severe respiratory syncytial virus infection among Alaska native children. Pediatrics 109:210–216
- Calvo C, Pozo F, García–García ML, Sanchez M, Lopez– Valero M, Pérez–Breña P, Casas I (2010) Detection of new respiratory viruses in hospitalized infants with bronchiolitis: a three–year prospective study. Acta Paediatr 99:883–887
- Chonmaitree T, Revai K, Grady JJ, Clos A, Patel JA, Nair S, Fan J, Henrickson KJ (2008) Viral upper respiratory tract infection and otitis media complication in young children. Clin Infect Dis 46:815–823
- European Medicines Agency (2017) Guideline on the clinical evaluation of medicinal products indicated for the prophylaxis or treatment of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) disease. https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/ documents/scientific-guideline/draft-guidelineclinical-evaluation-medicinal-products-indicatedprophylaxis-treatment-respiratory\_en.pdf. Accessed on 8 Aug 2019

- Fujishima H (2002) Respiratory syncytial virus may be a pathogen in allergic conjunctivitis. Cornea 21(2 Suppl 1):S39–S45
- García–García ML, Calvo C, Pozo F, Villadangos PA, Pérez–Breña P, Casas I (2012) Spectrum of respiratory viruses in children with community–acquired pneumonia. Pediatr Infect Dis J 31:808–813
- Gentile A, Lucion MF, Juarez MDV, Areso MS, Bakir J, Viegas M, Mistchenko A (2019) Burden of respiratory syncytial virus disease and mortality risk factors in Argentina: 18 years of active surveillance in a children's hospital. Pediatr Infect Dis J 38:589–594
- Gomaa MA, Galal O, Mahmoud MS (2012) Risk of acute otitis media in relation to acute bronchiolitis in children. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 76:49–51
- Hall CB, Weinberg GA, Iwane MK, Blumkin AK, Edwards KM, Staat MA, Auinger P, Griffin MR, Poehling KA, Erdman D, Grijalva CG, Zhu Y, Szilagyi P (2009) The burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. N Engl J Med 360:588–598
- Heikkinen T, Ojala E, Waris M (2017) Clinical and socioeconomic burden of respiratory syncytial virus infection in children. J Infect Dis 215:17–23
- Jain S, Williams DJ, Arnold SR et al (2015) Community– acquired pneumonia requiring hospitalization among U.S. children. N Engl J Med 372:835–845
- Mansbach JM, Piedra PA, Teach SJ, Sullivan AF, Forgey T, Clark S, Espinola JA, Camargo CA Jr, MARC–30 Investigators (2012) Prospective multicenter study of viral etiology and hospital length of stay in children with severe bronchiolitis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 166:700–706
- Okiro EA, Ngama M, Bett A, Cane PA, Medley GF, James Nokes D (2008) Factors associated with increased risk of progression to respiratory syncytial virus–associated pneumonia in young Kenyan children. Tropical Med Int Health 13:914–926
- Paramore LC, Ciuryla V, Ciesla G, Liu L (2004) Economic impact of respiratory syncytial virus–related illness in the US: an analysis of national databases. PharmacoEconomics 22:275–284
- Parikh K, Hall M, Mittal V, Montalbano A, Mussman GM, Morse RB, Hain P, Wilson KM, Shah SS (2014) Establishing benchmarks for the hospitalized care of children with asthma, bronchiolitis, and pneumonia. Pediatrics 134:555–562
- Ruuskanen O, Arola M, Putto–Laurila A, Mertsola J, Meurman O, Viljanen MK, Halonen P (1989) Acute otitis media and respiratory virus infections. Pediatr Infect Dis J 8:94–99
- Shi T, Balsells E, Wastnedge E, Singleton R, Rasmussen ZA, Zar HJ, Rath BA, Madhi SA, Campbell S, Vaccari LC, Bulkow LR, Thomas ED, Barnett W, Hoppe C, Campbell H, Nair H (2015) Risk factors for respiratory syncytial virus associated with acute lower respiratory infection in children under five years: systematic review and meta–analysis. J Glob Health 5:020416

- Shi T, McAllister DA, O'Brien KL et al (2017) Global, regional, and national disease burden estimates of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children in 2015: a systematic review and modelling study. Lancet 390:946–958
- Sigurs N, Gustafsson PM, Bjarnason R, Lundberg F, Schmidt S, Sigurbergsson F, Kjellman B (2005) Severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy and asthma and allergy at age 13. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:137–141
- Souty C, Masse S, Valette M, Behillil S, Bonmarin I, Pino C, Turbelin C, Capai L, Vilcu AM, Lina B, van der Werf S, Blanchon T, Falchi A, Hanslik T (2019) Baseline characteristics and clinical symptoms related to respiratory viruses identified among patients presenting with influenza–like illness in primary care. Clin Microbiol Infect 25(9):1147–1153
- Stein RT, Bont LJ, Zar H, Polack FP, Park C, Claxton A, Borok G, Butylkova Y, Wegzyn C (2017) Respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization and mortality: systematic review and meta–analysis. Pediatr Pulmonol 52:556–569

- Vesa S, Kleemola M, Blomqvist S, Takala A, Kilpi T, Hovi T (2001) Epidemiology of documented viral respiratory infections and acute otitis media in a cohort of children followed from two to twenty–four months of age. Pediatr Infect Dis J 20:574–581
- Weber MW, Milligan P, Hilton S, Lahai G, Whittle H, Mulholland EK, Greenwood BM (1999) Risk factors for severe respiratory syncytial virus infection leading to hospital admission in children in the Western Region of the Gambia. Int J Epidemiol 28:157–162
- Welliver RC Sr, Checchia PA, Bauman JH, Fernandes AW, Mahadevia PJ, Hall CB (2010) Fatality rates in published reports of RSV hospitalizations among high–risk and otherwise healthy children. Curr Med Res Opin 26:2175–2181
- WHO (2019). https://www.who.int/topics/breastfeeding/ en/. Accessed on 2 July 2019
- Willson DF, Landrigan CP, Horn SD, Smout RJ (2003) Complications in infants hospitalized for bronchiolitis or respiratory syncytial virus pneumonia. J Pediatr 143 (5 Suppl):S142–S149